
 

 

 EASTERN SHIRES 
 P U R C H A S I N G   
 O R G A N I S A T I O N  
 

      A LOCAL AUTHORITY PURCHASING AND DISTRIBUTION CONSORTIUM 
 
 

      CONSORTIUM SECRETARY:  JOHN SINNOTT, MA, Dipl .  P.A. ,  
     C HI E F  E XE C U T I VE ,  LE I C ES TE R S H I RE  C O U N TY  C O U N C I L  

 
 Date: 07/09/21 
 My Ref CT/ESPO 
 Please ask for: Cat Tuohy 
 Direct Dialling  (0116) 305 5483 
 e-mail: cat.tuohy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 
 
To: Members of the ESPO Management Committee 
 
 
Dear Member, 
 
ESPO MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
A meeting of the Management Committee will be held on Wednesday, 15 September 2021 at 
10.30 am in Sparkenhoe Committee Room, Leicestershire County Council, Glenfield, 
LE3 8RA 
 
A buffet lunch will be provided after the meeting. Please telephone or email me (details above) to 
confirm that you require lunch and, if so, whether you have any special dietary requirements. 
 
 
Yours faithfully, 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cat Tuohy 
for Consortium Secretary 

 

AGENDA 
 

Item   Report by   
 
 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 23 June 2021.  
 

 
 

(Pages 3 - 10) 

2.  
  

To advise of any items that the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent elsewhere on the 
agenda.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Declarations of interests in respect of items on 
this agenda.  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

Items referred by the Finance and Audit 
Subcommittee.  
 

 
 

 

 There are no specific items referred.   



5.  
  

External Audit of the 2019/20 Financial 
Statements.  
 

Director and 
Consortium 
Treasurer 
 

(Pages 11 - 78) 

 A representative from ESPO’s External Auditor Grant Thornton will 
be present for this item.  
 

 

6.  
  

2019/20 Financial Statements and Annual 
Governance Statement.  
 

Director and 
Consortium 
Treasurer 
 

(Pages 79 - 128) 

7.  
  

Proposed Changes to the Contract Procedure 
Rules.  
 

Director 
 

(Pages 129 - 
184) 

8.  
  

Director's Progress update.  
 

 
 

(Pages 185 - 
202) 

9.  
  

Date of Future Meetings.  
 

 
 

 

 Future meetings of the Committee are scheduled to take place on 
the following dates at 10.30am. 
 
Wednesday 24 November 2021 
Wednesday 16 March 2022  
Wednesday 29 June 2022  
Wednesday 14 September 2022 
Wednesday 16 November 2022 
 
 
 
 

 

10.  
  

Exclusion of the Press and Public.  
 

 
 

 

 The public are likely to be excluded during consideration of the following 
items of business in accordance with the provisions of Section 100 (A) (4) 
of the Local Government Act 1972 (Exempt Information). 

 
 

 

11.  
  

Supplementary Information Informing the 
Progress Report of the Director's Progress 
Update.  
 

Director 
 

(Pages 203 - 
216) 

12.  
  

Grove Park Modification and Future Ways of 
Working Update.  
 

Director 
 

(Pages 217 - 
220) 

13.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

 



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the ESPO Management Committee held at County Hall, Glenfield 
on Wednesday, 23 June 2021.  
 

PRESENT 
 

 

Peterborough City Council 

Cllr. Fitzgerald 

Cllr. A. Coles 

 

Leicestershire County Council 

Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC 

Mr. R. Shepherd CC 

 

 

 

Lincolnshire County Council  

Cllr A. Hagues 

Cllr. S. Rawlins 

 

Warwickshire County Council  

Cllr. P. Butlin 

Cllr. M. Watson 

 

Norfolk County Council 

Cllr. A. Birmingham 

 
 
Apologies 
 
Apologies were received from Cllr. S. Clancy  from Norfolk County Council.   
 
In attendance 
 
ESPO 
Kristian Smith - Director 
Maurice Campbell – Assistant Director 
David Godsell – Assistant Director 
Matt Selwyn Smith – Assistant Director  
David Goodwin – Finance Controller 
 
Leicestershire County Council 
John Sinnott – Consortium Secretary 
Declan Keegan – Assistant Director Strategic Finance and Property on behalf of 
Consortium Treasurer 
Lauren Haslam – Director of Law and Governance 
Neil Jones – Head of Internal Audit and Assurance 
Matt Davis – Audit Manager 
Cat Tuohy – Democratic Services Officer 
 

1. Appointment of Chairman.  
 
RESOLVED: 
Cllr. P. Butlin was appointed Chairman for the municipal year ending April 2022. 

Cllr P. Butlin in the Chair. 
 

2. Chairman's Announcements.  
 
 

3 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

 

The Chairman thanked Cllr Mark Howell for his work as Chair of the Management 
Committee for the period May 2020 to May 2021. During his period of office Cllr Howell 
had overseen the following:-  
 

• A safe and flexible working environment for ESPO its staff, customers and stakeholders 
in unprecedented circumstances. 

 
• The participation of ESPO in national government policy discussions in relation to PPE 

and the supply chain as well as supporting local storage and distribution of PPE for 
member authorities and customers. 

 
• ESPO undertaking the chair of a new national Professional Buying Organisation (PBO) 

forum. 
 
• Achievement of a trading surplus of £4.6million despite the difficult circumstances, 

meaning only a 17% fall in Member rebate despite large periods of school closures. 
 
• ESPO Trading Ltd returning a £50,000 profit after only its second full year of trading. 
 
• ESPO’s procurement services achieving a record rebate of £8.3million 
 
• Significant progress on various business initiatives including successful implementation 

of an updated single website and trading platform and planning underway for a second 
warehousing site. 

 
• The launch of ESPO’s new reward  scheme for schools, the My School Fund In 

partnership with the Sainsburys., Over 1,000 schools were already signed up. 
 

 Members of the Committee echoed the Chairman’s comments and thanks. 
  
RESOLVED: 
That a letter be sent to Cllr Howell setting out the Committee’s thanks.  
 
 

3. Appointment of Vice-Chairman.  
 
Cllr. S. Clancy was appointed Vice-Chairman for the municipal year ending April 2022. 
 

4. Minutes of the meeting held on 17 March 2021.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 March 2021 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed.  
 

5. To advise of any items that the Chairman has decided to take as urgent elsewhere on the 
agenda.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

6. Declarations of interests in respect of items on this agenda.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. No declarations were made.  
 

4



 
 

 

 

7. Items referred by the Finance and Audit Subcommittee.  
 
There were two items referred by the Finance and Audit Subcommittee covered in 
Agenda Item 7 the Internal Audit Annual Report 2020-21 (Minute 8) and Agenda 13 the 
Draft Outturn 2020-21 (Minute 14). 
 

8. Internal Audit Service - Annual Report 2020/21.  
 
The Committee received a report of the Consortium Treasurer on the Internal Audit 
Report 2020/21. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 7’ is filed with these minutes.  
  
The Committee noted that the ESPO Senior Management Team met regularly with 
the Consortium Treasurer and the Head of Internal Audit (HoIAS) at Leicestershire 
County Council to review the findings of audits. Members were assured that any high 
assurance recommendations would be shared with them and reported to the 
Management Committee. 
 

Members were pleased to note that the completed audits gave positive opinions on all 
three components of the ‘control environment’ i.e. the framework of governance, risk 
management and control. 

  
One audit returned a partial assurance rating which related to credit control. 
The HoIAS was confident, having spoken to senior managers, that the issue was well 
understood and work was already underway to mitigate the risk. Members were pleased 
to note that all other assurance audits undertaken returned ‘substantial assurance’, the 
top rating possible 
 
The Committee was advised that the Finance and Audit Subcommittee had considered 
the report at its meeting on May 2021 and supported approval of the report.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Annual Internal Audit Report be approved.  
 

9. Grove Park Modification - Future Ways of Working.  
 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director which provided information regarding 
future ways of working at Grove Park. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ is 
filed with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Committee note support the report.  
 

10. Director's Progress update.  
 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director which provided an update on actions 
and progress made since the previous meeting held on 17 March 2021. A copy of the 
report, marked ‘Agenda Item 9’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion the following points arose:- 

5



 
 

 

 

 
i. Members were pleased to see that call wait time for customers was eight 

seconds, well within the 30 second target. Members noted that ESPO’s Feefo 
score, an independent customer feedback service, had fallen slightly which 
mirrored the introduction of the new website. The score had since increased to 
usual high levels as improvements were made following feedback and as 
customers got used to the new system.   

 
ii. Across the sector there were issues with recruitment and retention of 

procurement staff. ESPO would continue to monitor the situation and work to 
attract staff, retain them and sustain output.  

 
iii. ESPO provided data on a quarterly basis to the British Educational Supplies 

Association (BESA). Data was anonymised and allowed ESPO to measure its 
performance, from which it was apparent that ESPO’s market share was 
growing.  

 
iv. Outside of Government agencies, ESPO was one of the largest public sector 

procurers. A significant unknown concerned forthcoming changes to public 
procurement. ESPO would continue ensure its role as a professional buying 
organisation was maintained, as it was expected customers would continue to 
value ESPO and its focus on compliance.  

 
v. There continued to be issues with supply chains across sectors. Members 

were assured that ESPO’s item availability remained robust achieving 97.5% 
which reflected its forward thinking to bring stock in early. This was aided by 
the new website which allowed ESPO to be far more dynamic and provide 
information on availability and alternative products to its customers.  

 
vi. ESPO recognised the sector wide inflationary pressures. It’s terms and 

conditions within the catalogue provide final pricing based on dynamic online 
pricing and not the printed page; although every effort is made to hold prices 
for customers. ESPO had financially planned for a disruptive trading year and 
would reflect trading risks in future planning. ESPO ensured it was competitive 
with market prices and had the systems in place to do best by the consumer. 
Furthermore, it continued to look at supply chains to ensure a variety of 
sourcing as to not be dependent on single companies and countries.  

 
vii. Regarding the United Kingdom’s Exit from the European Union ESPO had 

ascertained from work undertaken that most members of staff were not 
adversely impacted.    

 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the progress report be noted.  
 

11. Date of Next Meeting.  
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on 15 September as 
an attended meeting. 
 

12. Exclusion of the Press and Public.  

6



 
 

 

 

 
RESOLVED: 

  

That under Section 100 (A) (iv) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public be excluded 
from the meeting for the remaining items of business on the grounds that it will involve 
the disclosure of exempt information as defined in the Act and that in all of the 
circumstances the public interest in maintaining the exception outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information. 

 
13. Director's Supplementary Report.  

 
The Committee received an exempt report from the Director which set out further 
supplementary information regarding the Director’s Progress Update. A copy of the 
exempt report, marked ‘Agenda Item 12’, is filed with these minutes. 

The exempt report was not for publication as it contained information relating to the 
financial business affairs of a particular person (including the authority holding that 
information). 

Arising from the discussion the following points were noted:- 

i. ESPO did not receive individual customer data as part of the My School Fund 
initiative. 
 

ii. A report would be brought to the Committee on climate change and changing 
preferences and the financial challenges regarding environmentally friendly 
substitutes for certain items. 
 

iii. ESPO had undertaken various ‘sprints’ to adapt the new website in line with 
feedback to ensure it was as customer friendly as possible. As a result ESPO had 
seen the proportion of sales through the website increase.  
 

RESOLVED: 

That the report and supplementary information now provided be noted. 

 
14. Draft Outturn 2020/21.  

 
The Committee considered an exempt joint report of the Director and Consortium 
Treasurer concerning the draft Outturn 2020/21. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda 
Item 9’, is filed with these minutes. 

The exempt report was not for publication as it contained information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a particular person (including the authority holding that 
information). 

The Committee were pleased to note the performance of ESPO, despite the pressures 
from COVID-19.  

The Committee was advised that the Finance and Audit Subcommittee had considered 
and recommended the report for approval at its meeting on 20 May 2021. 

RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the report be noted. 

7



 
 

 

 

b) That a sum of £400,000 be allocated  to Building Reserves in line with previous 
years. 

c) That the provisional budget for 2021/22 be approved.  
 

15. Operation of the Contract Procedure Rules.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt joint report of the Director, the purpose of which 
was to set out an update to Public Procurement Rules. A copy of the report, marked 
‘Agenda Item 10’ is filed with these minutes.  
 
The exempt report was not for publication as it contained information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a particular person (including the authority holding that 
information). 
 
The Director informed Members that there had been no exceptions to the Contract 
Procedure rules, only advanced authorisation for frameworks on a case by case basis. 
Members were assured that any extensions were not to the full term and mostly of three 
or four months duration in order to ensure continuity of service to customers. ESPO 
would continue to monitor its suppliers.  
 
Members were pleased to see that rebates had held up well and there had been no 
issues with obtaining rebates.  
 
Members noted that ESPO were awaiting the expected Procurement Bill and would 
report back on the impact and changes that would need to be made to the contract 
procedure rules.  
 
RESOLVED  
 
That the content of the report on the operation of the contract procedure rules between 1 
July 2018 and 31 May 2021 be noted 
 

16. LGA Truck Cartel Litigation.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report of the Legal Advisor to the Servicing 
Authority the purpose of which was to set out information on the litigation to be 
undertaken by the Local Government Association (LGA) in relation to the truck cartel. A 
copy of the report. Marked ‘Agenda Item 12’, is filed with these minutes. 
  
The exempt report was not for publication as it contained information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a particular person (including the authority holding that 
information). 

Members noted that the Management Committee had agreed to participate in the Local 
Government Association’s Truck Cartel Litigation in June 2020, in which the Legal 
Advisor to the Servicing Authority had set out the possible risks to, as well as possible 
settlement return.  It was also noted that Lincolnshire had not been supportive. After a 
detailed discussion it was agreed to wait on further information from the LGA following 
the Servicing Authorities departure from the LGA.  
 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

8



 
 

 

 

That the Committee be updated on further information from the LGA regarding this 
matter.  
 

17. Website Update.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt presentation of the Director the purpose of which 
was to update Members in relation to the new Website. A copy of the report. Marked 
‘Agenda Item 16’, is filed with these minutes. 
  
The exempt report was not for publication as it contained information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a particular person (including the authority holding that 
information). 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the presentation be noted. 
 

18. My School Fund Presentation.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt presentation of the Director the purpose of which 
was to update Members in relation to ‘My School Fund’. A copy of the presentation 
marked ‘Agenda Item 17’, is filed with these minutes. 
  
The exempt presentation was not for publication as it contained information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a particular person (including the authority holding that 
information). 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the presentation be noted and that ESPO provide Members and Councils with a 
briefing note on the initiative.  
 
 

 CHAIRMAN 
23 June 2021 

 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 15 SEPTEMBER 2021 

EXTERNAL AUDIT OF THE 2019/20 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JOINT REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR AND CONSORTIUM TREASURER 

 
Purpose of Report     

 

1. To report the key findings from the external audit of the 2019/20 financial 

statements and to present the letter of representation from the Consortium 

Treasurer to the auditors 

Background  

2. Most local government and private companies (or a certain size) are required by 

law to have an annual audit by external chartered accountants. The auditors will 

normally confirm that the information in the financial statements give a ‘true and 

fair’ view and are not materially wrong, and/or they may draw attention to 

anything in the financial statements that they are required to. 

3. ESPO, as a joint committee set up under Section 102 of the 1972 Local 

Government Act, is not legally required to have an audit. However, there are 

significant benefits to undertaking one as it gives a level of independent 

assurance to various stakeholders (the public, Management Committee, HMRC, 

banks, staff etc) over our financial statements and it supports our wider 

governance arrangements. 

4. Grant Thornton (GT) are ESPO’s auditors and 2019/20 was their first year, 

having replaced PWC. A copy of the auditor’s report is attached as Appendix 1 

to this report. 

5. As set out in the report, GT propose to certify the 2019/20 financial statements 

with a ‘qualified’ opinion. (Normally you would want an ‘unqualified’ opinion). The 

problem is that due to the national lockdown arising from the Covid-19 pandemic 

GT were unable to observe the March 2020 stocktake (the process where EPSO 

staff count all of the stock in the warehouse). This was agreed with ESPO in the 

interest of safety of colleagues in both teams amidst the significant uncertainty 

over the pandemic at that time. As such, GT were unable to obtain sufficient 

evidence over the stock figure we include in our financial statements.  A qualified 

opinion due to Covid-19 was not uncommon for businesses with significant 

stockholdings. Except for this issue, GT are of the opinion that the financial 

statements give a true and fair view. 

6. GT not attending the March 2020 stocktake will result in the 2020/21 and the 

2021/22 financial statements also having the same qualified opinion as these 

also rely on March 2020 stocktake. 

11 Agenda Item 5



7. Appendix 1 includes a small number of recommendations/observations. These 

include: 

a. Gas revenue being recognised one month in arrears. This is a 

convenient and efficient process for the business and our customers 

but from an accounting perspective it technically should not be 

recognised in arrears. However, ESPO has always recognised 12 

months of revenue (just the 12 months March to February rather than 

April to March) and as the auditors agree that the impact is not material 

to the financial statements this is not going to be changed 

prospectively.  

b. Some improvements to reduce the risk of management override of 

controls. These will be acted upon.  

8. Included in Appendix 2 is the draft letter of representation from the Consortium 

Treasurer which is required by the auditors before issuing their formal audit 

opinion. 

9. For completeness, appendices 3 and 4 contain details of the audit plan and the 

risk assessment undertaken by GT. 

10. The GT auditor responsible for the audit will attend the Committee meeting on 

the 15 September to communicate any significant findings and answer any 

questions. 

11. The 2019/20 financial statements are presented to the September Committee 

meeting for approval elsewhere on the agenda for this meeting. 

 

Recommendation    

 
12. The Committee is asked to consider and approve the external audit of the financial 

statements 2019/20. 
 

Equal Opportunities Implications  

 
13. None 
 
Officer to Contact    

 
 Kristian Smith, Director 
 0116 265 7931 
 

 Chris Tambini, Consortium Treasurer  
 Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 0116 305 7831 
 
Appendices 

12

mailto:Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk


Appendix 1 – The audit findings for ESPO - Report to those charged with 
governance on the audit for the year ended 31 March 2020 (ISA 260 (UK&I))  

Appendix 2 – Draft letter of representation from the Consortium Treasurer to the 
auditors 

Appendix 3 – The audit plan for ESPO for the year ended 31 March 2020 

Appendix 4 – Informing the audit risk assessment for the year ended 31 March 2020 

 

 

13



This page is intentionally left blank



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

The Audit Findings for ESPO

September 2021

Year ended 31 March 2020

15

ctuohy
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

2

Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

John Gregory

Engagement Lead

T:  0121 232 5333

E: john.gregory@uk.gt.com

Avtar Sohal

Director

T: 0121 232 5420

E: avtar.s.sohal@uk.gt.com

Allison Thomas

Assistant Manager

T: 0121 232 5278

E: Allison.s.thomas@uk.gt.com

Contents

Section Page

1. Summary 4

2. Findings 6

3. Other communications 13

4. Independence, ethics and fees 14

Appendices

A. Audit Adjustments

B. Communication of audit matters with those charged with governance 

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed for the purpose of expressing 

our opinion on the financial statements. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify 

control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose all defalcations or other irregularities, or to include all possible improvements 

in internal control that a more extensive special examination might identify. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our 

prior written consent. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report 

was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members 

is available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 

Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 

of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

16



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

Chartered Accountants

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members is available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton 

UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered 

by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. grantthornton.co.uk

Private and Confidential

This Audit Findings presents the observations arising from the audit that are significant to the responsibility of those charged with governance to oversee the financial reporting process, 

as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK) 260. Its contents have been discussed with management. 

As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK), which is directed towards forming and expressing an opinion on the 

financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management 

or those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements.

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed for the purpose of expressing 

our opinion on the financial statements. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify 

control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose all defalcations or other irregularities, or to include all possible 

improvements in internal control that a more extensive special examination might identify. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in 

part without our prior written consent. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this 

report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

We encourage you to read our transparency report which sets out how the firm complies with the requirements of the Audit Firm Governance Code and the steps we have taken to drive 

audit quality by reference to the Audit Quality Framework. The report includes information on the firm’s processes and practices for quality control, for ensuring independence and 

objectivity, for partner remuneration, our governance, our international network arrangements and our core values, amongst other things. This report is available at  

www.grantthornton.co.uk/about-us/transparency-report/.

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the kind assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.

John Gregory

Engagement Lead

For Grant Thornton UK LLP 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 

The Colmore Building

20 Colmore Circus

Birmingham

B4 6AT

T +44 (0)121 212 4000

www.grantthornton.co.uk 

Audit Findings for ESPO for the year ended 31 July 2020

Members of the Audit Committee

ESPO

22 June 2021

Dear Audit Committee

17



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

4

Summary

Overview of the scope of our audit

This Audit Findings Report presents the observations arising from the audit that are 

significant to the responsibility of those charged with governance to oversee the financial 

reporting process, as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK) 260 and the 

Code of Audit Practice (‘the Code’). Its contents have been discussed with management.

As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing (UK) and the Code, which is directed towards forming and 

expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by 

management with the oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of the 

financial statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of 

their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements.

Audit approach

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of ESPO’s business and is 

risk based, and in particular included:

• An evaluation of ESPO’s internal controls environment, including its IT systems and 

controls; and

• Substantive testing on significant transactions and material account balances, including 

the procedures outlined in this report in relation to the key audit risks

We have not had to alter or change our audit plan, as communicated to you in June.

Findings

We have completed our audit procedures and we can conclude that where material ESPO 

have updated their financial statements for our findings. In appendix A we detail the results 

of the testing in more detail.

Internal Control

ESPO's management is responsible for the identification, assessment, management and 

monitoring of risk, and for developing, operating and monitoring the system of internal 

control. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control 

weakness.  However, where, as part of our testing, we identify any control weaknesses, we 

report these to ESPO. 

Key Findings 

Due to the national lockdown arising from the Covid-19 pandemic we did not observe the 

counting of physical inventories at the end of the year. We were unable to obtain sufficient 

appropriate audit evidence regarding the inventory quantities held at 31 March 2020, which 

have a carrying amount in ESPO’s Statement of Financial Position of £6,652,000, by 

performing other audit procedures. Consequently we were unable to determine whether 

any adjustment to these amounts were necessary. 

As we were unable to attend the stock take, we will issue a limitation of scope in the audit 

opinion. However, this is not unusual for audits with a year end of 31 March 2020, as 

auditors have been unable to attend stock takes given the government guidance to stay at 

home. From the testing carried out on all other areas, we are satisfied that the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement.

This is the first year that ESPO have reported under UK GAAP FRS102, and thus has 

required ESPO to restate their prior year comparative figures. This was particularly 

challenging, and has resulted in various iterations of the financial statements, and 

amendments in primary statements and disclosures presented.

Conclusion

Management have made all necessary amendments to the financial statements and for 

any items where they have not adjusted, we have concluded that this would not result in a 

material misstatement to the financial statements.

As noted above we will issue a limitation of scope in the audit opinion in respect to the 

stock balance presented in the financial statements.

Financial statements 
18



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

5

Summary

Financial statements 

Our approach to materiality

The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements and the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to 

disclosure requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and applicable law. 

We detail in the table below our determination of materiality for ESPO. 

ESPO Amount (£) Qualitative factors considered 

Materiality for the financial 

statements

1,760,000 We determined materiality for the audit of ESPO’s financial statements as a whole to be £1,760,000, which is 

approximately 2% of ESPO’s total income. This benchmark is considered the most appropriate because we consider 

users of the financial statements to be most interested in the levels of income available to ESPO to expend in 

furtherance of its objectives. 

Performance materiality 1,200,000 We use a different level of materiality, performance materiality, to drive the extent of our testing and this was set at 

70% of financial statement materiality for the audit of the financial statements. 

Our consideration of performance materiality is based upon a number of factors:

• This is a new audit for Grant Thornton UK LLP.

• We are not aware of a history of significant deficiencies or a high number of deficiencies in the control 

environment 

• There has however, been some adjustments to the financial statements in the prior year, which has reduced the 

threshold that we might otherwise have applied. 

Trivial matters 88,000 We determined the threshold at which we will communicate misstatements to the Audit Committee to be £19,000,

which is 5% of materiality.

19



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

6

Significant risks

Risks identified in our Audit Plan Commentary

1) The revenue cycle includes fraudulent 

transactions 

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable 

presumed risk that revenue may be misstated 

due to the improper recognition of revenue.

Auditor commentary

For all material revenue streams we have:

• documented our understanding of the controls in place around revenue recognition

• reviewed and tested recognition policies for appropriateness and consistency with the prior year 

• reviewed income recognised in the year in comparison to the budget and forecasts and sought explanations for 

significant variances

• reviewed performance against funding targets to assess whether any provision for clawback of funding is required in the 

financial statements

• selected other revenue items for testing to underlying records to ensure that revenue has been appropriately 

recognised.

Conclusion

We are satisfied the revenue has been correctly recognised in the financial statements and there is no evidence of material 

misstatement. We have noted that ESPO do not accrue for gas revenue based on the financial period of 1st April 2019 to 

31 March 2020, but have charged the 12 months of revenue from 1 March 2019 to 28 February 2020, we are satisfied that 

this will not result in a material misstatement as 12 months of revenue is charged each year.

2) Management override of controls

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable 

presumed risk that the risk of management over-

ride of controls is present in all entities. 

ESPO faces external scrutiny of its spending and 

this could potentially place management under 

undue pressure in terms of how they report 

performance.

We therefore identified management override of 

control, in particular journals, management 

estimates and transactions outside the course of 

normal business as one of the most significant 

assessed risks of material misstatement.

Auditor commentary

We have:

• gained an understanding of the accounting estimates, judgements applied and decisions made by management and 

considered their reasonableness 

• obtained a full listing of journal entries, identified and tested unusual journal entries for appropriateness

• evaluated the rationale for any changes in accounting policies or significant unusual transactions.

Conclusion

We have not noted any evidence of management override in our audit testing. However, we have noted the following

(1) Journal entries can be forward and back posted: there are mitigating controls in place that minimise risks associated 

with this - so this alone does not lead to a significant deficiency.

(2) The Assistant FD, as a senior officer has access to post journals - it is however stated that this does not happen in 

practice, as approval of journals is only carried out.

(3) The current journal reporting is such, that it does not allow for an extraction on journals posted by users, thus we are 

unable to confirm for the full population that no entries have been made by the Assistant FD or other senior management.

Financial statements 

Detailed below are the significant risks highlighted in our Audit Plan, together with commentary on our subsequent work and findings. 

20



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

7

Significant risks (continued)

Risks identified in our Audit Plan Commentary

3) Local Government Pension Fund 

disclosures

A number of ESPO's employees are included in 

the local government pension fund, a defined 

benefit scheme which is accounted for in 

accordance with FRS102 and the SORP. ESPO 

is required to carry out a full valuation of the 

assets and liabilities of the scheme on an annual 

basis and include the net amount in the year-end 

financial statements. 

Auditor commentary

ESPO uses the services of a professional actuary to carry out a valuation of the pension fund using assumptions agreed 

with management.

We have:

• reviewed the underlying assumptions and calculations supporting the recognition of any net pension deficit against 

scheme rules and accounting requirements 

• reviewed the relevant disclosures relating to staff costs and pensions within the financial statements

• assessed the movement in pension assets compared to prior year

Conclusion

Our audit testing has given us assurance that the amounts reflected in the financial statements of ESPO are free from 

material misstatement. We have recommended that ESPO includes further disclosures in their financial statements to 

reflect the requirements of FRS102 in respect to pension liabilities.

Financial statements 
21



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

8

Significant risks (continued)

Financial statements 

Risks identified in our Audit Plan Commentary

4) Covid-19

The global outbreak of the Covid-19 virus pandemic has led to unprecedented 

uncertainty for all organisations, requiring urgent business continuity 

arrangements to be implemented. We expect current circumstances may 

have an impact on the production and audit of the financial statements for the 

year ended 31 August 2020, including and not limited to;

• Remote working arrangements may impact on the quality and timing of the 

production of the financial statements, and the evidence we can obtain 

through physical observation

• Volatility will increase the uncertainty of assumptions applied by 

management and the reliability of evidence we can obtain to corroborate 

management estimates

• Financial uncertainty will require management to reconsider financial 

forecasts supporting their going concern assessment and whether 

material uncertainties for a period of at least 12 months from the 

anticipated date of approval of the audited financial statements have 

arisen; and 

• Disclosures within the financial statements will require significant revision 

to reflect the unprecedented situation and its impact on the preparation of 

the financial statements as at 31 August 2020 in accordance with FRS 

102, particularly in relation to material uncertainties.

We therefore identified the global outbreak of the Covid-19 virus as a 

significant risk, which was one of the most significant assessed risks of 

material misstatement.

Auditor commentary

Stock Take

Due to the national lockdown arising from the Covid-19 pandemic we did not observe the 

counting of physical inventories at the end of the year. We were unable to obtain sufficient 

appropriate audit evidence regarding the inventory quantities held at 31 March 2020, which 

have a carrying amount in ESPO’s Statement of Financial Position of £6,652,000, by 

performing other audit procedures. Consequently we were unable to determine whether any 

adjustment to these amounts were necessary. 

As we were unable to attend the stock take, we will issue a limitation of scope in the audit 

opinion. However, this is not unusual for audits with a year end of 31 March 2020, as auditors 

have been unable to attend stock takes given the government guidance to stay at home

Material uncertainty applied to valuations of pension assets

Leicestershire pension fund have included a material uncertainty over the valuation of directly 

held property in their asset portfolio in their financial statements as at 31 March 2020. This was 

due to the impact Covid-19 which resulted in a RICS valuation guidance alert which asked 

valuers of fixed assets to include this given the uncertainty in valuations caused by the 

pandemic. This resulted in the auditor of the pension fund including an emphasis of matter in 

their audit opinion, which to note is not a qualification but an observation made by the auditor in 

their audit opinion. ESPO’s share of these assets is material to ESPO.

We have worked with officers to determine the impact that this has for the accounts of ESPO 

and agree with the view of management, that while this estimation uncertainty is material, it is 

not considered fundamental. As a result, we have agreed an additional disclosure note to be 

included in the financial statement of accounts to explain the position, but this will not be 

referred to in the audit opinion.

Conclusion

As noted above we will issue a limitation of scope in the audit opinion in respect to the stock 

balance, as we were unable to undertake required procedures, as a result of the global 

pandemic.

22



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

9

Significant risks (continued)

Financial statements 

Risks identified in our Audit Plan Commentary

5) Conversion of financial statements from LG Code to FRS102

The Joint Committee has decided to change its accounting framework for the 

preparation of its financial statements from the LG Code to UK GAAP 

FRS102  for the year ending 31 March 2020

Section 35 of FRS102 applies to organisation who are first time adopters of 

FRS102. The section describes the requirements and disclosures for the Joint 

committee to take into account when preparing the financial statements under 

FRS102 which include

The date of transition is the beginning of the earliest period for which an entity 

presents full comparative information in accordance with FRS 102.

Reconciliations and explanations of the impact of adoption of FRS 102 are 

required.

In the opening statement of financial position, the entity should: recognise all 

assets and liabilities as required by FRS 102; not recognise items if FRS 102 

does not permit recognition; reclassify items previously recognised as 

required by the FRS; and apply FRS 102 in measuring all recognised assets 

and liabilities. 

A number of specific voluntary exemptions are provided which an entity can 

apply in preparing its first financial statements that comply with FRS 102

The Joint Committee will need to review and update the  accounting policies 

adopted by the financial statements so that they are consistent with the 

requirements of UK GAAP FRS102.

Auditor commentary

We have reviewed the financial statements and related disclosures that support the transition 

from the LG Code and FRS102 to ensure that ESPO has appropriately adopted the framework.

We have reviewed the process and arrangements the ESPO has to restate prior year figures for 

the year ending 31 March 2019 and tested these to ensure that the conversion has been 

appropriately completed.

Conclusion

We have made a number of recommendations to ESPO to ensure that all required disclosures 

are included in the financial statements which are required on the adoption of the UK GAAP 

FRS102 framework. Management have made all the required adjustments.

23



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

10

Going concern

Financial statements

Our responsibility
As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the preparation and 

presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is a material uncertainty about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern” (ISA (UK) 570). 

Going Concern Commentary Auditor commentary 

Management's assessment process

Management have carried out a written assessment which 

confirms:

• ESPO have taken into account the impact of Covid-19 

and other events in their assessment of Going Concern 

are satisfied that there is no material uncertainty to cast 

significant doubt on the ESPO’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. This extends but is not limited to at least 

twelve months from the Balance Sheet date.

• ESPO has a firmly embedded financial planning process 

which includes a medium term financial plan, which is 

updated annually. ESPO has assessed the impact of 

Covid-19 in its plans.

The Covid-19 pandemic has had a limited impact so far on the ESPO’s finances. ESPO have produced a budget for 

2020/21 and has a medium term strategy in place for 2022/23 to 2024/2025, which anticipates trading profits each year.

Management’s assessment has concluded that there is no material uncertainty in respect of going concern. 

As such we consider that the assessment undertaken by the ESPO on going concern is a reasonable and valid one and 

there are no indications of material uncertainty.

Work performed 

We have reviewed management’s assessment and 

compared it with our knowledge of the ESPOs current 

financial position and its projections.

Our audit did not identify any events or conditions which may cast significant doubt on going concern assumption. 

We have reviewed managements Budget for 2020/21 and beyond and are satisfied that there are no specific risk factors 

that would mean that ESPO is unable to continue as a going concern. ESPO have a strong reserve position and continue 

to generate trading profit, which means that ESPO are in a good financial position and there are no factors identified that 

would impact it being able to operate as a going concern.

Concluding comments We are satisfied that there is no material uncertainty in the operations of ESPO which would effect its ability to operate 

as a going concern.

24



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

11

Key judgements and estimates

Financial statements

Summary of management’s policy Audit Comments Assessment

Revenue recognition Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised 

when ESPO satisfies the performance obligation to 

its customers on delivery and it is likely that 

economic benefits associated with the transaction 

will flow to ESPO.  ESPO has standard payment 

terms agreed with its customers.

Revenue from the provision of services is recognised 

when ESPO can measure reliably the percentage of 

completion of the transaction and it is probable that 

economic benefits associated with the transaction 

will flow to ESPO. 

Rebates are recognised where they can be reliably 

measured and agreed with the supplier and are 

retrospective.  Cash is accounted for in the period it 

is received.

We have considered the:

• Appropriateness of the accounting policy under relevant accounting 

framework

• Adequacy of disclosure of each accounting policy

and are satisfied that the application of revenue recognition is consistent 

with the disclosed policies. We have noted that ESPO do not accrue for gas 

revenue based on the financial period of 1st April 2019 to 31 March 2020, 

but have charged the 12 months of revenue from 1 March 2019 to 28 

February 29, we are satisfied that this will not result in a material 

misstatement as 12 months of revenue is charged each year. We have 

recommended that ESPO update their accounting policy to reflect this so 

that this is clear to the reader of the accounts.

Green



Judgements and 

estimates

Key estimates and judgements include:

• Property plant and equipment

• Pension liability

We have considered the:

• Appropriateness of policy under relevant accounting framework

• Extent of judgement involved

• Potential financial statement impact of different assumptions 

• Adequacy of disclosure of accounting policy

and are satisfied that the application of judgements and estimates is 

reasonable.

Green



Other accounting 

policies
Policies have been disclosed within Note 3 of the 

financial statements.

We have reviewed ESPO's policies against the requirements of UK GAAP 

FRS102 and have concluded that they are appropriate an in line with ther

requirements.

Green



Assessment

 We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated

 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic

 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious  

 We consider management’s process is appropriate and key assumptions are neither optimistic or cautious

25



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

12

Key judgements and estimates

Financial statements

Summary of management’s policy Audit Comments Assessment

Defined Benefits 

Obligation –

£16.575m

ESPO’s total net pension liability at 31 

March 2020 is £16.575m (PY 

£24.839m). 

ESPO uses Hymans Robertson to 

provide actuarial valuations of ESPO’s 

assets and liabilities derived from the 

Local Government Pension Scheme in 

which it participates, (which is 

Leicestershire Pension Fund 

administered by Leicestershire County 

Council).

A full actuarial valuation is required 

every three years. The latest full 

actuarial valuation was completed in 

2019. A roll forward approach is used in 

intervening periods, which utilises key 

assumptions such as life expectancy, 

discount rates, salary growth and 

investment returns. Given the significant 

value of the net pension fund liability, 

small changes in assumptions can 

result in significant valuation 

movements. 

We have compared the assumptions used by ESPO’s actuary against relevant benchmarks. We 

have compared the assumptions applied by the actuary and those that are in the PWC report. 

These are as follows:

We are satisfied that the assumptions used are in line with benchmarked averages and there are 

no outliers which require further investigation.

We are satisfied that the actuarial review which was completed in August 2020 has taken into 

account the impact of McCloud and we have assessed that the impact of both GMP and Godwin 

are not material for ESPO’s pension position.

The Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund Financial statements have included a material 

uncertainty due to Covid-19 over the valuation of directly held properties. We have worked with 

officers to determine the impact that this has for the accounts of ESPO and agree with the view of 

management, that while this estimation uncertainty is material, it is not considered fundamental. As 

a result, we have agreed an additional disclosure note to be included in the financial statement of 

accounts to explain the position, but this will not be referred to in the audit opinion.



Green

Assumption Actuary 

Value

PwC range Assessmen

t

Discount rate 2.3% 2.3% 

Pension increase rate 1.9% 1.8%-2.00% 

Salary growth 2.4% 1.8%- 2.9%


Life expectancy – Males currently aged 

45 / 65 (years)

22.2 21.6-23.3 


Life expectancy – Females currently 

aged 45 / 65 (years)

25.2 24.6 - 26.3


Assessment

 We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated

 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic

 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious  

 We consider management’s process is appropriate and key assumptions are neither optimistic or cautious

26



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

13

Other communication requirements

Financial statements 

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.

Issue Commentary

1 Matters in relation to fraud • We have not been made aware of any instances of frauds but we would ask the Audit Committee to notify us if they are aware of any 

such incidences. 

2 Matters in relation to related 

parties

• We are not aware of any related parties or related party transactions which have not been disclosed.

3 Matters in relation to laws and 

regulations

• You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations and we have not 

identified any incidences from our audit work. 

4 Written representations • A letter of representation has been requested from ESPO, which is appended. This may be subject to change, should our remaining 

work identify any misstatements or the need for additional, specific representations to be made in respect of other matters.

5 Confirmation requests from 

third parties 

• We requested from management permission to send confirmation requests to those organisations with which it banks. Permission was

granted and positive confirmations have been received for the requests sent.

6 Disclosures • See Appendix B for the most significant disclosure amendments made to the financial statements. A small number of minor 

amendments were also made to improve clarity for the reader.

7 Audit evidence and 

explanations/significant 

difficulties

• All audit evidence has been obtained and sufficient explanations received where required.

8 Other information • We are required to give an opinion on whether the other information published together with the audited financial statements is

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. No inconsistencies have been identified. 

27



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

14

Independence and ethics  
We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the 

Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and confirm that we, as a firm, and each covered person, are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 

statements.

Independence, ethics and fees

Audit and Non-audit services

For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to ESPO. No non-audit services were identified.

Fees

2019/20 Planned fee 2019/20 Final fee

ESPO Audit fee 2019/20 £37,000 £37,000

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) £37,000 £37,000

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services.

28



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

15

Audit Adjustments

We are required to report all non trivial misstatements to those charged with governance, whether or not the accounts have been adjusted by management. 

Impact of unadjusted misstatements

Appendix A

Disclosure point Detail Adjusted?

Accounting Policy - Turnover We have noted that ESPO do not accrue for gas revenue based on the financial period of 1st April 2019 to 31 March 

2020, but have charged the 12 months of revenue from 1 March 2019 to 28 February 29, we are satisfied that this will 

not result in a material misstatement as 12 months of revenue is charged each year. We have recommended that ESPO 

update their accounting policy to reflect this so that this is clear to the reader of the accounts

Yes

Transition to UK GAAP FRS102 Our review of the financial statements found that there were a number of disclosure errors and omissions in the financial 

statements as a result of the transition to the CIPFA Code to UK GAAP FRS102. 

Yes

Employee Benefits Note 16 Employee Benefits does not disclose the employers contributions recognised in the P&L account of £1.893m 

(or the 2018/19 prior year comparator of £1.712m). ESPO should consider including to evidence that the post 

employment benefits reconcile with the Statement of changes in equity at £2.127m for 2019/20 and £2.162m for 

2018/19.

Yes

Pension Liabilities There were a number of items included in the actuarial report for ESPO, that have not been given full disclosure in the 

draft accounts at Note 16

Yes

Audit Fee The audit fee in the draft financial statements was incorrect. Yes

Misclassification and disclosure changes
The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements. 

Detail Income Statement £‘000 Balance Sheet £’ 000 Reason for not adjusting

Our testing identified one error, where expenditure from 2018/19 was 

incorrectly included in 2019/20. We have extrapolated the error and this 

results in a potential misstatement of £190k. 

Cr 2019/20 Expenditure 190    

Dr 2018/10 Expenditure  190

nil The error value is not material 

and therefore ESPO have 

decided not to adjust their 

financial statements for this as 

this is an error due to incorrect 

year allocation, with actual 

expenditure incurred by ESPO

Overall impact to 19/20 (190) nil

29



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

16

Communication of audit matters with those charged with 
governance
Our communication plan

Audit 

Plan

Audit 

Findings

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those charged with 
governance 

Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit, form, timing and 
expected general content of communications including significant risks 

Confirmation of independence and objectivity
 

A statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence. Relationships and other matters which might be 
thought to bear on independence. Details of non-audit work performed by 
Grant Thornton UK LLP and network firms, together with fees charged. 
Details of safeguards applied to threats to independence

 

Significant matters in relation to going concern
 

Views about the qualitative aspects of ESPO’s accounting and financial 
reporting practices including accounting policies, accounting estimates and 
financial statement disclosures



Significant findings from the audit


Significant matters and issue arising during the audit and written 
representations that have been sought 

Significant difficulties encountered during the audit


Significant deficiencies in internal control identified during the audit


Significant matters arising in connection with related parties


Identification or suspicion of fraud involving management and/or which 
results in material misstatement of the financial statements 

Non-compliance with laws and regulations


Unadjusted misstatements and material disclosure omissions


Expected modifications to the auditor's report, or emphasis of matter


Appendix B

ISA (UK) 260, as well as other ISAs (UK), prescribe matters which we are required to communicate 

with those charged with governance, and which we set out in the table here. 

This document, the Audit Plan, outlines our audit strategy and plan to deliver the audit, while the 

Audit Findings will be issued prior to approval of the financial statements and will present key 

issues, findings and other matters arising from the audit, together with an explanation as to how 

these have been resolved.

We will communicate any adverse or unexpected findings affecting the audit on a timely basis, 

either informally or via an audit progress memorandum.

Respective responsibilities

As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit in accordance with ISAs (UK), which is 

directed towards forming and expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been 

prepared by management with the oversight of those charged with governance.

The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or those charged with 

governance of their responsibilities.

30



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for ESPO  |  2019/20 

Confidential

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 

firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldw ide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 

separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 

another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

[**Prepare on client letterhead**] 
 
Grant Thornton UK LLP 
The Colmore Building, 
20 Colmore Circus 
Birmingham B4 6A 
 
15 September 2021 
 
 
Dear Sirs/Madams 
 

Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 

Financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020. 

This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial statements of Eastern 
Shire Purchasing Organisation, (‘ESPO’), (the 'Joint Committee'), for the year ended 31 March 2020 for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view in 
accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 'The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland' ('United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice'). 
 
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as we considered 
necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves: 
 
Financial statements 
i We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter dated 12 

March 2020, for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; in particular the financial statements give a true and fair 
view in accordance therewith. 

 
ii We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 

control to prevent and detect fraud. 
 
iii The methods, the data and the significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates 

and their related disclosures are appropriate to achieve recognition, measurement or disclosure that 
is reasonable in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework. 

 
iv Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in 

accordance with the requirements of United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. 
 
v All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which United Kingdom 

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice requires adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or 
disclosed. 

 
vi We have not adjusted the misstatements brought to our attention on the audit differences and 

adjustments summary, included in the audit findings report, as they are immaterial to the results of 
ESPO and its financial position at the year end. The financial statements are free of material 
misstatements, including omissions.  

Appendix 2  

33



 

vii Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in accordance with 
the requirements of United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. 

 
viii We have completed the transition from CIPFA Code of Practice to UK GAAP FRS102, and have 

ensured that the restatement of prior period balances are free from material misstatement, and based 
on the general ledger records held by ESPO.  

 
Information provided 
ix We have provided you with: 

a. Access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the 
financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters; 

b. Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your audit; and 
c. Unrestricted access to persons within ESPO from whom you determined it necessary to 

obtain audit evidence. 
 
x All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial 

statements. 
 
xi We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may 

be materially misstated as a result of fraud. 
 
xii We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of 

and that affects the joint committee and involves: 
a. Management; 
b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 
c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

 
xiii We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, 

affecting the joint committee's financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, 
analysts, regulators or others. 

 
xiv We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with 

laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing financial statements. 
 
xv  We have disclosed to you the identity of the joint committee's related parties and all the related 

party relationships and transactions of which we are aware. 

 
xvi We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be 

considered when preparing the financial statements. 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
 
Chris Tambini,  
Consortium Treasurer 

 

 

 

 

 

 

34



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Audit Plan for ESPO  |  June 2020

DRAFT
Commercial in confidence

The Audit Plan for ESPO

(Eastern Shires Purchasing 

Organisation)

Year ending 31 March 2020

Allison Thomas

Assistant Manager

T 0121 232 5278

E allison.a.thomas@uk.gt.com

June 2020

Avtar Sohal

Manager

T 0121 232 5420

E avtar.s.sohal@uk.gt.com

John Gregory

Director

T 0121 232 5333

E john.gregoryl@uk.gt.com

Appendix 3
35



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Audit Plan for ESPO  |  June 2020

DRAFT
Commercial in confidence

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which

we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit process. It is not a comprehensive

record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in particular we

cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect the Council or

any weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your

benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent. We do

not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining

from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor

intended for, any other purpose.

36



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Audit Plan for ESPO  |  June 2020

DRAFT
Commercial in confidence

3

Contents

Section Page

1. Introductions & Headlines 4

2. Our audit approach 5

3. Significant risks identified 6

4. Other matters 8

5. Our approach to materiality 9

6. Audit logistics, team & fees 10

7. Fees & independence 11

8. Communication of audit matters with those charged with governance 12 37



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Audit Plan for ESPO  |  June 2020

DRAFT
Commercial in confidence

4

Introduction & headlines
Purpose

 This document provides an overview of the planned scope and timing of the statutory audit of ESPO Joint Committee (‘the Joint Committee’) for those charged with governance.

Scope of our audit

We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the Joint Committee’s financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged

with governance (the Audit committee)

The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or the Audit Committee of your responsibilities. It is the responsibility of the Joint Committee to ensure that proper

arrangements are in place for the conduct of its business, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for. We have considered how the Joint Committee is fulfilling

these responsibilities.

Our audit approach is based on a thorough understanding of the Joint Committee's business and is risk based. The significant risks identified for the 19/20 audit and our proposed

approach are set out in the table below and in further detail later in this document.

Significant risks Those risks requiring special audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood of a material financial statement error have been 

identified as:

• Income from Invoiced Turnover

• Management override of controls

• Valuation of the pension fund net liability.

• Transition from LG Code to FRS102

• Impact of Covid 19

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit 

Findings (ISA 260) Report in September 2020.

Materiality We have determined planning materiality to be £1.728m for the Joint Committee, which equates to 2% of your forecasted gross revenue 

revenue for the year. We are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those 

charged with governance. Clearly trivial has been set at £0.086m (PY £0.086m). Further details of our approach to materiality are outlined 

at page 9. 

Audit logistics Our audit planning session took place in April and our final visit will take place in August/September.  Our key deliverables are this Audit 

Plan and our Audit Findings Report. Our audit approach is outlined overleaf.

We have agreed an initial base fee of £32,000.  There is a likelihood of some fee variation this year owing to the impact of the transition 

from LG code to FRS102 and the impact of Covid 19 pandamic.

Independence We have complied with the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are 

independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements..

38



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Audit Plan for ESPO  |  June 2020

DRAFT
Commercial in confidence

5

Significant risks identified
Significant risks are defined by professional standards as risks that, in the judgement of the auditor, require special audit consideration. In identifying risks, audit teams consider the 
nature of the risk, the potential magnitude of misstatement, and its likelihood. Significant risks are those risks that have a higher risk of material misstatement.

Significant risk Description Further work planned

The revenue cycle includes fraudulent transactions

(Invoiced Turnover)

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed risk

that revenue may be misstated due to the improper

recognition of revenue.

For ESPO Joint Committee we have concluded that the

greatest risk of material misstatement relates to Invoiced

Turnover, in relation to Stores, Direct, Gas and Rebate

Income. We have therefore identified the occurrence and

accuracy of Invoiced Turnover as a significant risk, which

was one of the most significant assessed risks of material

misstatement.

We will:

• evaluate the Joint Committee’s accounting policy for

recognition of Invoiced Turnover for appropriateness;

• gain an understanding of the Joint Committee's system

for accounting for income from Invoiced Turnover,

evaluate the design of the associated controls and

observe them in operation;

• Agree, on a sample basis amounts recognised as

income from Invoiced Turnover in the financial

statements to ensure that accurately accounted for in

line with accounting policies, that income is

appropriately recognised and that there is appropriate

evidence of receipt of funds.

Management over-ride of controls Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable presumed 

risk that the risk of management over-ride of controls is 

present in all entities. The Joint Committee faces external 

scrutiny of its spending and this could potentially place 

management under undue pressure in terms of how they 

report performance.

We therefore identified management override of control, in 

particular journals, management estimates and transactions 

outside the course of business as a significant risk, which 

was one of the most significant assessed risks of material 

misstatement.

We will:

• evaluate the design effectiveness of management 

controls over journals

• analyse the journals listing and determine the criteria for 

selecting high risk unusual journals 

• test unusual journals recorded during the year and after 

the draft accounts stage for appropriateness and 

corroboration

• gain an understanding of the accounting estimates and 

critical  judgements applied made by management and 

consider their reasonableness with regard to 

corroborative evidence

• evaluate the rationale for any changes in accounting 

policies, estimates or significant unusual transactions.

39



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Audit Plan for ESPO  |  June 2020

DRAFT
Commercial in confidence

6

Significant risks identified (continued)
Significant risk Description Further work planned

Valuation of the pension fund 

net liability

The Joint Committee's pension fund net liability, as reflected in its balance sheet as 

the net defined benefit liability, represents a significant estimate in the financial 

statements.

The pension fund net liability is considered a significant estimate due to the size of 

the numbers involved (£6 million in the Joint Committee’s balance sheet) and the 

sensitivity of the estimate to changes in key assumptions.

We therefore identified valuation of the Joint Committee’s pension fund net liability 

as a significant risk, which was one of the most significant assessed risks of 

material misstatement

We will:

• update our understanding of the processes and controls 

put in place by management to ensure that the Joint 

Committee’s pension fund net liability is not materially 

misstated and evaluate the design of the associated 

controls;

• evaluate the instructions issued by management to their 

management expert (an actuary) for this estimate and 

the scope of the actuary’s work;

• assess the competence, capabilities and objectivity of 

the actuary who carried out the Joint Committee’s 

pension fund valuation; 

• assess the accuracy and completeness of the 

information provided by the Joint Committee to the 

actuary to estimate the liability;

• test the consistency of the pension fund asset and 

liability and disclosures in the notes to the core financial 

statements with the actuarial report from the actuary;

• undertake procedures to confirm the reasonableness of 

the actuarial assumptions made by reviewing the report 

of the consulting actuary (as auditor’s expert) and 

performing any additional procedures suggested within 

the report; and

• obtain assurances from the auditor of Shropshire 

Pension Fund as to the controls surrounding the validity 

and accuracy of membership data; contributions data 

and benefits data sent to the actuary by the pension 

fund and the fund assets valuation in the pension fund 

financial statements.

40



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Audit Plan for ESPO  |  June 2020

DRAFT
Commercial in confidence

7

Significant risks identified (continued)
Significant risk Description Further work planned

Conversion of financial 

statements from LG Code to 

FRS102

The Joint Committee has decided to change its accounting framework for the 

preparation of its financial statements from the LG Code to UK GAAP FRS102  for 

the year ending 31 March 2020

Section 35 of FRS102 applies to organisation who are first time adopters of 

FRS102. The section describes the requirements and disclosures for the Joint 

committee to take into account when preparing the financial statements under 

FRS102 which include

• The date of transition is the beginning of the earliest period for which an entity 

presents full comparative information in accordance with FRS 102.

• Reconciliations and explanations of the impact of adoption of FRS 102 are 

required.

• In the opening statement of financial position, the entity should: recognise all 

assets and liabilities as required by FRS 102; not recognise items if FRS 102 

does not permit recognition; reclassify items previously recognised as required 

by the FRS; and apply FRS 102 in measuring all recognised assets and 

liabilities. 

A number of specific voluntary exemptions are provided which an entity can apply in 

preparing its first financial statements that comply with FRS 102

The Joint Committee will need to review and update the  accounting policies 

adopted by the financial statements so that they are consistent with the 

requirements of UK GAAP FRS102.

We will:

• review the financial statements and related disclosures 

that support the transition from the LG Code and 

FRS102 to ensure that the Joint Committee has 

appropriate adopted the framework

• review the process and arrangements the Joint 

Committee has to restate prior year figures for the year 

ending 31 March 2019 and test these to ensure that the 

conversion has been appropriately completed

41



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Audit Plan for ESPO  |  June 2020

DRAFT
Commercial in confidence

8

Significant risks identified (continued)
Significant risk Description Further work planned

Covid-19 The global outbreak of the Covid-19 virus pandemic has led to unprecedented 

uncertainty for all organisations, requiring urgent business continuity 

arrangements to be implemented. We expect current circumstances may have 

an impact on the production and audit of the financial statements for the year 

ended 31 July 2020, including and not limited to;

• Remote working arrangements may impact on the quality and timing of the 

production of the financial statements, and the evidence we can obtain 

through physical observation

• Volatility will increase the uncertainty of assumptions applied by management 

to receivable recovery estimates, and the reliability of evidence we can obtain 

to corroborate management estimates

• Financial uncertainty will require management to reconsider financial 

forecasts supporting their going concern assessment and whether material 

uncertainties for a period of at least 12 months from the anticipated date of 

approval of the audited financial statements have arisen; and 

• Disclosures within the financial statements will require significant revision to 

reflect the unprecedented situation and its impact on the preparation of the 

financial statements as at 31 July 2020, particularly in relation to material 

uncertainties.

We therefore identified the global outbreak of the Covid-19 virus as a significant 

risk, which was one of the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement.

We will:

• Work with management to understand the implications 

the response to the Covid-19 pandemic has on the 

organisation’s ability to prepare the financial statements 

and update financial forecasts and assess the 

implications on our audit approach

• Liaise with other audit suppliers, regulators and 

government departments to co-ordinate practical cross 

sector responses to issues as and when they arise 

• Evaluate the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial 

statements  in light of the Covid-19 pandemic.

• Evaluate whether sufficient audit evidence using 

alternative approaches can be obtained for the purposes 

of our audit whilst working remotely

• Evaluate whether sufficient audit evidence can be 

obtained to corroborate significant management 

estimates such as asset valuations and recovery of 

receivable balances

• Evaluate management’s assumptions that underpin the 

revised financial forecasts and the impact on 

management’s going concern assessment

• Discuss with management any potential implications for 

our audit report if we have been unable to obtain 

sufficient audit evidence

"Significant risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. Non-routine transactions are transactions that are unusual, either due to size or nature, 

and that therefore occur infrequently. Judgmental matters may include the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant measurement uncertainty." (ISA 315) 

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit Findings Report in September 2020.

42



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Audit Plan for ESPO  |  June 2020

DRAFT
Commercial in confidence

9

Other matters

Other work

• We read your Director’s Statement and any other information published alongside 

your financial statements to check that they are consistent with the financial 

statements on which we give an opinion and consistent with our knowledge of the 

Authority.

Other material balances and transactions

 Under International Standards on Auditing, "irrespective of the assessed risks of

material misstatement, the auditor shall design and perform substantive procedures

for each material class of transactions, account balance and disclosure". All other

material balances and transaction streams will therefore be audited. However, the

procedures will not be as extensive as the procedures adopted for the risks identified

in this report.

Going concern

 As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about

the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the

preparation and presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether

there is a material uncertainty about the Joint Committee's ability to continue as a

going concern” (ISA (UK) 570). We will review management's assessment of the

going concern assumption and evaluate the disclosures in the financial statements.

43



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Audit Plan for ESPO  |  February 2020

DRAFT

10

Materiality
The concept of materiality

The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements 

and the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to 

disclosure requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and 

applicable law. Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if 

they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Materiality for planning purposes

We have determined financial statement materiality based on a proportion of the gross 

revenue of the Joint Committee for the financial year. Materiality at the planning stage of 

our audit is £1.728 million, which equates to 2% of your forecasted gross revenue for 

the year. We design our procedures to detect errors in specific accounts at a lower level 

of precision. Accordingly, senior officer remuneration materiality has been reduced to 

£20,000 due to its sensitive nature and public interest. 

We reconsider planning materiality if, during the course of our audit engagement, we 

become aware of facts and circumstances that would have caused us to make a 

different determination of planning materiality.

Matters we will report to the Joint Committee

Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements which are material to 

our opinion on the financial statements as a whole, we nevertheless report to the Joint 

Committee any unadjusted misstatements of lesser amounts to the extent that these are 

identified by our audit work. Under ISA 260 (UK) ‘Communication with those charged 

with governance’, we are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements 

other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance. ISA 260 

(UK) defines ‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are clearly inconsequential, whether taken 

individually or in aggregate and whether judged by any quantitative or qualitative 

criteria.  In the context of ESPO, we propose that an individual difference could normally 

be considered to be clearly trivial if it is less than £86,000. 

If management have corrected material misstatements identified during the course of 

the audit, we will consider whether those corrections should be communicated to the 

Joint Committee to assist it in fulfilling its governance responsibilities.

Prior year gross revenue

£86.415m Materiality

Prior year gross revenue

Materiality

£1.728m

ESPO financial 

statements materiality

£0.086m

Misstatements reported 

to the Joint Committee

44



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Audit Plan for ESPO  |  June 2020

DRAFT
Commercial in confidence

11

Audit logistics, team & fees

Audit fees

 The planned audit fees are £32,000 for the financial statements audit completed in line 

with the terms of our engagement. In setting your fee, we have assumed that the scope 

of the audit, and the Joint Committee and its activities, do not significantly change.

Our requirements

To minimise the risk of a delayed audit or additional audit fees being incurred, you need to 

ensure that you:

• produce draft financial statements of good quality by the deadline you have agreed with 

us, including all notes, the narrative report and the Annual Governance Statement

• supply supporting schedules to all figures in the accounts by the agreed dates and in 

accordance with the agreed upon information request list

• make all appropriate staff available during the period of the audit to help locate 

information and to provide explanations.

In return, we will ensure that:

• the audit runs smoothly with the minimum disruption to your staff and that you are kept 

informed of progress during the audit

• we are available to discuss issues with you prior to and during your preparation of the 

financial statements. 

John Gregory, Engagement Lead

John will be the main point of contact for the Chair, Director and 

Committee members. He will share his wealth of knowledge and 

experience across the sector providing challenge and sharing good 

practice. John will ensure our audit is tailored specifically to you, 

and he is responsible for the overall quality of our audit. 

Avtar Sohal, Senior Audit Manager

Avtar will work with the finance team ensuring testing is delivered 

and any accounting issues are addressed on a timely basis. He will 

attend Audit Committee with John, and supervise Allison in leading 

the on-site team. Avtar will undertake reviews of the team’s work 

and draft clear, concise and understandable reports.

Allison Thomas, Audit Incharge

Allison will be the day to day contact for the audit, organising our 

visits and liaising with ESPO staff. She will lead the on-site team 

and will monitor deliverables, manage our query log ensuring that 

any significant issues and adjustments are highlighted to 

management as soon as possible.

Planning and

risk assessment 

Audit planning

January 2020

Year end audit

w/c TBC

Joint

committee

June 2020

Joint

committee

TBC

Accounts signed

TBC

Audit 

Findings 

Report

Audit Plan Audit 

opinion

45



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Audit Plan for ESPO  |  June 2020

DRAFT
Commercial in confidence

12

Fees and independence

Our fee assumptions include:

 Our fees are exclusive of VAT 

 Supporting schedules to all figures in the accounts are supplied by the agreed dates and 

in accordance with the agreed upon information request list

 The scope of the audit, and the Joint Committee and its activities have not changed 

significantly

 The Joint Committee will make available management and accounting staff to help us 

locate information and to provide explanations

Independence and ethics

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as 

auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the 

Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards and therefore we confirm that we are 

independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements.

Full details of all fees charged for audit and non-audit services will be included in our Audit 

Findings report at the conclusion of the audit.

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirement of 

the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards.

Fees

£

Joint Committee audit for 2019/20 32,000

Additional audit work for Conversion of LG Code to FRS102 2,500

Additional audit work for the Impact of Covid 19 2,500

Total 37,000

46



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Audit Plan for ESPO  |  June 2020

DRAFT
Commercial in confidence

13

Communication of audit matters with those charged with governance

International Standards on Auditing (ISA) 260, as well as other ISAs, prescribe matters 

which we are required to communicate with those charged with governance, and which 

we set out in the table opposite. 

This document, The Audit Plan, outlines our audit strategy and plan to deliver the audit, 

while The Audit Findings will be issued prior to approval of the financial statements and 

will present key issues and other matters arising from the audit, together with an 

explanation as to how these have been resolved.

We will communicate any adverse or unexpected findings affecting the audit on a timely 

basis, either informally or via a report to the Council.

Respective responsibilities

This plan has been prepared in the context of the Statement of Responsibilities of 

Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by the Audit Commission (www.audit-

commission.gov.uk). 

We have been appointed as the Council's independent external auditors by the Audit 

Commission, the body responsible for appointing external auditors to local public bodies 

in England. As external auditors, we have a broad remit covering finance and 

governance matters. 

Our annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice ('the 

Code') issued by the Audit Commission and includes nationally prescribed and locally 

determined work. Our work considers the Council's key risks when reaching our 

conclusions under the Code. 

It is the responsibility of the Council to ensure that proper arrangements are in place for 

the conduct of its business, and that public money is safeguarded and properly 

accounted for. We have considered how the Council is fulfilling these responsibilities. 

Our communication plan

Audit 

plan

Audit 

findings

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those 

charged with governance

✓

Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit. Form, 

timing and expected general content of communications

✓

Views about the qualitative aspects of the entity's accounting and 

financial reporting practices, significant matters and issue arising 

during the audit and written representations that have been sought

✓

Confirmation of independence and objectivity ✓ ✓

A statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, relationships and other 

matters which might be thought to bear on independence. 

Details of non-audit work performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP 

and network firms, together with fees charged. 

Details of safeguards applied to threats to independence

✓ ✓

Material weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit ✓

Identification or suspicion of fraud involving management and/or 

others which results in material misstatement of the financial 

statements

✓

Non compliance with laws and regulations ✓

Expected modifications to the auditor's report, or emphasis of 

matter

✓

Uncorrected misstatements ✓

Significant matters arising in connection with related parties ✓

Significant matters in relation to going concern ✓

47

http://www.audit-commission.gov.uk/


© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Audit Plan for ESPO  |  June 2020

DRAFT
Commercial in confidence

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 

firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 

separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 

another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

48



Informing the audit risk assessment 
for Eastern Shires Purchasing 
Organisation (ESPO) 2019/20

John Gregory
Director
E john.gregory@uk.gt.com

49

ctuohy_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 4



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which 

we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit process.  It is not a comprehensive 

record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in particular we cannot 

be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect your business or any 

weaknesses in your internal controls.  This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and 

should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent. We do not accept any 

responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the 

basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any 

other purpose.

2

50



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Table of Contents

Section Page

Purpose 4

General Enquiries of Management 6

Fraud 7

Fraud Risk Assessment 8

Laws and Regulations 13

Impact of Laws and Regulations 14

Going Concern 16

Going Concern Considerations 17

Related Parties 21

Accounting Estimates 23

Appendix A Accounting Estimates 25 

3

51



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Purpose

The purpose of this report is to contribute towards the effective two-way communication between ESPO’s external auditors and ESPO’s 

Management Committee, as 'those charged with governance'. The report covers some important areas of the auditor risk assessment where we are 

required to make inquiries of the Management Committee under auditing standards.   

Background

Under International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISA(UK)) auditors have specific responsibilities to communicate with Management Committee. 

ISA(UK) emphasise the importance of two-way communication between the auditor and the Management Committee and also specify matters that 

should be communicated.

This two-way communication assists both the auditor and the Management Committee in understanding matters relating to the audit and developing 

a constructive working relationship. It also enables the auditor to obtain information relevant to the audit from the Management Committee and 

supports the Management Committee in fulfilling its responsibilities in relation to the financial reporting process. 

Communication

As part of our risk assessment procedures we are required to obtain an understanding of management processes and the ESPO's oversight of the 

following areas:

• General Enquiries of Management

• Fraud,

• Laws and Regulations,

• Going Concern,

• Related Parties, and

• Accounting Estimates.

4

52



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Purpose

This report includes a series of questions on each of these areas and the response we have received from ESPO's management. The Management  

Committee should consider whether these responses are consistent with its understanding and whether there are any further comments it wishes to 

make. 

5

53



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

General Enquiries of Management
Question Management response

1. What do you regard as the key events or issues that 

will have a significant impact on the financial statements 

for 2019/20?

Transition from CIPFA, to preparing our financial statements under FRS102. There will therefore be a 

restatement of the prior year balance sheet under FRS102 included within this year’s financial statements. 

The effects of Covid 19 – this has impacted our sales at very end of the year, due to drop off in demand 

with uncertainty around schools closing.

2. Have you considered the appropriateness of the 

accounting policies adopted by ESPO?

Have there been any events or transactions that may 

cause you to change or adopt new accounting policies?

Transition from CIPFA to prepare our financial statements under FRS102 may cause some change to 

accounting policies, however nothing significant has been noted so far. 

3. Is there any use of financial instruments, including 

derivatives? 
Financial Instruments that ESPO use are loans, receivables and borrowings and have fixed or determinable 

payments. These are not quoted in an active market. We note no use of derivatives during the financial 

year.

4. Is Are you aware of any significant transaction 

outside the normal course of business?
We have created an expense code in the P&L in order to record all purchase of IT Equipment, to support 

remote working following closure of the building for non-essential staff due to Covid 19. However, as this 

occurred right at the year end, this will have only had an effect in March, and on-going costs will have 

occurred in April therefore affecting the following year’s financials. 

We have signed a contract in the financial year, for the development of our new website, however still 

relatively small value of £150k.

54



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

General Enquiries of Management
Question Management response

5. Are you aware of any changes in circumstances that 

would lead to impairment of non-current assets? 
None noted – non-current assets held by ESPO are minimal and mainly consist of the building and land at 

Grove Park. 

6. Are you aware of any guarantee contracts? No

7. Are you aware of the existence of loss contingencies 

and/or un-asserted claims that may affect the financial 

statements?

No

8. Other than in house solicitors, can you provide details 

of those solicitors utilised by XX during the year. Please 

indicate where they are working on open litigation or 

contingencies from prior years?

No litigation in the year, other than health and safety claims. Greg Surtees contact details have been 

provided to audit team for any direct contact with our in house solicitor. 

9. Have any of the XX’s service providers reported any 

items of fraud, non-compliance with laws and 

regulations or uncorrected misstatements which would 

affect the financial statements?

None noted

10. Can you provide details of other advisors consulted 

during the year and the issue on which they were 

consulted?

None noted

55



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Fraud

Issue

Matters in relation to fraud

ISA (UK) 240 covers auditors responsibilities relating to fraud in an audit of financial statements.

The primary responsibility to prevent and detect fraud rests with both the Management Committee and management. ESPO, with the 

oversight of the Management Committee, needs to ensure a strong emphasis on fraud prevention and deterrence and encourage a culture 

of honest and ethical behaviour. As part of its oversight, the Management Committee should consider the potential for override of controls 

and inappropriate influence over the financial reporting process.

As Management's external auditor, we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from 

material misstatement due to fraud or error. We are required to maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit, considering the 

potential for management override of controls.

As part of our audit risk assessment procedures we are required to consider risks of fraud. This includes considering the arrangements 

management has put in place with regard to fraud risks including: 

• assessment that the financial statements could be materially misstated due to fraud,

• process for identifying and responding to risks of fraud, including any identified specific risks, 

• communication with the Audit Risk & Assurance Committee regarding its processes for identifying and responding to risks of fraud, and

• communication to employees regarding business practices and ethical behaviour. 

We need to understand how the Management Committee oversees the above processes. We are also required to make inquiries of both 

management and the Management Committee as to their knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud. These areas have been set 

out in the fraud risk assessment questions below together with responses from ESPO's management. 

8

56



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Fraud risk assessment
Question Management response

1. Have ESPO assessed the risk of material 

misstatement in the financial statements due to fraud?

How has the process of identifying and responding to 

the risk of fraud been undertaken and what are the 

results of this process? 

How do ESPO’s risk management processes link to 

financial reporting?

Management have assessed the risk of material misstatement due to fraud as low in the financial 

statements. 

We recognise the risk of management override, however due to the controls in place around journal 

postings, this is monitored. Also due to the lack of incentives to perpetrate fraud, we consider the risk of 

management override to be minimal. 

For any invoices received, these have to be authorised in our workflow system by various individuals, 

including the budget holder for the area the invoice is to be posted to.

We have a strong IT control environment, also minimising the financial risk, as passwords for all 

programmes have to be changed regularly.

2. What have you determined to be the classes of 

accounts, transactions and disclosures most at risk to 

fraud? 

As above, there is little incentive and therefore limited areas which are at risk to fraud. Inventory 

adjustments are historically low, segregation of duties present in recording and inputting tramsactions and 

all manual journals are reviewed. 

3. Are you aware of any instances of actual, suspected 

or alleged fraud, errors or other irregularities either 

within ESPO as a whole or within specific departments 

since 1 April 2019?

As a management team, how do you communicate risk 

issues (including fraud) to those charged with 

governance?                                                                                         

No instances of fraud noted in the financial year. 

Risk is communicated via risk register, with internal audit, the outcomes of any internal audit observations 

are communicated at the management and audit committee meetings.

57



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Fraud risk assessment

Question Management response

4. Have you identified any specific fraud risks?

Do you have any concerns there are areas that are at risk of fraud?

Are there particular locations within ESPO where fraud is more likely to  

occur?

We have identified the consequences if risk of fraud or corruption was to occur by employees, 

these include; unbudgeted costs which could result in reduction of profit or a loss for ESPO, 

possible dismissal of staff who are responsible for fraud or who monitor/ manage the relevant 

system, costs of legal action, reputational damage which may occur and review of all controls 

to prevent future occurrence. 

We do not recognise this as a significant risk to the business due to little incentive and controls 

in place to monitor these risks, such as daily bank reconciliations, controls which are in place, 

segregation of duties and our regular internal audits. 

5. What processes do ESPO have in place to identify and respond to 

risks of fraud?

Internal Audit, and any recommendations that are made by IA are considered and responded 

to in Management Committee meetings. Daily bank reconciliations. Annual external audits.

6. How would you assess the overall control environment for ESPO, 

including:

the process for reviewing the effectiveness the system of internal 

control;  

internal controls, including segregation of duties; 

exist and work effectively?

If not where are the risk areas and what mitigating actions have been 

taken?

What other controls are in place to help prevent, deter or detect fraud?

Are there any areas where there is a potential for override of controls 

or inappropriate influence over the financial reporting process (for 

example because of undue pressure to achieve financial targets)? 

We consider there to be little incentive for employees to perpetrate fraud in ESPO – goods are 

not of individual significant value which are held in the warehouse, and are intended for use in 

schools, education, public sector.

A lot of larger and more expensive equipment is provided to customers via direct delivery from 

the supplier so goods aren’t physically held in our warehouse.

Little incentive of financial manipulation as no bonus etc paid to staff based on financial 

results, and therefore risk of overriding controls to achieve financial targets is minimal.

Additionally, major spending is agreed up front with members in quarterly meetings, and the 

budgeted surplus is shared at the start of the financial year. This also reduces any incentive to 

manipulate results.

Control’s are in place across the organisation at ESPO, and are reviewed regularly by internal 

audit. Segregation of duties is also in place, reducing fraud risk in the business. 

58



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Fraud risk assessment

Question Management response

7. Are there any areas where there is potential for 

misreporting? 

Rebate and Gas Revenue is recognised on a cash basis rather than accruals basis, to ensure that 

revenue is consistent year on year and to avoid misreporting. 

8. How do XX communicate and encourage ethical 

behaviours and business processes of it’s staff and 

contractors? 

How do you encourage staff to report their concerns 

about fraud?

What concerns are staff expected to report about 

fraud?

Have any significant issues been reported? 

All new joiners are giving training, and staff also complete e learnings regularly. 

We have a fraud section on the intranet which is accessible to all employees, giving information and 

guidance and also an e-learning specific to fraud. 

No issues have been reported in the year.

9. From a fraud and corruption perspective, what 

are considered to be high-risk posts?

How are the risks relating to these posts identified, 

assessed and managed?

Manual journal entries – however these are made by a small number of individuals in the strategic 

finance team and all journals are reviewed prior to posting into the system. 

10. Are you aware of any related party relationships 

or transactions that could give rise to instances of 

fraud?

How do you mitigate the risks associated with fraud 

related to related party relationships and 

transactions?

Related party transactions are completed on an arms length basis, all member spend is tracked weekly 

and reported in our weekly financials which are fed to the senior leadership team. 

59



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Fraud risk assessment

Question Management response

11. What arrangements are in place to report fraud 

issues and risks to the Management Committee? 

How does the Management Committee exercise 

oversight over management's processes for 

identifying and responding to risks of fraud and 

breaches of internal control?

What has been the outcome of these arrangements 

so far this year?

On the intranet there is a Whistleblowing document which outlines the steps to be taken to report fraud 

issues by staff. The staff should tell their manager/Head of Service/Director and then the issue is 

assessed as to what steps should next be taken.

Additionally, Internal audit look at our processes and look at any internal control issues.

Results and recommendations are shared with management.

12. Are you aware of any whistle blowing potential 

or complaints by potential whistle blowers? If so, 

what has been your response?

None noted

13. Have any reports been made under the Bribery 

Act?

None noted

60



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Law and regulations

Issue

Matters in relation to laws and regulations

ISA (UK) 250 requires us to consider the impact  of laws and regulations in an audit of the financial statements.

Management, with the oversight of the Management Committee, is responsible for ensuring that ESPO's operations are conducted in accordance 

with laws and regulations including those that determine amounts in the financial statements. 

As auditor, we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement due to fraud or 

error, taking into account the appropriate legal and regulatory framework. As part of our risk assessment procedures we are required to make 

inquiries of management and the Management Committee as to whether the entity is in compliance with laws and regulations. Where we become 

aware of information of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance we need to gain an understanding of the non-compliance and the possible 

effect on the financial statements.

Risk assessment questions have been set out below together with responses from management.

61



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Impact of laws and regulations

Question Management response

1. How does management gain assurance that all relevant laws 

and regulations have been complied with?

What arrangements does ESPO have in place to prevent and 

detect non-compliance with laws and regulations? 

Are you aware of any changes to ESPO’s regulatory 

environment that may have a significant impact on ESPO’s 

financial statements?

Procurement regulation is monitored by in house compliance team, health and safety and 

data protection is also looked after by in house officers however this is also overseen by 

LCC departments. 

No changes have been noted in the regulatory environment which would impact the 19/20 

financial statements. 

2. How is the Management Committee provided with assurance 

that all relevant laws and regulations have been complied with?

Appointment of appropriate individuals throughout the business, use of in-house solicitor to

advise on procurement laws and regulations and any other legal disputes. Also qualified

individuals appointed who are aware of laws and regulations in their area. Internal audit’s

completed regularly by Leicestershire County Council. Directors of area’s across the

business also ensures all laws and regulations are complied with, and attend quarterly

management committee meetings when any issues would be discussed.

3. Have there been any instances of non-compliance or 

suspected non-compliance with laws and regulation since 1 

April 2019 with an on-going impact on the 2019/2020 financial 

statements? 

None noted.

4. Is there any actual or potential litigation or claims that would 

affect the financial statements?

No – no legal cases in the year, only health and safety related claims. These would not have

any impact on the financial statements.

62



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Impact of laws and regulations

Question Management response

5. What arrangements does ESPO have in place to 

identify, evaluate and account for litigation or claims? 

In house legal solicitor to look after any legal claims and litigation.

6. Have there been any report from other regulatory        

bodies, such as HM Revenues and Customs which 

indicate non-compliance? 

None noted. HMRC visit arranged for April 2020 has been postponed to later in the year due to impact of

Covid-19.

63



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Going Concern

Issue

Matters in relation to going concern

ISA (UK) 570 covers auditor responsibilities in the audit of financial statements relating to management's use of the going concern assumption in 

the financial statements.

The going concern assumption is a fundamental principle in the preparation of financial statements. Under this assumption entities are viewed as 

continuing in business for the foreseeable future. Assets and liabilities are recorded on the basis that the entity will be able to realise its assets and 

discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Going concern considerations have been set out below and management has provided its response.

64



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Going concern considerations

Question Management response

1. Has the management team carried out an 

assessment of the going concern basis for 

preparing the financial statements for ESPO? What 

was the outcome of that assessment? 

The financial statements will be prepared on a going concern basis. Assessment has been carried out 

based on forecasts and budgets for the financial year 20/21. Budgets are currently being revised due to 

Covid-19 however we do not note any change in the going concern basis of the company due to our 

strong cash position as well as local government support. 

2. Are the financial assumptions in that report (e.g., 

future levels of income and expenditure) consistent 

with the financial information provided to the 

Management Committee throughout the year?

Yes

65



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Going concern considerations

Question Management response

3. Are the implications of statutory or policy 

changes appropriately reflected in ESPO, financial 

forecasts and report on going concern?

Yes we have considered our transition to FRS102. 

4. Have there been any significant issues raised 

with the Management Committee during the year 

which could cast doubts on the assumptions made? 

(Examples include adverse comments raised by 

internal and external audit regarding financial 

performance or significant weaknesses in systems 

of financial control).

None noted. 

5. Does a review of available financial information 

identify any adverse financial indicators including 

negative cash flow or poor or deteriorating 

performance against the better payment practice 

code?

If so, what action is being taken to improve financial 

performance?

Due to the current circumstances around Covid-19, we have forecasted a decrease in cash due to a fall 

in revenue, and slower business performance in the next few months. We have also deferred payments 

of VAT and furloughed around 100 staff members in line with government guidance. Despite this, due to 

a strong cash balance, and still supplying necessities to the NHS and schools, we do not consider this to 

effect the going concern status of ESPO. 

66



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Going concern considerations

Question Management response

6. Does ESPO have sufficient staff in post, with the appropriate skills and 

experience, particularly at senior manager level, to ensure the delivery of 

ESPO’s objectives?

If not, what action is being taken to obtain those skills?

Yes experienced management team, and heads of department are involved in 

achieving the medium and long term objectives of ESPO. 

7. Does ESPO have procedures in place to assess their ability to continue 

as a going concern? 

Yes - we assess the going concern based on our strategy, and forecasts/ budgets 

for following financial years.

8. Is management aware of the existence of events or conditions that may 

cast doubt on ESPO’s ability to continue as a going concern? 

No – as noted above, forecasts and budgets are being revised due to Covid-19 

however we do not believe that this impacts ESPO’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. 

67



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Going concern considerations

Question Management response

9. Are arrangements in place to report the going 

concern assessment to the Management 

Committee ? 

How has the Management Committee satisfied itself 

that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern 

basis in preparing financial statements? 

Yes the management committee will be presented with this as well as the financial statements prepared 

on a going concern bases for approval. 

68



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Related Parties

Issue

Matters in relation to Related Parties

ESPO are required to comply with IAS 24 and disclose transactions with entities/individuals that would be classed as related parties.  These may 

include:

■ entities that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by ESPO;

■ associates;

■ joint ventures;

■ an entity that has an interest in the authority that gives it significant influence over ESPO;

■ key management personnel, and close members of the family of key management personnel, and

■ post-employment benefit plans (pension fund) for the benefit of employees ESPO, or of any entity that is a related party of ESPO.

A disclosure is required if a transaction (or series of transactions) is material on either side, i.e. if a transaction is immaterial from the ESPO 

perspective but material from a related party viewpoint then ESPO must disclose it.

ISA (UK) 550 requires us to review your procedures for identifying related party transactions and obtain an understanding of the controls that you 

have established to identify such transactions. We will also carry out testing to ensure the related party transaction disclosures you make in the 

financial statements are complete and accurate. 

21

69



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Relating Parties

Question Management response

1. What controls does ESPO have in place to 

identify, account for and disclose related party 

transactions and relationships ?

ESPO is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or individuals that

have the potential to control or influence the organisation or to be controlled or influenced by ESPO.

Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which ESPO might be

constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability to limit another

party’s ability to bargain freely with ESPO.

ESPO provides goods and services to all member authorities and as a consequence recognises

sales revenue and has amounts owed by these member authorities:

Cambridgeshire county council, Leicestershire county council, Lincolnshire county council, Norfolk

county council, Peterborough county council and Warwickshire county council.

We note that members of the management committee who have direct control over the financial and

operating policies of ESPO have not received any payment, or had any interest in work or services

commissioned by ESPO.

70



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Accounting estimates

Issue

Matters in relation to Related Accounting estimates

ESPO apply appropriate estimates in the preparation of their financial statements. ISA (UK) 540 sets out requirements for auditing accounting 

estimates. The objective is to gain evidence that the accounting estimates are reasonable and the related disclosures are adequate.

Under this standard we have to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement for accounting estimates by understanding how the 

Combined Authority identifies the transactions, events and conditions that may give rise to the need for an accounting estimate.

Accounting estimates are used when it is not possible to measure precisely a figure in the accounts. We need to be aware of all estimates that 

the Combined Authority is using as part of its accounts preparation; these are detailed in appendix 1 to this report. The audit procedures we 

conduct on the accounting estimate will demonstrate that:

•  the estimate is reasonable; and

•  estimates have been calculated consistently with other accounting estimates within the financial statements.

We would ask the Managment Committee to satisfy itself that the arrangements for accounting estimates are adequate. 

23

71



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Accounting Estimates

Question Management response

1. Are management aware of transactions, events, 

conditions (or changes in these) that may give rise 

to recognition or disclosure of significant accounting 

estimates that require significant judgement (other 

than those in Appendix A)?

None noted

2. Are the management arrangements for the 

accounting estimates, as detailed in Appendix A 

reasonable?

Yes – we have not made any changes to our accounting policies for estimates in the year. We consider 

the arrangements in place to be reasonable. 

3. How is the Management Committee provided 

with assurance that the arrangements for 

accounting estimates are adequate ?

Through discussion and challenge of ESPO management and the audit process.

72



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates

Estimate Method / model used to 

make the estimate

Controls used to 

identify estimates

Whether 

Management 

have used an 

expert

Underlying assumptions:

- Assessment of degree of uncertainty

- Consideration of alternative 

estimates

Has there 

been a

change in 

accounting

method in 

year?

Property, plant &

equipment

valuations

Fair value for land/buildings 

defined as ‘existing use’ by 

ESPO.

Valuations are 

performed annually to 

ensure that the fair 

value of a revalued 

asset does not differ 

materially from its 

carrying amount. For 

land and buildings all 

material assets will be 

considered in 2019/20.

Yes Degree of uncertainty inherent with any 

revaluation.  We employ professional 

valuers and rely on expert opinion.

No

Estimated 

remaining 

useful lives of 

PPE

Each part of an item of 

property, plant and equipment 

with a significant cost in 

relation to the total cost is 

depreciated separately.  

Depreciation methods, useful 

lives and residual values are 

reviewed each financial year 

and adjusted if appropriate.

See left box Discussion with 

internal asset 

team and for the 

building the 

useful life is 

determined by 

the valuer.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight 

line basis as this reflects consumption of 

assets and is a reasonable assumption.

No

25

73



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates (Continued)

Estimate Method / model 

used to make the 

estimate

Controls used to identify 

estimates

Whether 

Management 

have used an 

expert

Underlying assumptions:

- Assessment of degree of 

uncertainty

- Consideration of alternative 

estimates

Has there been a

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Depreciation and 

Amortisation 
See above See above See above See above No

Impairments Review of all assets 

undertaken annually 

in line with our 

accounting policies.

See left. Discussion with 

internal asset 

team as 

appropriate.

N/A. No.

Measurement of 

Financial 

Instruments

Financial instruments 

consist of loans, 

receivables and 

borrowings. 

Measured initially at 

cost and 

subsequently at 

amortised cost using 

the effective interest 

method.

See left. None N/A No

26

74



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates (Continued)

Estimate Method / model used to make 

the estimate

Controls used to 

identify 

estimates

Whether 

Management 

have used an 

expert

Underlying 

assumptions:

- Assessment of degree 

of uncertainty

- Consideration of 

alternative estimates

Has there been a

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Provisions for 

liabilities
Provisions are identified through 

detailed monthly management 

accounts which flags any 

potential issues to management.

Each provision is 

separately 

reviewed by 

financial accounts 

and a working is 

put together to 

support the 

calculation.

As necessary on 

an individual basis

Each provision is 

assessed on an individual 

basis to ensure that it 

meets the criteria of a 

provision per IAS 37.  The 

degree of uncertainty is 

assessed when 

determining whether a 

provision is the correct 

treatment for an item.

No.

Bad Debt 

Provision

Debts are reviewed monthly and 

any debts that are deemed to be 

irrecoverable are written off at 

the period end.

Knowledge by the 

Accounts 

Receivables team 

in likelihood of 

recoverability and 

the aging of the 

debts. The finance 

director will review 

and sign off the 

write off.

N/A N/A No.

27

75



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates (Continued)

Estimate Method / model used to 

make the estimate

Controls used to 

identify estimates

Whether 

Management 

have used an 

expert

Underlying 

assumptions:

- Assessment of 

degree of uncertainty

- Consideration of 

alternative estimates

Has there been a

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Accruals We use standard accruals 

accounting –accruals are 

based on expenses incurred 

that have not yet been paid.

Monthly 

management 

accounts provides 

rigorous analysis so 

that any accruals are 

highlighted and 

actioned throughout 

the year.

N/A. N/A. No.

Non Adjusting 

events – events 

after the balance 

sheet date 

Monthly management 

accounts prepared would flag 

any adjusting/non-adjusting 

events.

See left. N/A. N/A. No.

28

76



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP | XX

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates (Continued)

Estimate Method / model used to 

make the estimate

Controls used to 

identify estimates

Whether 

Management have 

used an expert

Underlying 

assumptions:

- Assessment of degree 

of uncertainty

- Consideration of 

alternative estimates

Has there been a

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Pension Fund  

(LGPS) Actuarial 

gains/losses

The actuarial gains and 

losses figures are 

calculated by the actuarial 

expert Hymans 

Robertson. These figures 

are based on making % 

adjustments to the closing 

values of assets/liabilities.  

See left. We are provided with 

a report from the 

actuary, Hymans 

Robertson. 

The nature of these figures 

forecasting into the future 

are based upon the best 

information held at the 

current time and are 

developed by experts in 

their field.

No.

29

77



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to 

one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member 

firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not 

provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

grantthornton.co.uk

78



 

 

 

 

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 15 SEPTEMBER 2021 

2019/20 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

JOINT REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR AND CONSORTIUM TREASURER 

 
Purpose of Report     

 

1. This report sets out the 2019/20 financial statements (also referred to as the 

Statement of Accounts) and the 2019/20 Annual Governance Statement. 

2. The Committee is asked to approve both documents. 

Background  

3. The ESPO constitution requires statutory statements of accounts (‘financial 

statements’) to be prepared for approval by Management Committee. These 

accounts are attached as Appendix 1 and are marked draft pending approval by 

the Committee.  

4. The external audit and the audit opinion is considered elsewhere on the agenda. 

5. Given the small size of both ESPO Trading Limited (ETL) and Eduzone, they do 

not require an external audit and their accounts were approved by their 

respective Boards of Directors earlier in the year. 

Change in Accounting Rules Followed 

6. ESPO has historically used the Local Government CIPFA accounting rules to 

prepare its financial statements each year. However, as ESPO is a joint 

committee set up under Section 102 of the 1972 Local Government Act, it isn’t 

required to use these rules. 

7. Management Committee approved in November 2019 that from 2019/20 ESPO 

would adopt the accounting rules commonly used by private trading companies 

called ‘FRS 102’ (Financial Reporting Standard 102, ‘The Financial Reporting 

Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland’). This 

was because the rules were thought to be more relevant to a trading 

organisation like ESPO, and whilst still being transparent the requirements are 

less onerous.  

8. In finalising the figures for 2019/20, the final trading surplus (i.e. that normally 

reported to Management Committee) has increased from £5.478m to £5.758m, a 

£280k increase. Further statutory adjustments (largely related to pensions and 

approved spend from repairs and renewals reserves) are then made to get the 

final profit in the financial statements which is £3.965m.  

Key Areas of Judgement 

79 Agenda Item 6



9. Value of pension deficit: The closing position as at 31st March 2020 was a net 

deficit of £16.6m (prior year £24.8m). This is shown as ‘Post Employment 

Benefits’ on the balance sheet on page 10 of the financial statements. Further 

details are provided in note 17 to the accounts and the valuation is based on a 

third party valuation by the actuaries Hymans Robertson. The change is 

significant and is due to changes in financial assumptions linked to the Covid 

Pandemic.  The position has reversed for 31 March 2021 and returned to a 

deficit of £27.7m. 

10. Value of land and buildings: The Grove Park premises were valued at £15.8m 

(prior year £13.3m) in accordance with professional guidelines by chartered 

surveyors. The outstanding loan used to purchase the site now stands at £5.5m 

(prior year £6.0m). 

11. Going Concern: A key assumption in preparing the financial statements is that 

ESPO will continue trading for the foreseeable future, considered to be at least 

12 months from the date of signing the financial statements. The Director’s 

report, considered elsewhere on the agenda, gives a current trading update, but 

trading in 2021/22 has been strong and we remain on target to deliver the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) giving comfort over the use of the 

going concern assumption. 

Key Points 

12. A statutory profit for the year of £4.0m (prior year £3.0m) has been made, 

reflecting a good trading performance in 2019/20. The Covid pandemic had a 

relatively small impact on 2019/20, arising at the end of the year.  

13. A dividend of £4.0m was paid to members in November 2020 and this is based 

on the trading result previously declared to the Committee. The statutory 

adjustments, including the large movements in the pension scheme or property 

valuation, do not impact the value of the dividend paid. 

14. ESPOs financial position remains healthy, with net current assets of £18.1m at 

31 March 2019, which allowed for the dividend in paragraph 11 to be paid, 

supports the build up of reserves for the planned investment in a new warehouse 

facility, and supports the working capital needs of the business. 

Annual Governance Statement 

15. Similar to the external audit, and unlike local authority members, ESPO is not 

required to publish an Annual Governance Statement. It is however a useful tool 

to review the effectiveness of our governance arrangements.  

16. Management Committee received the draft 2019/20 Annual Governance 

Statement in its meeting on 16 September 2020 and it was resolved: 

a. That the draft Governance Statement was consistent with Members 

perspective on internal control within ESPO. 

80



b.  Noted that final approval would be sought when the Statement of 

Accounts were presented at a future Management Committee meeting; 

c. That the agreed Governance Statement be circulated to the Chief 

Executives of each of the Constituent Authorities. 

17. The 2019/20 Annual Governance Statement is included in Appendix 2. There 

have been no changes since the draft approved by the Committee. During the 

review period 2019/20 the only significant issue identified was the risk to the 

achievement of the budgeted surplus in the financial year 2020/21 as a result of 

the COVID-19 crisis. The Committee will be familiar that financial performance 

and impact of Covid throughout 2020/21, and beyond, was discussed frequently 

during Committee meetings. 

 

Recommendation    

 
18. The Committee is asked to approve the 2019/20 financial statements and the 

2019/20 annual governance statement. 
 

Equal Opportunities Implications  

 
19. None 
 
Officer to Contact    

 
 Kristian Smith, Director 
 0116 265 7931 
 

 Chris Tambini, Consortium Treasurer  
 Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 0116 305 7831 
 
 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – 2019/20 ESPO Financial Statements 

Appendix 2 – 2019/20 Annual Governance Statement 

 

 

81

mailto:Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 

Annual report and financial statements 

for the year ended 31 March 2020 

 

 

 

     

[DRAFT]

83

ctuohy_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 

Page | 2 

Contents 

 

Annual Report             3 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of ESPO        6 

Income statement              8 

Statement of comprehensive income          9 

Balance sheet                      10 

Consolidated statement of cash flows                  11 

Statement of changes in equity                   12 

Notes to the financial statements                   13 

 

 

 

84



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 

Page | 3 

Annual Report  

Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation (‘ESPO’) provide a professional, comprehensive, value for money purchasing, 
contracting and supplies service for member authorities and other public bodies. 

ESPO is a joint committee set up under Section 102 of the 1972 Local Government Act.  The member authorities of the 
joint committee, known as the ‘Management Committee’ at 31 March 2020 were Cambridgeshire, Leicestershire, 
Lincolnshire, Norfolk and Warwickshire County Councils together with Peterborough City Council. 

Strategic report 

The strategic report on Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation (ESPO) for the year ended 31 March 2020 is presented 
below. 

Review of the business 

2019/20 saw a difficult trading environment and ESPO achieved a record surplus.  We continued to invest in low prices, 
great product quality and choice, excellent service and high-quality procurement expertise to maintain our compelling 
customer offer and support our customers to deliver their critical services. 

Operationally, the latter part of 2019/20 saw the emergence of Covid-19 which had a significant impact on the UK, our 
customers, our staff and our operations. Whilst much of the impact of this falls into the 2020/21 financial year, our staff 
team have shown a huge amount of dedication in enabling ESPO to trade throughout the pandemic. This enabled 
essential supplies to continue to be delivered to customers to support them during the pandemic and our thanks go to 
the entire team for making this possible. 

Financially, in 2019/20 revenue continued to grow and there was a continued focus on cost control being maintained 
over both staff and operating expenses. This has enabled a record surplus for 2019/20 and enables the announcement of 
a £4.0m dividend distribution to consortium members for 2019-2020.   

In order to mitigate the possible adverse effects of Local Authority spending constraints on future sales volumes ESPO 
continues to market its goods and services to a broad public sector audience within and beyond its member areas.  This 
strategy supported the successful performance in 2019-2020 and will be continued in line with ESPO’s strategy and the 
medium-term financial plan. 

 

85



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 

Page | 4 

Principal risks and uncertainties 

ESPO’s activities expose it to a number of financial risks including credit risk, cash flow risk and liquidity risk. ESPO 
does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. 

Credit risk 

EPOS’s financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables. 

The credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of 
allowances for doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment is made where there is an identified loss event which, 
based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of the cash flows. 

Liquidity risk  

In order to maintain liquidity to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing operations and future 
developments, ESPO uses a mixture of long-term and short-term debt finance. 

Political risk  

On 31 January 2020, the United Kingdom left the European Union and entered a transitional period until 31 December 
2020. A trade deal with the EU was agreed and came into effect from 1 January 2021 and this clarified the UKs trading 
relationship with the EU. ESPO continues to closely evaluate the operational and financial impacts arising from the UK 
leaving the EU and will adjust plans, to ensure service levels remain in line with current performance, accordingly. 

Covid-19 

On 11 March 2020 the World Health Organisation labelled the public health emergency situation caused by the Covid-
19 outbreak, as a global pandemic. The rapid escalation of events, in both the United Kingdom and worldwide, is 
resulting in an unprecedented health crisis that will have an impact on the macroeconomic environment and business 
evolution. To tackle the issue, the UK government issued orders to stay at home, closed certain businesses and venues, 
and prohibited public gatherings along with other guidelines.  

ESPO responded to this in a variety of ways to ensure the wellbeing of employees and minimise disruption to the business 
as far as possible. All staff who can are currently working from home, and we have responded to this crisis by managing 
safety on site in our warehouse and offices.  

Many customers of ESPO temporarily closed for business or altered operations, as many schools closed. ESPO sought 
to achieve cost savings during this period to maximise cashflow, as well as taking advantage of government support 
available, such as the employee furlough scheme. Government restrictions continued to evolve and change throughout 
2020 and early 2021 and during this time, as lockdown eased and schools re-opened we saw demand increase.  

ESPO continued to trade throughout the pandemic and provided essential services and supplies to our customers and the 
communities they serve. We were proud to be chosen to act as a Local Authority distribution hub for key products and 
food parcels being sent to vulnerable people under the Government shielding programme for Leicestershire County 
Council, Leicester City and Rutland. Our staff team have played a key part throughout the pandemic, with some of our 
team continuing to operate at our head office site in a Covid secure environment, and a significant number working 
remotely in line with government guidelines. 

There is limited impact on the 2019/20 accounts as the pandemic only started to have a notable impact in the last two 
weeks of March 2020.  

Going Concern  

The senior officers have reviewed the going concern status of ESPO and have a reasonable expectation that ESPO has 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. A Medium-Term Plan covering five 
years and a Long-Term Plan covering ten years is presented to the Management Committee and reviewed and approved 
on an annual basis. Also, a revised forecast for the current trading year is carried out every six months to reflect any 
changes that may materially impact the year end position. 

At year end ESPO has net assets of £7.1m, a strong cash position and ESPO has continued to trade throughout the 
pandemic.  

Financial performance is closely monitored and the Medium-Term financial plan has been updated, taking into account 
a number of different scenarios, to ensure that even in the rapidly changing and uncertain external environment ESPO 
can continue to ensure its long-term sustainability.  

86



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 

Page | 5 

With regard to Covid-19, ESPO is acting to deal with events arising from the pandemic and to minimise their impact on 
the organisation. The Management Committee considers this is a temporary situation, and according to the current cash 
position and revised forecasts, this will not compromise the organisation’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

In considering all of the above, ESPO continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.  

Management Committee Responsibilities Statement  

The Management Committee are responsible for ensuring the proper administration of ESPOs financial affairs, its 
compliance with all laws and regulations, and for approving the annual report and financial statements.  

The Management Committee have elected to prepare financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs and profit or loss of ESPO for that period in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable laws). In preparing these financial 
statements, the Management Committee have ensured that: 

 suitable accounting policies have been selected and applied consistently; 
 judgements and accounting estimates made are reasonable and prudent; 
 they state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 

disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 
 the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

organisation will continue in business; 
 

The Management Committee are responsible for ensuring that adequate accounting records are maintained that are 
sufficient to show and explain ESPO’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of ESPO and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice. They are responsible for managing ESPO’s affairs to secure economic, efficient and 
effective use of resources and also safeguard its assets and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.  

The Management Committee are responsible for ensuring the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the organisation’s website at www.espo.org. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.  

To ensure the proper administration of its financial affairs the Management Committee secure that one of its officers 
has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs; for the consortium that officer is the Director of Finance 
of Leicestershire County Council who is the ‘Consortium Treasurer’; 

These accounts were approved at a meeting of the Management Committee on  

Date:  

 

 

Cllr. P Butlin 

Chairman, ESPO Management Committee 

 

 

 

C Tambini 

Director of Finance of Leicestershire County Council (Consortium Treasurer of ESPO) 

 

87



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 

Page | 6 

Independent auditor's report to the consortium of Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 

Qualified Opinion 

We have audited the non-statutory financial statements (the ‘financial statements’) of Eastern Shires 
Purchasing Organisation (the ‘joint committee’) for the year ended 31 March 2020, which comprise the 
Income Statement, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Balance Sheet, the Statement of Cashflows, 
the Statement of Changes in Equity and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion, except for the matter described in the basis for qualified opinion section of our report the 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the joint committee's affairs as at 31 March 2020 
and of its profit for the year then ended in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice. 

Basis for qualified opinion 

Due to the national lockdown arising from the Covid-19 pandemic we did not observe the counting of 
physical inventories at the end of the year. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the stock quantities held at 31 March 2020, which have a carrying amount in the Balance Sheet of 
£6,652,000, by performing other audit procedures.  

Consequently we were unable to determine whether any adjustment to these amounts were necessary.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the joint 
committee in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where: 

 the consortium’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not 
appropriate; or 

 the consortium have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt about the joint committee’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for 
a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Other information 

The consortium are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the strategic report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

 

88



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 

Page | 7 

Independent auditor's report to the consortium of Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a 
material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Consortium for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the consortium' responsibilities statement set out on page 5, the consortium are 
responsible for preparation of the financial statements which give a true and fair view, and for such internal 
control as the consortium determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the consortium are responsible for assessing the joint committee’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the consortium either intend to liquidate the joint committee or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s 
report. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the joint committee's consortium, as a body, in accordance with our letter of 
engagement dated 12 March 2020. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the joint 
committee's consortium those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the joint committee and the joint committee's consortium as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or 
for the opinions we have formed. 

 
 
 
Grant Thornton UK LLP 
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants 
[**Location**] 
[**Date**] 

89



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Income Statement 
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 8 

  
 
 
 

Note 

2020 
£’000 

 

2019 
£’000 

restated     

Turnover 5 87,892 86,942 
Cost of sales  (62,953) (63,006) 
  

  

Gross profit  24,939 23,936 
Distribution costs  (1,630) (2,195) 
Administrative expenses  (18,602) (18,027) 
    

Operating profit 8 4,707 3,714 
    
Interest receivable 9 114 75 
Interest payable 10 (855) (797) 
    

    
Profit for the financial year   3,965 2,992 
    

    
    
    

 

90



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 9 

 Note  

2020 
£’000 

 

2019 
£’000 

restated 
     

Profit for the financial year   3,965 2,992 

   
  

Gains arising on revaluation of tangible fixed assets   1,060 771 
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability  17  10,391 (3,881) 
   

  

Total comprehensive income   15,417 (118) 
   

  

     
 

91



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Balance sheet 
As at 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 10 

 Note  

2020 
£’000 

 

2019 
£’000 

restated      

Fixed assets     
Intangible assets 11  24 9 
Tangible assets 12  15,787 14,393 
     

   15,811 14,402 
     

Current assets     
Stocks 13  6,652 6,487 
Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 14  8,249 8,617 
Cash at bank and in hand   13,598 11,087 
     

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 15  (10,407) (9,930) 
     

Net current assets   18,092 16,261 
     

Total assets less current liabilities   33,902 30,663 
     
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 16  (5,000) (5,500) 
Post Employment Benefits  17  (16,575) (24,839) 
     

Net assets   12,327 324 
     

Capital and reserves     
General Reserve   26,549 23,869 
Pension Reserve   (16,575) (24,839) 
Revaluation Reserve   2,354 1,294 
     
     

Total Reserves   12,327 324 
     

 

The financial statements of Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation were approved by the members and authorised for 
issue on [date].  They were signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

C Tambini 

Director of Finance of Leicestershire County Council (Consortium Treasurer of ESPO) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

92



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Statement of Cash Flows  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 

Page | 11 

 Note  

2020 
£’000 

 

2019 
£’000 

restated      

Net cash from operating activities 20  7,335 3,728 
     

Cash flows from investing activities     
Purchase of fixed assets 12  (745) (841) 
Purchase of intangible assets 11  (40) - 
Interest received 9  114 75 
     

Net cash from investing activities   (671) (766) 
     
Cash flows from financing activities     
Interest paid 10  (240) (269) 
Repayment of borrowings   (500) (500) 
Dividends paid   (3,414) (3,126) 
     

Net cash used in financing activities   (4,154) (3,895) 
     

     
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   2,510 (933) 
     

     
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   11,087 12,020 
     

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year   13,598 11,087 
     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

93



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 March 2020 

Page | 12 

 

P&L
Reserve

£’000

Pension 
Reserve 

£’000 

Revaluation 
Reserve

£’000
Total
£’000

    
At 1 April 2018 (as restated) 21,616 (18,697) 650 3,569
Profit for the financial year 2,992 - - 2,992
Other Comprehensive Income for the year  127 (3,881) 644 (3,110)    

Total comprehensive income 3,119 (3,881) 644 (118)
    
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability  2,261 (2,261) - -
Dividend paid  (3,126) - - (3,126)

 
   

At 31 March 2019 23,869 (24,839) 1,294 324
Profit for the financial year 3,965 - - 3,965
Other Comprehensive Income for the year - 10,391 - 10,391    

Total comprehensive income 3,965 10,391 - 10,243
Surplus on revaluation of PP&E - - 1,060 1,060
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability 2,127 (2,127) - -
Dividend paid  (3,414) - - (3,414)
 

   

At 31 March 2020 26,549 16,575 2,354 12,327
 

   

 

 

94



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 13 

1. General Information 

Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation (‘ESPO’) provide professional, comprehensive, value for money purchasing, 
contracting and supplies service for member authorities and other public bodies. 

ESPO is a joint committee set up under Section 102 of the 1972 Local Government Act.  The member authorities at 31 
March 2020 were Cambridgeshire, Leicestershire, Lincolnshire, Norfolk and Warwickshire County Councils together 
with Peterborough City Council. 

2. Statement of Compliance 

The financial statements of Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation (‘ESPO’) have been prepared in compliance with 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102, ‘The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland’ (‘FRS 102’).  

3. Summary of Accounting Policies 

The principal accounting policies are summarised below.  They have all been applied consistently throughout the year 
and to the preceding year. 

a. Basis of preparation  

These financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis. 

FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement 
in the process of applying the organisation’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in the 
note 4. 

The last financial statements were prepared under previous principles, primarily comprising the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19 and the Service Reporting Code of Practice 2018/19, 
supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and statutory guidance as detailed in the Local 
Government Act 2003. The date of transition to FRS 102 was therefore 1 April 2018.  

The functional currency of ESPO is considered to be pounds sterling because that is the currency of the primary 
economic environment in it operates.  

 

b. Reconciliation with previous Generally Accepted Accounting Practices 

In preparing the accounts the Consortium Treasurer has considered whether in applying the accounting policies required 
by FRS 102 the restatement of comparative items was required. Under FRS 102 the format of the financial statements 
and many of the accompanying notes are different, and this has required restating comparatives throughout.  However, 
there are also areas where a change in accounting policy has been made requiring a restatement of balances: 

- ESPO previously recognised it’s annual dividend in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the 
year that the profits arose. ESPO has changed its accounting policy as a result of the FRS 102 implementation 
such that dividends paid are now treated as a distribution and recognised in the Statement of Changes in Equity 
when paid.  

- ESPO previously recognised a provision for the value of accumulated staff absences that had been built up but not 
taken by its staff. ESPO has changed its accounting policy as a result of the FRS 102 implementation and no longer 
does this. 

The impact of these changes are shown in the tables below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

95



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 14 

3. Summary of Accounting policies (continued) 

Reconciliation of funds   

P&L 
Fund 

Pensions 
Reserve 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Ear-
marked 

funds 

Capital 
adjustment 

account 
Absence 
account 

Total 
Reserves 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Funds at 1 April 2018 as previously stated 5,107 (18,697) 134 7,060 6,839 (93) 350 
Dividend treated as distribution 3,126 - - - - - 3,126 
Removal of accumulated absence account 

 
- - - - 93 93 

Aggregation of funds into P&L fund 13,383 - 516 (7,060) (6,839) - - 
Balance as at 1 April 2018 (as restated) 21,616 (18,697) 650 - - - 3,569 

 

Reconciliation of Funds  

 

31 March 
2019 

£’000 

1 April 
2018 

£’000 
   
Funds as previously stated (3,194) 350 
Dividends treated as distribution  3,414 3,126 
Removal of accumulated absence account 104 93 
   

 
  

Funds as restated 324 3,569 
 

  

 

Reconciliation of Profit/Loss 

 

31 March 
2019 

£’000 
  
Profit / (loss) for the year as previous stated (422) 
Removal of accumulated absence account 12 
Dividends treated as distribution 3,414 
Other (12) 

 
 

Profit / (loss) for the year as restated 2,992 
 

 

c. Going concern 

The Consortium has reviewed the going concern status of ESPO by its ability to meet its day to day working capital 
requirements and the updating of its medium term financial plan. The current economic conditions continue to create 
uncertainty over  the level of demand for ESPO’s products but the Consortium’s latest financial plan considers the 
possible impact of Covid-19 , taking account of reasonable possible changes in trading performance, and shows that 
ESPO should be able to continue to operate for the foreseeable future.  

With regard to Covid-19, the organisation is acting to deal with events arising from the pandemic and to minimise 
impact on ESPO. The Consortium considers this is a temporary situation, and according to the current cash position 
and revised forecasts, this will not compromise the organisation’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

In considering the above, the management have reasonable expectation that the organisation has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for a period of at least 12 months from approval of the financial statements.  

The ESPO therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements.  

96



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 15 

3. Summary of Accounting policies (continued) 

d. Turnover 

The organisation’s trading activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place and not when cash payments are made 
or received. In particular: 

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised when ESPO satisfies the performance obligation to its customers on 
delivery and it is likely that economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to ESPO.  ESPO has standard 
payment terms agreed with its customers.  

Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when ESPO can measure reliably the percentage of completion 
of the transaction and it is probable that economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to ESPO. Revenue 
associated with sales of gas is recognised 1 month in arrears given the nature of our role in validating bills and 
supporting our customers to manage risk.  

Rebates are recognised where they can be reliably measured and agreed with the supplier and are retrospective.  Cash 
is accounted for in the period it is received. 

Government grants, which are related to performance and specific deliverables, are recognised in the Income Statement 
when the organisation earns the right to the consideration by its performance. 

e. Exceptional Items 

When items of income and expenditure are material, their nature and amount is disclosed separately, either on the face 
of the Income Statement or in the note to the accounts, depending on how significant the items are to an understanding 
of ESPO’s financial performance. 

f. Employee Benefits 

Benefits Payable during Employment: 

Short term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year end. They include such benefits 
as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid annual sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits (e.g. cars) for 
current employees and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render service to the 
organisation.  

The Local Government Pension Scheme: 

In accordance with the FRS 102, ESPO is required to disclose certain information concerning assets, liabilities, income 
and expenditure related to pension schemes for its employees. The scheme provides defined benefits to members 
(retirement lump sums and pensions) earned as employees work for ESPO. The Local Government Scheme is accounted 
for as a defined benefits scheme and is administered by our Servicing Authority, Leicestershire County Council. The 
liabilities of the scheme attributable to ESPO are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the ‘projected 
unit method’.  This is based on an assessment of future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits 
earned to date by employees and assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover and projected earning for current 
employees. 

Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices using a discount rate at a rate shown within the assumptions 
used in the pension fund. 

The assets of the fund attributable to the Authority are included in the Balance Sheet at fair value: 
Quotes securities – current bid price  Unquoted securities – professional estimate 
Unitised securities – current bid price  Property – market value 
 
The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components: 

Current service cost: The increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year – allocated in the Income 
Statement to employees. 

Past service cost: The increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or curtailment whose effect relates to 
years of service earned in earlier years – debited to the Income Statement. 

97



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 16 

3. Summary of Accounting policies (continued) 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) 

The return on plan assets: Excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) – charged 
to the Pension Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

Actuarial gains and losses: Changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not coincided with 
assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated their assumptions – charged to 
the Pension Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

Contributions paid to the Pension Fund: Cash paid as employer’s contributions to the Pension Fund in settlement of 
liabilities; not accounted for as an expense. 

Discretionary Awards 

ESPO also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the events of early retirements.  
Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision 
to make the award and accounted for using the same policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme. 

g. Intangible Assets 

Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by ESPO as a result of past 
events (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is expected that future economic benefits or service potential will 
flow from the intangible asset to the organisation. 

ESPO has no internally generated intangible assets. Any future expenditure on such assets will be capitalised where it 
can be measured reliably as attributable to the asset and will be restricted to the development phase. 

Intangible assets are initially measured at cost. Amounts are only revalued where the fair value of the assets held by 
ESPO can be determined by reference to an active market. In practice no intangible assets held by ESPO meet this 
criterion, and they are therefore carried at amortised cost. The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is amortised 
over its useful life and charged to the Income Statement. As asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the asset might be impaired – any losses recognised are charged to the Income Statement. Any gain or 
loss arising on the disposal or abandonment of an intangible asset is charged to the Income Statement, in the year of the 
disposal.  

h. Tangible Assets  

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost or valuation, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment. Depreciation 
is provided on all tangible fixed assets, on a straight-line basis over its expected useful life as follows: 

Land and Buildings – 70 years 

Vehicles, Plant and Equipment – 4 to 10 years 

i. Impairment 

Assets are assessed at each year end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where 
indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall.  

Where impairment is identified, they are accounted for by:  

• Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for assets in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying amount of the 
asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains) and recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. 

• Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount is written 
down and the cost charged to the Income Statement.  

 

 

98



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 17 

3. Summary of Accounting policies (continued) 

j. Leased Assets 

Finance leases are recognised in the Balance Sheet at the commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the 
lease’s inception (or the present value of the minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset recognised is matched by a 
liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between; a charge for the acquisition of 
the interest in the property, plant and equipment – applied to write down the lease liability, and a finance charge. 

Operating lease rentals are charged to income in equal annual amounts over the lease term.  

k. Inventory  

Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost or net realisable value.  Where the inventory is deemed 
to be obsolete the item is then written off.  The cost of inventories is assigned using the weighted average costing 
formula.   

l. Cash and Cash Equivalents  

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice of not 
more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in one month or less from the date of acquisition and 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 

m. Foreign currency 

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are reported at the rates of exchange prevailing 
at that date. 

n. Financial Instruments  

Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when ESPO becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a 
financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and are carried at their amortised cost. Annual charges to 
the Income Statement for interest payable are based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective 
rate of interest for the instrument. The effective rate of interest is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised. For most of the borrowings 
that ESPO has, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus 
accrued interest); and interest charged to the Income Statement is the amount payable for the year according to the loan 
agreement. 

ESPO possesses only one type of financial asset - loans and receivables. These are assets that have fixed or determinable 
payments but are not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are recognised on the Balance Sheet when 
ESPO becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Annual credits to the Income Statement for interest received are based 
on the carrying amount of the asset, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the loans 
that ESPO has, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable (plus 
accrued interest); and interest credited to the Income Statement is the amount receivable for the year in the loan 
agreement. Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past event that payments due 
under the contract will not be made, the asset is written down and a charge made to the Income Statement. The 
impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash 
flows discounted at the assets original interest rate. Any gains or losses that arise on the de-recognition of an asset are 
credited or debited to the Income Statement. 

o. Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs which are directly attributable to the construction of tangible fixed assets are capitalised as part of the 
cost of those assets.  Capitalisation begins when both finance costs and expenditures for the asset are being incurred 
and activities that are necessary to get the asset ready for use are in progress.  Capitalisation ceases when substantially 
all the activities that are necessary to get the asset ready for use are complete. 

 

99



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 18 

3. Summary of Accounting policies (continued) 

p. Taxation 

ESPO is a joint committee set up under Section 102 of the 1972 Local Government Act and is entitled to certain 
exemptions from Corporation Tax on any surplus or profit it generates.  

q. Dividends 

Distributions to ESPOs joint committee member authorities, i.e. dividends, are recognised in the Statement of Changes 
in Equity when they are paid. 

4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

In the application of the organisation’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, judgements are required 
(other than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to make estimates 
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
The items in the ESPO’s Balance Sheet at 31 March 2020 for which there is a significant risk of material adjustment in 
the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
The warehouse and offices premises at Grove Park are included at existing use value and are revalued regularly to 
ensure that the carrying amount is not materially different from their existing use value at the year end. Chartered 
Surveyors in the Property Services Division of Leicestershire County Council’s Resources Department carry out the 
valuation. The current property value used in the 2019/20 accounts is based on a certificate issued by the Council’s 
Principal Valuer as at 31 March 2020. 
 
The outbreak of COVID-19, declared by the World Health Organisation as a “Global Pandemic” on the 11th March 
2020, has and continues to impact many aspects of daily life and the global economy – with some real estate markets 
having experienced lower levels of transactional activity and liquidity. The pandemic and the measures taken to tackle 
COVID-19 continue to affect economies and real estate markets globally. Nevertheless, as at the valuation date property 
markets are mostly functioning again, with transaction volumes and other relevant evidence at levels where an adequate 
quantum of market evidence exists upon which to base opinions of value. 
 
Assets are assessed at each year end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where 
indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall. 
 
The current economic climate could present uncertainty as to whether the Consortium will be able to sustain its current 
spending on repairs and maintenance, bringing into doubt the useful lives assigned to assets. The carrying value of 
Property, Plant and Equipment at 31 March 2020 is £15.8m. 
 
Pension Liability 
 
Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex judgements relating to the discount rate 
used, the rate at which salaries are projected to increase, changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and expected returns 
on pension fund assets. An independent firm of consulting actuaries is engaged to provide the Consortium with expert 
advice about the assumptions to be applied, although ultimate responsibility for forming these assumptions remains 
with the Consortium. 
 

100



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 19 

4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

The carrying value of the Pension Liability as at 31 March 2020 is £16.6m. 
 
The effects on the net liability of changes in individual assumptions can be measured. For instance, a 0.5% decrease in 
the discount rate assumption would result in an increase in the pension liability of £5.2m. A one-year increase in member 
life expectancy compared with the assumption used would increase the liabilities by between £1.3m and £2.2m. 
However, the assumptions interact in complex ways. During 2019/20, the organisation’s actuaries advised that the net 
pension liability had decreased by £8.3m attributable to updating of the assumptions. 
 
The outbreak of COVID-19 has impacted global financial markets and as at the valuation date, less weight can be 
attached to previous market evidence to inform opinions of value. There is an unprecedented set of circumstances on 
which to base a judgement. Valuations are therefore reported on the basis of ‘material valuation uncertainty’. 
Consequently, less certainty and a higher degree of caution should be attached to the valuation. 
 
Debtors 
At 31 March 2020 ESPO had a balance of sales ledger debtors of £6.9m. A review of overdue debts has identified 
that impairment for doubtful debts of £0.1m was appropriate. However, there remains uncertainty over that estimate.  
 
If an additional 1% of customers become insolvent, the amount of the impairment for doubtful debts would require an 
additional £0.1m to be set aside as an allowance. 
 
Stock 
Stocks of catalogue products are held in anticipation of sales to customers and at 31 March 2020 gross stock of £7.4m 
was held. The catalogue is re-issued annually and products may be added or deleted creating a risk where stock in 
excess of 1 years worth of normal sales are held. In addition, there is a risk that products may become obsolete, perish 
or otherwise need to be discounted or on rare occasions disposed off. At 31 March 2020 the provision for the possible 
impairment of stock amounted to £0.8m. 

If an additional 1% of the stock holding was identified to be obsolete or otherwise need to be written off, then the 
resulting reduction in stock and write down would be £0.1m. 

 
Critical judgements in applying the accounting policies 
 
Management have not identified any critical judgements in applying the organisation’s accounting policies. 
 

101



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 20 

5.  Turnover and revenue 

An analysis of turnover by class of business is set out below. 

Turnover:  
2020 

£’000 
2019 

£’000 
Stock Orders  44,900 44,072 
Direct Orders   18,468 18,798 
Gas  15,536 15,684 
Rebate Income  7,912 7,450 
Catalogue Advertising  887 824 
Miscellaneous Income  189 114 
    

  87,892 86,942 
    

6. Senior Officers’ remuneration and transactions 

   2020 2019 
   £’000 £’000 
Senior Officers’ remuneration     
     
Aggregate Emoluments   402 373 
Pensions Contributions   100 90 
    

  502 463 
    

     
   Number Number
The number of senior officers who:     
Are members of a defined benefit pension scheme   5 5
   

  

     
 

 

 

7. Staff numbers and costs 

The average monthly number of employees (including senior officers) was: 

 2020 2019 
 Number Number 

   
Operations 156.3 160.4 
Purchasing 118.2 116.0 
Administration 43.6 41.4 
   

 318.0 317.8 
 

  

 

 

 

102



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 21 

7. Staff numbers and costs (Continued) 

Their aggregate remuneration comprised: 

 2020 2019 
 £’000 £’000 
   
Wages and salaries 8,821 8,312 
Social security costs 816 767 
Defined benefit pension scheme costs (see note 17) 3,404 3,445 
   

 13,041 12,524 

 
  

 

8. Operating Profit 

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting): 

 
  2020 2019 
  £’000 £’000 
    
Staff costs (see note 7)  11,530 10,791 
Audit fees payable to the organisation’s auditors   37 36 
Profit on disposal of tangible fixed assets  - (10) 
Impairment of Inventory   257 182 
  

  

 

9. Interest Receivable 

   2020 2019 
   £’000 £’000 
     
Bank interest   114 75 
   

  

 

10. Interest Payable 

   2020 2019 
   £’000 £’000 
     
Interest payable on long term loan   238 269 
Pension interest cost and expected return on pension assets   616 528 
Other interest payable   1 - 
     
   855 797 
   

  

     
     
 

 

 

103



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 22 

11.  Intangible fixed assets  

 
IT Software 

£’000 
Cost   
At 1 April 2019 740 
Additions 40 
Disposals  - 
  

At 31 March 2020 780 
  

Amortisation  
At 1 April 2019 731 
Charge for the year 23 
Impairment losses - 
Additions 3 
Disposals - 
  

At 31 March 2020 757 
  

Net book value  
At 31 March 2019 9 
  

At 31 March 2020 24 
  

104



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 23 

12. Tangible fixed assets 

 
Land & Buildings 

£000 

Vehicles, Plant & 
Equipment 

£000 
Total 
£000 

    
Cost     
At 1 April 2019 13,300 3,882 17,182 
Additions - 745 745 
Disposals - (486) (486) 
Revaluation 1,060 - 1,060 

 
 

   

At 31 March 2020 14,360 4,141 18,500 
 

   

Depreciation    
At 1 April 2019 - 2,789 2,789 
Charge for the year - 332 332 
Additions - 79 79 
Disposals - (486) (486) 
    

At 31 March 2020 - 2,714 2,714 
 

   

Net book value    
At 31 March 2019 13,300 1,094 14,393 
 

   

At 31 March 2020 14,360 1,427 15,787 
 

   

 

The historical cost of revalued land and buildings are £12,006,000 (2019: £12,006,000). 

  

105



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 24 

13. Stocks 

  

 
2020 

£’000 
2019 

£’000 

   
Stock goods for sale 6,652 6,487 
 

  

 6,652 6,487 
 

  

 
 
 

14. Debtors 
  

 
2020 

£’000 
2019 

£’000 
Amounts falling due within one year: 
   
Trade debtors 6,783 7,007 
Prepayments and accrued income 754 955 
Amounts due from related parties 526 397 
Other debtors 186 258 

 
  

 8,249 8,617 
 

  

 

15. Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 

  

 
2020 

£’000 
2019 

£’000 
   

Trade creditors 5,130 5,596 
Other taxation and social security 419 304 
Accruals and deferred income 2,944 3,181 
VAT payable 1,248 315 
Loans repayable within one year 500 500 
Other creditors 167 34 

   
 10,407 9,930 
   

 

  

106



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 25 

16. Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year 

  

 
2020 

£’000 
2019 

£’000 
   

Long Term Loan 5,000 5,500 
   
 5,000 5,500 
   

The long-term loan is an agreement with Leicestershire County Council, and relates to a loan for the Grove Park Land 
and Buildings, with the agreement to repay a capital amount of £500,000 each financial year as well as interest. 
Interest is charged at a fixed rate of 4.54%. 

17. Employee benefits 

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its employees, the organisation makes contributions towards the 
cost of post-employment benefits.  Although these benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, the 
organisation has a commitment to make the payments that need to be disclosed at the time that employees earn their 
future entitlement. 

The organisation participates in the Local Government pension scheme for employees, administered locally by the 
Servicing Authority, Leicestershire County Council.  This is a funded defined benefit final salary scheme, meaning that 
the organisation and its employees pay contribution into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pension 
liabilities with investment assets. 

The pension scheme is operated under regulatory framework for the LGPS and the governance of the scheme is the 
responsibility of the pension fund management board Leicestershire County Council.  The policy is determined in 
accordance with the Pension Fund Regulations. The investment managers of the fund are appointed by the board. 

The principle risks to the organisation of the scheme are the longevity assumptions, statutory changes to the scheme, 
structural changes to the scheme (i.e. large scale withdrawals from the scheme), changes to inflation, bond yields and 
the performance of the equity investments held by the scheme. These are mitigated to a certain extent by the statutory 
requirements to charge to the General Fund the amounts required by statute.  

The latest fund actuarial valuation at 31 March 2019 identified that the funds assets were sufficient to meet 
approximately 89% of the liabilities accrued up to that date. The pension costs that are charged to ESPO’s accounts in 
respect of these employees are equal to the contributions paid to the funded pension scheme. In addition, ESPO has 
made arrangements for the payment of added-years pensions to certain retired employees outside the provisions of the 
scheme, on an unfunded basis. In 2019/20, ESPO paid an employer’s contribution of £1,893k (2018/19: £1,712k), into 
the Pension Fund, representing an average 22.3% of total pensionable pay. In addition, ESPO is responsible for all 
pension payments relating to added-years benefits it has awarded, together with the related increases. In 2019/20 these 
amounted to £10k (2018/19 - £12k), representing 0.2% of pensionable pay.  

The IAS 19 balance sheet position as at 31 March 2020 is £16.6m (31 March 2019 – £24.8m). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

107



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 26 

17. Employee benefits (continued) 

Amounts recognised in the profit and loss account in respect of these defined benefit schemes are as follows: 

   
2020 

£’000 
2019 

£’000      

Current service cost   3,404 2,783 
Past service cost    - 662 
Net interest cost   616 528 

   
  

   4,020 3,973 
   

  

Recognised in other comprehensive income: 

 2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000 

Changes in financial assumptions 7,148 (4,594) 

Changes in demographic assumptions 1,770 - 

Other experience  4,288 - 

Return on assets excluding amounts included in net interest  (2,815) 713 

   
  

Total remeasurements recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 10,391 (3,881) 

   
  

 

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the organisation’s obligations in respect of its defined benefit 
schemes is as follows: 

   
2020 

£’000 
2019 

£’000      

Present value of defined benefit obligations   (43,314) (51,893) 
Fair value of scheme assets   26,739 27,054 
   

  

Net liability recognised in the balance sheet   (16,575) (24,839) 
   

  

The liability shows the underlying commitment that the organisation has in the long run to pay postemployment - 
retirement benefits. This total liability of £16.6m has a substantial impact on the net worth of the organisation as 
recorded in the Balance Sheet. However, statutory arrangements for funding the deficit will result in the deficit being 
made good by increased contributions by the employer, over the remaining working life of employees, as assessed by 
the actuary. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

108



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 27 

17. Employee benefits (continued) 

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows: 

   
2020 

£’000 
2019 

£’000      

At 1 April    51,893 42,618 
Service cost   3,404 3,445 
Interest cost   1,288 1,197 
Contributions from scheme participants   491 469 
Benefits paid   (556) (430) 
Changes in financial assumptions   (7,148) 4,594 
Changes in demographic assumptions   (1,770) - 
Other experience    (4,288) - 
   

  

At 31 March   43,314 51,893 
   

  

 

Movements in the fair value of scheme assets were as follows: 

   
2020 

£’000 
2019 

£’000      

At 1 April   27,054 23,921 
Interest income on plan assets   672 669 
Contributions from the employer  1,893 1,712 
Contributions from scheme participants  491 469 
Benefits paid  (556) (430) 
Return on assets (excluding amounts included in net interest)  (2,815) 713 
   

  

At 31 March   26,739 27,054 
   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

109



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 28 

17. Employee benefits (continued) 

The expected return on scheme assets is determined by considering the expected returns available on assets 
underlying the current investment policy. Expected yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption 
yields as at the Balance Sheet date. Expected returns on equity investments reflect long-term real rates of return 
experienced in the respective markets. The Local Government Pension Scheme assets comprised: 

     2020     2019 
 £’000 % of total £’000 % of total
Equity Securities    

Consumer 68 0% 69 0% 
Manufacturing 20 0% 20 0% 
Energy and Utilities 56 0% 57 0% 
Financial Institutions 85 0% 86 0% 
Health and Care 20 0% 20 0% 
Information technology 23 0% 23 0% 
Other 194 1% 196 1% 
     

Debt Securities     
UK Government 2,264 8% 2,291 8% 
Other 346 1% 350 1% 
     

Private Equity 1,233 5% 1,247 5% 
     
Real Estate     

UK Property 1,999 7% 2,022 7% 
     

Investment Funds and Unit Trusts     
Equities 10,739 40% 10,866 40% 
Bonds 1,130 4% 1,143 4% 
Hedge Funds 2 0% 2 0% 
Commodities 946 4% 957 4% 
Infrastructure 1,406 5% 1,423 5% 
Other 5,441 22% 5,505 22% 
     

Derivatives     
Foreign Exchange (34) 0% (34) 0% 
     

Cash and Cash Equivalents 801 3% 811 3% 
 

    

Total 26,739 100% 27,054 100% 
 

   

Basis for estimating assets and liabilities 

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, an estimate of the pensions 
that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels, etc.  The 
organisation’s pension fund liabilities have been assessed by Hymans Robertson LLP, an independent firm of actuaries. 
The principle assumptions used by the actuary have been: 

 

 

 

110



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 29 

17. Employee benefits (continued) 

    
   2020 2019 

Key assumptions used:     
Discount rate   2.3% 2.4% 
Pension Increase Rate (CPI)   1.8% 2.5% 
Salary Increase Rate   2.3% 3.5% 

Mortality assumptions: 

Life expectancy is based on the Fund’s VitaCurves in line with the CMI 2018 model. The figures below show the 
average future life expectancies at age 65, based on these assumptions.  

For future pensioners, figures assume members aged 45 as at the last formal valuation. 
    

   
2020

years
2019 

years 
Current Pensioners:     
  Males   21.5 22.1 
  Females   23.8 24.3 
Future Pensioners:     
  Males   22.2 23.8 
  Females   25.2 26.2 
 

The estimation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to actual assumptions set out in the table above. The 
sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the assumption occurring at 
the year end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that the assumption analysed changes while all other 
assumption remain constant. The assumption in longevity, for example, assume that life expectancy increases or 
decreases for men and women. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some assumptions may be 
interrelated. The estimations in the sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting policies for the scheme, on an 
actuarial basis, using the projected credit method. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the 
sensitivity analysis below did not change from those used in previous years.  

Sensitivities regarding the principle assumptions used to measure the scheme liabilities as at 31 March 2020 are: 

  

Approximate  
increase in 
Employer 

Liability

Approximate 
Monetary 

Amount 
£’000 

0.5% decrease in Discount Rate  12% 5,199 
0.5% increase in Salary Increases Rate  2% 710 
0.5% increase in the Pension Increase Rate  10% 4,435 
 
The impact of a change, either from increase to decrease or vice versa, would be as above but with the values being 
reversed. 

 

 

 

 

 

111



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 30 

17. Employee benefits (continued) 

Pension Fund Risk Management Strategy  

The Fund’s primary long-term risk is that the Fund’s assets will fall short of its liabilities (i.e. the promised benefits 
payable to members). Therefore, the aim of the investment risk management is to minimise the risk of an overall 
reduction in the value of the Fund and to maximise the opportunity for gains across the whole Fund portfolio. The 
fund achieves this through asset diversification to reduce exposure to market risk (price risk, currency risk and 
interest rate risk) and credit risk to an acceptable level. In addition, the Fund manages its liquidity risk to ensure that 
there is sufficient liquidity to meet the Fund’s required cash flows. These investment risks are managed as part of the 
overall Pension Fund Risk Management programme. Responsibility for the Fund’s risk management strategy rests 
with the Pension Fund Management Board and is monitored annually or more frequently if required.  

Impact on the organisation’s Cash Flows  

The objectives of the scheme are to keep employer’s contributions at a constant a rate as possible. The organisation 
has agreed a strategy with the scheme’s actuary to achieve a funding of 100% over the next 20 years. Funding levels 
are monitored on an annual basis. The last triennial valuation was completed on 31 March 2019. Increases in 
employer’s contribution rate that are required within the valuation will be phased in over a three year period 
commencing 1 April 2020. The contributions payable by ESPO will be 27.1% in 2020/21, 28.0% in 2021/22 and 
28.9% in 2022/23. The scheme will need to take account of the national changes to the scheme under the Public 
Pensions Services Act 2013, The Local Government Scheme in England and Wales and the other main existing public 
service schemes may not provide benefits in relation to service after 31 March 2014 (or service after 31 March 2015 
for the other main existing public service pension schemes in England and Wales). The act provides for scheme 
regulations to be made within a common framework, to establish new career average revalued earnings schemes to 
pay pensions and other benefits to certain public servants.  

The organisation anticipated to pay £2.0m expected contributions to the scheme in 2020/21 and of the weighted 
average duration of the defined benefit obligation for scheme members is 25 years. 

18. Subsequent events 

The consortium has concluded that Covid-19, of which the risks and uncertainties are discussed in the Strategic Report, 
is a non-adjusting event which does not require any adjustment to the financial statements for the year ended 31st March 
2020.  

19. Related party transactions 

Members 

Members of the Management Committee have a direct control over the ESPO financial and operating policies. No 
payments are made by ESPO to any members of the Management Committee. During 2019/20 no members had an 
interest in any work or services commissioned by ESPO. Contracts were entered into in full compliance with the 
organisation’s standing orders.  

Officers 

During 2019/20 no officers declared a pecuniary interest in any contractual or financial transactions.  

ESPO consortium members 

Sales 

ESPO provides goods and services to all consortium member authorities, including LEA schools. All transactions are 
at market value and in the normal course of trading. In 2019/20 these sales totalled £31,307k (2018/19: £31,747k). The 
breakdown by consortium member authority is as follows:  

 

 

112



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 31 

19. Related party transactions (continued) 

 

   
2020 

£’000 
2019 

£’000      

Cambridgeshire County Council   5,140 5,350 
Leicestershire County Council   5,007 5,007 
Lincolnshire County Council  5,852 6,092 
Norfolk County Council  7,868 7,795 
Peterborough City Council  2,046 2,399 
Warwickshire County Council  5,394 5,104 
   

  

Total   31,307 31,747 
   

  

Purchases 

Leicestershire County Council is the consortium member whom acts as the ‘servicing authority’ and as such provides 
services to ESPO in the form of various corporate services. All transactions occur at cost and are in the normal course 
of trading. During 2019/20 purchases from Leicestershire County Council were £1,599k (2018/19: £1,571k)  

 

Debtors and creditors 

 

 Debtors Creditors 

 
2020 

£’000 
2019 

£’000 
2020 

£’000 
2019 

£’000      

Cambridgeshire County Council 361 241 6 - 
Leicestershire County Council 267 254 129 305 
Lincolnshire County Council 550 586 - - 
Norfolk County Council 504 696 - - 
Peterborough City Council 85 13 - - 
Warwickshire County Council 341 306 - 6 
 

    

Total 2,109 2,096 135 311 
 

    

 

ESPO Trading Limited 

ESPO Trading Limited (ETL), and it’s subsidiary Eduzone Limited, are companies registered in England and Wales 
which are under common control – ETL is owned by the same consortium members as ESPO which are referred to 
above. ESPO sells goods and services to ETL and Eduzone at cost. These are summarised below:  

 

   
2020 

£’000 
2019 

£’000      

Sales   88 45 
Debtors  215 87 
Loan  311 310 
   

  

 

Interest on the loan accrues at 5% above LIBOR, is unsecured and is repayable on demand. 

113



[DRAFT] - Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

Page | 32 

 

20. Reconciliation of net movements in funds to net cash inflow from operating activities 

 

   
2020 

£’000 
2019 

£’000      

Operating profit for the financial year   4,707 3,714 
     
Adjustments for:     
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  411 417 
Amortisation of intangible assets  26 13 
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment  - (10) 
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability  1,511  1,721 
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables  368 (516) 
Decrease/(increase) in inventories  (165) (1,300) 
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables  477 (311) 
    
   

  

Net cash from operating activities   7,335 3,728 
   

  

 

114



 1 

Appendix 2  

           
Draft Annual Governance Statement 2019/20 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
 

The Consortium Treasurer is responsible for the preparation of the Consortium’s Statement of Accounts in accordance with proper 
accounting practices.  Historically, the Consortium has chosen to prepare its annual financial statements in accordance with the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice in Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the most recent version being 2018/19). 
 
However, ESPO, on its own, is not a Local Authority and therefore, has no requirement to account under the CIPFA Code of Practice. This 
gives ESPO a degree of flexibility. 

 
The 2019/20 financial statements for ESPO have been prepared under the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK (FRS102) 
using the UK GAAP Framework, as agreed by Management Committee in November 2019, and are still subject to audit.  However, the 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for 2019/20 has been prepared following the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice in Local Authority 
Accounting. 

 
ESPO is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is 
safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively.  ESPO also has a duty under the Local 
Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having 
regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 
 
In discharging this overall responsibility, ESPO is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs and 
facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, which includes arrangements for the management of risk.  The AGS encompasses the 
governance system that applied in both ESPO and any significant group entities (e.g. ESPO Trading Limited (ETL), Eduzone) during the 
financial year being reported. 

 
ESPO has approved and adopted a code of corporate governance as best practice, which is consistent with the principles of “Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government Framework” (CIPFA/Solace, 2016).   This statement explains how ESPO has complied with the code 
and also meets the requirements of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, regulation 6 (1a and 1b) which requires all relevant 
bodies to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control and prepare an annual governance statement.  
In anticipation of the potential disruption to relevant authorities caused by the spread of coronavirus (COVID -19), The Accounts and Audit 
(Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 amended the 2015 Regulations to extend the deadlines for relevant organisations to publish 
and make available for public inspection, their annual accounts and supporting documents in relation to the financial year beginning on 1st 
April 2019. The draft AGS 2019/20 will be published in September 2020. 

 

115



 2 

 
2. WHAT IS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE? 

 
Corporate Governance is defined as how organisations ensure that they are doing the right things, in the right way, for the right people in a 
timely, inclusive, open, honest and accountable manner. The Organisation’s governance framework comprises the systems and processes, 
cultures and values by which the Organisation is directed and controlled. It enables the Organisation to monitor the achievement of its 
strategic objectives and to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate services and value for money. 
The CIPFA/SOLACE ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (the Framework)’, sets the standard for local authority 
governance in the UK.  
 
The Framework helps local government in taking responsibility for developing and shaping an informed approach to governance, aimed at 
achieving the highest standards in a measured and proportionate way. The Framework is intended to assist authorities individually in 
reviewing and accounting for their own unique approach.  
 
The overall aim is to ensure that: 
 
• resources are directed in accordance with agreed policy and according to priorities 
• there is sound and inclusive decision making 
• there is clear accountability for the use of those resources in order to achieve desired outcomes for service users and communities. 

 
3.  WHAT THE AGS TELLS YOU 

 
The AGS provides a summarised account of how the Organisation’s management arrangements are set up to meet the principles of good 
governance and how we obtain assurance that these are both effective and appropriate. It is written to provide the reader with a clear, simple 
assessment of how the governance framework has operated over the past financial year and to identify any developments required. The 
main aim of the AGS is to provide the reader with confidence that the Organisation has an effective system of internal control that manages 
risks to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
 
The revised CIPFA/SOLACE Framework requires Organisations to review arrangements against their Local Code of Corporate Governance 
to ensure it is consistent with the seven core principles of the Framework. 
 
• The principles contained in the Framework have been applied to the preparation of the AGS for the financial year 2019/20. 
• The 2019/20 AGS has been constructed by undertaking: - 
• A review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control 
• Reviewing other forms of assurance 
• Reviewing the Organisations response to (and planned recovery from) the COVID-19 virus 
 
 
 
 
 

116



 3 

4. REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS OF THE SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL 
 
There is a statutory requirement in England, for organisations to ensure that they have a sound system of internal control which: -  
 

(a) facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and the achievement of its aims and objectives; 
(b) ensures that the financial and operational management of the organisation is effective; and 
(c) includes effective arrangements for the management of risk. 
 

The organisation must (each financial year): -  
 

(a) conduct a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control, and, 
(b) prepare an annual governance statement; 

  
ESPO has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of 
internal control.  The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of the senior managers and Leadership Team within ESPO who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the governance environment. 
 
To ensure the 2019/20 AGS presents an accurate picture of governance arrangements for the whole organisation, each Assistant Director 
and the Director was required to complete a ‘self-assessment’, which provided details of the measures in place within their Service /Division 
to ensure conformance (or otherwise) with the seven core principles of the Framework.   
 
The self-assessments contained a set of conformance statements under each core principle, which required a corresponding score of 1, 2 or 
3 to be recorded (1=good, 2= Some weaknesses/areas for improvement, 3= Key weaknesses/many areas for improvement), based on the 
criteria – Refer to the Appendix. 
 
 

5. OTHER FORMS OF ASSURANCE 
 

Local Code of Corporate Governance 
 
The Director has a duty to monitor and review the operation of the Code of Corporate Governance and as part of this process the Director 
ensures an annual assessment of the Organisation’s compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance is undertaken.  The local code was 
last formally reviewed in 2017 and will be formally reviewed again in the financial year 2020-2021. 
 

 Internal Audit Service  

During the financial year 2019-2020 Leicestershire County Council Internal Audit Service (LCCIAS) provided internal audit service to ESPO.  

LCCIAS conducts its work in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the PSIAS). The requirements of the PSIAS are 
contained in the Internal Audit Charter for ESPO mandating the purpose, authority and responsibility of the internal audit activity. Following 

117



 4 

an independent assessment, in April 2018, LCCIAS was judged to be generally conforming (the highest rating) to the PSIAS. As part of his 
Annual Report requirements for 2019-20 the Head of Internal Audit Service (HoIAS) conducted a self-assessment of LCCIAS’ conformance 
to the PSIAS. The self-assessment identified that current practices continue to generally conform to the PSIAS. Whilst, a few areas have 
been identified where action is needed these are not considered significant deviations to the PSIAS. 

To meet a PSIAS requirement to form an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of ESPO’s control environment i.e. its 
framework of governance, risk management and control, the HoIAS constructs an annual risk-based plan of audits. Given the continuing 
improvements in risk management at ESPO, the plan is primarily based on the contents of the Corporate Risk Register, the four-year 
Strategy and the AGS, to ensure that current and emerging risks are adequately covered. Parts of the plan relate to audits of the key 
financial and ICT systems and the reports are reviewed by the External Auditor when planning and conducting their audit of the financial 
statements. A contingency is retained for unforeseen risks, special projects and investigations.   

Internal audit reports often contain recommendations for improvements to the area being audited.  The number, type and importance of 
recommendations affects how the auditor reaches an opinion on the level of assurance that can be given that controls are both suitably 
designed and are being consistently applied, and that material risks are unlikely to arise.  The combined sum of individual audit opinions and 
other assurances gained throughout the year (e.g. attendance at Committees, evaluations of the work of other assurance providers, 
meetings with the Consortium Secretary and Consortium Treasurer), facilitate the HoIAS in forming the annual internal audit opinion on the 
overall control environment.   

The HoIAS presents a detailed annual report to the Management Committee in June. The annual report incorporates the annual internal 
audit opinion; a summary of the work that supports the opinion; performance against the plan, a statement on conformance with the PSIAS, 
a review of the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme and any matters to be raised in the AGS. 

For 2019-2020 based on an objective assessment of the results of individual audits undertaken, actions by management thereafter, and the 
professional judgement of the HoIAS in evaluating other related activities, the HoIAS concluded: - 
 

HoIAS opinion 
 
Prior to the onset of the coronavirus, ESPO’s control environment was in a steady state. The build-up and immediate impact 
of the virus was significant, adverse in nature and unique in character. However, no significant governance, risk 
management internal control failings have come to the HoIAS’ attention therefore substantial assurance is given that ESPO’s 
control environment overall has remained adequate and effective. 
 
In order to assist the HoIAS’ opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of ESPO’s control environment, sample checking of the returns and 
supporting evidence was conducted.   This included: 
 

 Discussion on how the self-assessment was conducted, co-ordinated, discussed and signed; 

 Selecting areas across the range of the seven core principles to test if there was sufficient evidence to support the response; 

 Appropriate officers are involved in the identification and determination of any significant governance issues that require 
incorporation in the Annual Governance Statement prior to its presentation to the Management Committee. 

 

118



 5 

 

Risk management arrangements 

Governance of Risk 

ESPO’s Code of Corporate Governance sets out a requirement to ensure that an effective risk management system is in place.  In order for 
risk management to be most effective and become an enabling tool, ESPO must ensure a robust, consistent, communicated and formalised 
process is established.  The Risk Management Policy and Strategy (RMP&S) is reviewed regularly and approved by the Management 
Committee.  The RMP&S will be reviewed in-line with the yearly MTFS review, which is to be taken to the Finance & Audit Subcommittee in 
February 2021.  In addition, ESPO’s risk strategy will be subject to an annual review.  Risk management processes have been further 
entrenched into the management of the organisation with each member of the management team being responsible for reviewing changes in 
risk on a quarterly basis within their area of responsibility. 

External Audit  

ESPO’s 2018/19 external audit was undertaken by PwC.  The 2019/20 external audit will be undertaken by Grant Thornton.  The selection of 
Grant Thornton was done independently of ESPO’s management team and an evaluation was undertaken with partner authorities and Grant 
Thornton were approved by Management Committee in November 2019. 

ESPO’s external auditors gave detailed findings from their 2018/19 audit work of ESPO, to those charged with governance through: 

A report to those charged with Governance: 

Under International Auditing Standards, external auditors are required to report to those charged with governance on the significant findings 
from their audit before giving their audit opinion, the purpose of which is to highlight any significant matters.  The 2018/19 report concluded 
that no significant audit and accounting issues were identified and that there were no material deficiencies in internal control, leading to an 
overall unqualified opinion.  

Audit opinion for the 2018/19 Statement of Accounts: 

The audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Statement of Accounts sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the Statement of Accounts is free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.  For 2018/19, ESPO’s 
Statement of Accounts presented a true and fair view, in accordance with the relevant codes and regulation.  

ESPO’s Constitution includes Standing Financial Instructions, Contract Procedure Rules and Schemes of Delegation.  These translate into 
key operational internal controls such as: control of access to systems, offices and assets; segregation of duties; reconciliation of records and 
accounts; decisions and transactions authorised by nominated officers; and production of suitable financial and operational management 
information.  These controls demonstrate governance structures in place throughout the Organisation which contribute to the production of 
the Annual Statement of Accounts and positive opinion presented by our external auditors.   

119



 6 

Organisational Governance and Performance Framework 

The Leadership Team and Management Committee receive a monthly Balanced Scorecard, which includes information relating to:  
 

 Financial Information; 

 Information issues;  

 Procurement; 

 Employee related information;  
 

The Role of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) at ESPO this is the Consortium Treasurer 

CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) in Local Government (revised 2016) sets out five principles that define 
the core activities and behaviours that belong to the role of the CFO and the governance requirements needed to support them.  

The CFO (Consortium Treasurer) is able to bring influence to bear on all material business decisions, ensuring that immediate and long term 
implications, opportunities and risks, are fully considered and in alignment with the MTFS and other corporate strategies. The CFO is aware 
of, and committed to, the five key principles that underpin the role of the CFO and has completed an assurance statement that provides 
evidence against core activities which strengthen governance and financial management at ESPO.   

 
The Role of the Head of Internal Audit  
 

CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit in Public Service Organisations (revised April 2019) sets out five principles that 
define the core activities and behaviours that belong to the role of the head of internal audit and the organisational requirements needed to 
support them.  The Head of the Internal Audit Service for ESPO is also the Head of the Internal Audit Service for LCC. 

ESPO’s internal audit arrangements conform to the governance requirements of the CIPFA Statement.  The HoIAS works with the 
Consortium Treasurer and Consortium Secretary, the Director of ESPO and other members of the Leadership Team to give advice and 
promote good governance throughout the organisation.  The HoIAS attends the Finance and Audit Subcommittee and the Management 
Committee as and when required. The HoIAS also leads and directs the Internal Audit Service so that it makes a full contribution to and 
meets the needs of the Organisation and external stakeholders, escalating any concerns and giving assurance on ESPO’s control 
environment.   

 
The Role of the Consortium Secretary 
 
The Consortium Secretary has responsibility for: 
• ensuring that decisions taken comply with all necessary statutory requirements and are lawful.   
• ensuring that decisions taken are in accordance with ESPO’s budget and its Policy Framework 
• providing advice on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions 
 
Where in the opinion of the Consortium Secretary any decision or proposal is likely to be unlawful and lead to maladministration, he/she shall 
advise the Management Committee accordingly in discharging this role the Consortium Secretary is supported by officers within the County 
Council’s Legal and Democratic Services Teams. 

120



 7 

 
Commercial Arrangements 

 
ESPO Trading Ltd: ESPO’s power to trade is restricted to a limited number of public bodies and this market is shrinking. The establishment of 
a trading company allows ESPO (Trading) to trade with other organisations which are in the spirit of public bodies but not described as such in 
the 1970 Act – e.g. Housing Associations, Charities and Voluntary Organisations. The Trading is governed under the Companies Act 2006, its 
Articles of Association and Shareholder Agreement. 
 
On 4th March 2020 following a review of the governance arrangements of ESPO Trading Limited and having regard to legal advice from 
external solicitors, Anthony Collins, the Management Committee agreed to streamline governance arrangements. The new arrangements 
still ensure that the Management Committee receives regular financial and business information to allow its oversight of ESPO Trading Limited’s 
contribution to ESPO’s wider business objectives.  
 
Eduzone was a private limited company that supplied Early Years educational products and Early Years furniture to schools, nurseries and 
child minders. ESPO acquired the company following the necessary due diligence in 2018. Eduzone has now been incorporated into ESPO 
Trading Limited.  
 
6. THE ORGANISATIONS RESPONSE TO THE CORONAVIRUS (COVID-19) 
 
Towards the end of 2019/20, a global pandemic was declared in connection with the COVID-19 virus. Emergency responses were triggered, 
and lockdown measures were introduced in the UK from 23 March 2020. 
 
ESPO’S planning for COVID-19 began in early February. Business continuity plans were implemented across the organisation. 
 
COVID-19 is already having a significant adverse effect on the economy.  Recognising the significant uncertainty, it is estimated that ESPO will 
face a significant financial gap in the current financial year. These financial implications will possibly continue beyond the current financial year 
adding to the financial gap identified in the Medium-Term Financial Strategy. ESPO is taking a number of measures to ensure the impact on the 
financial position is minimised where possible in the immediate crisis period and medium-term recovery. 
 
ESPO Management Committee had previously agreed to conduct certain meetings virtually and had set out a protocol for decision making in 
such circumstances. This placed ESPO in a good position when, as a result of the Coronavirus, attended meetings ceased. ESPO’s previously 
scheduled meetings were able to continue and regulations made under the Coronavirus Act (2020) allowed the Committee to take decisions as 
it would have in attended meetings. Where necessary all meetings were live-streamed and as such were fully compliant with the Coronavirus 
Regulations and enabled the maintenance of good governance, principles of openness and accountability.  
  
The constitutional arrangements allowed for urgent decisions to be taken by the Consortium Secretary in consultation with the Chairman.  As 
stated above with the exception of the urgent decision taken regarding furlough all other decisions were taken by the appropriate bodies using 
virtual meetings.  Briefings of the Constituent Authorities by the Director and the Senior Leadership Team also continued using virtual meetings.  
 
Demands on IT systems and staff have been considerable, and most office-based staff will continue to work from home for the foreseeable 
future.  Regular COVID-19 senior manager briefings continue to be provided as well as health and wellbeing support across the organisation, 

121



 8 

informed by an organisation wide survey. Work has also been carried out relating to returning to the workplace (recovery) and PPE staff risk 
assessments. 
 
The organisation never stopped delivering its services during the national lockdown period.  In order to achieve this the organisation had to 
introduce a host of new working practices or adjustments to existing practices, such as:- 
 

 A zonal-picking protocol in the warehouse to keep picking staff in specific areas to avoid compromising social distancing guidelines. 

 Warehouse shifts have been modified to end 15 minutes earlier to avoid congestion in corridors and locker rooms during shift 
changeover. 

 Drivers are issued with full PPE and hand sanitiser and are not requesting customer signatures when making deliveries. 

 Covid-19 specific risk assessments, covering home working and working from site, were disseminated to all members of staff.  Staff 
then had individual conversations with managers and confirmation emails/signature obtained from staff.  These risk assessments 
utilised LCC Corporate Health and Safety templates and guidance and were made specific to ESPO’s operations. 

 Building occupancy calculations were completed, based on Covid-19 social distancing rules, to understand how many staff could 
return to on-site work. 

 
Recovery from COVID-19 disruption centres on the return to work of furloughed staff and the auditing of the organisations premises to be 
COVID-19 compliant.  A Covid-19 return-to-site induction template has been created (one for offices, one for warehouse due to different roles) 
and this induction template will be used to reiterate the key COVID-19 workplace rules to returning staff.  Service plans have also been 
produced by each head of service at ESPO.  The organisation’s financial recovery is detailed in a 10 year Long-Term Financial Strategy (LTFS) 
that will be presented for approval this autumn.   
 
Some areas in the county urban conurbations surrounding the city of Leicester were made subject to an extended period of local restrictions by 
regulations[1] which came into force on 4th July to be reviewed on 18th July. The restrictions are capable of enduring for a period of 6 months 
subject to review by the Secretary of state every 14 days. The restrictions affect businesses to require closure, limit the right of residents to stay 
away from home and limit gatherings. The restrictions will delay the recovery process in the affected areas.  Similar local restrictions could be 
applied to other parts of the country at any time, with little of no notice, and the business needs to remain flexible and vigilant in order to be able 
to continue to deliver service to such affected areas. 
 

 
7.GOVERNANCE ISSUES 

 
A senior Management Group comprising the following officers: 
 

Leicestershire County Council (The Servicing Authority) 
 

 Director of Law and Governance (on behalf of the ESPO Secretary) 
 Assistant Director - Strategic Finance & Property (on behalf of the Consortium Treasurer) 
 Head of Democratic Services 

                                            
[1]

 The Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (Leicester) Regulations 2020 

122



 9 

 Head of Internal Audit and Assurance Service 
 

    ESPO 
 

 Director of ESPO 
 Assistant Director (Finance) 

 
reviewed the draft AGS and determined that there were some areas for improvement, which can be found in the Appendix.  There is one 
significant governance issue identified during 2019/2020, which is the risk of ESPO not achieving its financial budget surplus as a result of the 
COVID-19 crisis. 
 
This review of effectiveness has been informed by both Internal and External Audit and the conclusion of the review is that ESPO’s overall 
financial management and corporate governance arrangements during 2019/2020 were sound.   

 
Progress on issues previously identified: 
 
The table below describes the governance issues identified during 2018/19 and the progress made against this during 2019/20. These are 
not considered material governance issues: 

Key Improvement Area Update on position Carry forward for 
2020/21 

Lead Officer  

Business Continuity. 
Improvement in communication to 
members of staff. Implementation of 
training and scenario rehearsal in 2019/20. 
 

 
Training Completed in 
2019/20 

 
Not Applicable 

 
Not Applicable 

 
 
Whilst the review of effectiveness concluded ESPO’s overall financial management and corporate governance arrangements during 2019/2020 
are sound, the assurance gathering process identified key minor corporate areas of improvement, please see Appendix.  Implementing actions to 
address these will ensure that identified weaknesses within ESPO’s current control environment will be strengthened, and further enhance our 
overall governance arrangements.   
 
During the review period 2019/20 the only significant issue identified was the risk to the achievement of the budgeted surplus in the 
financial year 2020/21 as a result of the COVID-19 crisis. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

123



 10 

8. FUTURE CHALLENGES 
 
ESPO continues to face significant challenges in these times.  All such significant risks are detailed within the Corporate Risk Register, which is 
regularly reviewed by the Leadership Team and presented to the Management Committee.  Managing these risks adequately will be an integral 
part of both the strategic and operational planning for ESPO. 

 
As ESPO continues to trade and grow in complex and competitive market places there are a number of future governance challenges to 
consider: 

 
 Worsening national finances, as a result of COVID-19, are likely to have a negative impact on public spending which could result in a 

reduced demand for ESPO’s products from its core customers. 
 

 Future challenges from changing customer product buying patterns.  For example, some schools moving to “electronic classrooms” where 
paper exercise books are replaced with electronic devices. 
 

 The uncertainty around Brexit could impact the import and export of goods.  Furthermore, the ending of “Freedom of Movement” will 
reduce the available supply of EU labour. 
 

 Legislation as it develops will also be crucial in the future basis of public procurement, IR35 employment legislation or indeed the 
embedding of GDPR.  
 

 Further issues for consideration will be to achieve the right mix of governance between ESPO the consortium and ESPO Trading Ltd, the 
former being a local government committee and the latter a private trading company with a board and shareholders.  
 

 ESPO will want to consider its workforce and the ability to ensure recruitment and retention is well managed and supports the need of a 
growing organisation without compromising its standards.   
 

 Covid -19 and impact on business.  ESPO’s Leadership Team, using guidelines and best practice from the Leicestershire County Council 
(LCC) recovery team, have produced a health & safety document specifically on the Covid-19 risk.  The ESPO building has been signed-
off as being Covid secure. 
 

 Cyber Risks.  This is covered under the IT section of the Corporate Risk Register. 
 
 

 
9. CERTIFICATION 

 
We have been advised on the implications of the result of the review of the effectiveness of the governance framework by the above, and that 
the arrangements continue to be regarded as fit for purpose in accordance with the governance framework.  The areas already addressed 
and those to be specifically addressed with new actions planned are outlined above. 
 
 

124



 11 

We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the above matters to further enhance our governance arrangements.  We are 
satisfied that these steps will address the need for improvements that were identified in our review of effectiveness and will monitor their 
implementation and operation as part of our next annual review. 
 
Furthermore, having considered all the principles of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption, we are 
satisfied that ESPO has adopted a response that is appropriate for its fraud and corruption risks and commits to maintain its vigilance to 
tackle fraud. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
    K. Smith      Cllr. P Butlin 
    Director of ESPO     Chairman, ESPO Management Committee  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

125



 12 

Appendix  

AREAS FOR FURTHER DEVELOPMENT IN 2020-21 
 

The AGS self-assessments contained a set of conformance statements under each core principle and related sub-principles as outlined in the 
CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016), which required a corresponding score of 1, 2 or 3 to be 
recorded, The outcome of the review of the self-assessments is summarised in the table below. 
  
Annual Review of the Effectiveness of the Council’s Governance Framework against the CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government: Framework (2016) 

Core Principles of the Framework Action to Develop Areas Further 

Principle A: 
Behaving with integrity, demonstrating 
strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of 
law 

• Review the operation of the code of conduct/ethical standards for suppliers. 

• Development of professional training for procurement teams which addresses ethical 
issues. 

• Elected members are subject to a code of conduct; the code is being reviewed and a 
new code is expected. The members will require training on the code when introduced. 

• The LCC employee code of conduct is being reviewed, employees need to be informed 
and the principles embedded. 

Principle B: 
Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement 
 

• Ensure that, as the organisation develops, senior job descriptions remain current (i.e. for 
Heads of Service and ADs). 

• Engagement with customers: consult with customers to understand what they value 
about the organisation and what they expect from the organisation in the future. 

Principle C. 
Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, 
and environmental benefit 

• Define a target, and an accompanying strategy, to reduce carbon emissions. 

Principle D. 
Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended outcomes 
 

• Use of owner authorities to do assurance reports on major investment decisions, thus 
providing decision makers with further objective analysis to support decision making. 

Principle E. 
Developing the entity’s capacity including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals within it 
 

• Consider the use of executive coaching/mentoring to maintain development of the 
organisation’s leaders. 

• Providing advice to staff, and communicating effectively with them, in order to support 
remote working. 

• The LCC people strategy is being refreshed and the changes need to be brought to 
employees’ attention. 

• Undertake a review the organisation’s approach to attendance management and 
wellbeing. 

 

126



 13 

 

127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 15 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 

PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR 

 

Purpose of Report  
 

1. To report on the proposed changes to the Contract Procedure Rules for 
procurement as is required. 

 
Background 
 

2. Rule 8 (Annual Reporting) of ESPO’s Contract Procedure Rules stipulates 
that the Director of ESPO, in consultation with the Director of Law and 
Governance, shall at least once in each financial year submit a report to the 
Management Committee in relation to the operation of these Rules.   
 

3. Officers of Leicestershire County Council and ESPO work together on an 
annual basis to review the Contract Procedure Rules and agree on any draft 
changes to be proposed for approval. 
 

4. ESPO reported at the Management Committee on 23rd June 2021 that there 
had been no exceptions to the Rules between 1st July 2018 and 31st May 
2021.  For the same period a number of extensions by exception were 
presented of the supporting documents at the meeting.   
 

5. At the same Committee meeting it was reported that Changes to the ESPO 
Contract Procedure Rules were not proposed at that time.  However, 
proposals to make changes were anticipated over the course of the next year 
to reflect: 
 
(i) changes in UK procurement law when the anticipated Procurement Bill 

is enacted, possibly in late 2021 or early 2022 and 
 

(ii) proposed changes to Leicestershire County Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules that were being considered by its Corporate 
Governance Committee, together with other changes to those Rules 
made by Leicestershire County Council.   

 

Proposed Revisions to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules 

6. The proposed changes referred to in (i) above were approved by full Council 
of Leicestershire County Council’ on 7th July 2021. 
 

7. As a result, proposed revisions to ESPO’s Contract Procedure Rules are 
presented in Appendix A. 

129 Agenda Item 7



2 
 

8. These revisions have been reviewed and are supported by ESPO’s Assistant 
Director: Procurement and Commercial, Head of Procurement and 
Compliance and Commercial Solicitor. 
 

9. A copy of the proposed Contract Procedure Rules effective from 1st October 
2021 is set out at Appendix B to this Report. 
 

10. Should the Management Committee approve the draft revised Contract 
Procedure Rules they will be published on ESPO’s intranet and internet sites 
and communicated to all relevant managers and staff within ESPO, including 
via newsletters and other appropriate communication channels. 

 

Recommendations  

It is recommended that the Management Committee approve the proposed amendments to 
the Contract Procedure Rules detailed at Appendix A and therefore the proposed Contract 
Procedure Rules Appendix B. 

 
Equal and Human Rights Implications 
 
The Rules ensure that all suppliers and potential suppliers receive equal treatment when 
bidding for contracts. 
 
Background Papers 
None. 

 
Officer to Contact  
Kristian Smith, Director, ESPO 
0116 265 7878 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A: 
 
Table of proposed amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules from 
1st October 2021 
 
Appendix B: 
 
Copy of the proposed Contract Procedure Rules from 1st October 2021 
 

130



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

ESPO Current Provisions  

CPRs 1 July 2019 

ESPO Proposed Amendments 

CPRs Effective from 1 October 2021 

ESPO is the trading name of a joint committee of local authorities, the county councils of 

Leicestershire, Lincolnshire, Cambridgeshire, Norfolk, Warwickshire, and the city council of 

Peterborough (the “member authorities”) established under the Local Government Act 1972 

(section 101 (5) and section 102) and section 9EB of the Local Government Act 2000.  

Through Leicestershire County Council and in accordance with an agreement between the 

member authorities (the “Consortium Agreement”) the joint committee procures services 

and goods which it supplies to member authorities and other contracting authorities, as 

defined in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, using powers to trade under the Local 

Authorities (Goods & Services) Act 1970 and powers to make a charge to recover its costs 

under section 3 of the Localism Act 2011 and section 93 of the Local Government Act 2000. 

Separately, a private company, ESPO Trading Limited, has been granted a licence to use the 

trading name “ESPO”.  However, ESPO Trading Limited will not be operated under the 

Consortium Agreement, but in accordance with its own constitution. It will be a separate 

legal person, distinct from the joint committee and its member authorities. 

These Contract Procedure Rules apply in the circumstances described in Rule 4; however, 

they do not apply to ESPO Trading Limited, its procurement or other activities. 

No Change 

GENERAL 

RULE 1 

Compliance 

a)  Officers must comply with these Rules.  Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action. 

b) If a decision doesn’t fall within Appendix 4 to Schedule 1: Functions of, and Delegations to 

the Director of ESPO, he can escalate the decision to Chief Officers Group or Management 

Committee. 

c) Sale of council assets are not part of these rules.  They are covered by Rule 25 Purchasing 

and income collections and Rule 26 Inventories and assets of the Financial Procedure 

Rules (Part 4F) Leicestershire County Council’s Constitution. 

 

 

Proposed Change RULE 1 

Compliance 

(a)  Officers must comply with these Rules.  Failure to do so may result in disciplinary 
action. 

(b)  If a decision does not fall within Appendix 4 to Schedule 1: Functions of, and 
Delegations to the Director of ESPO, the decision can be escalated to the Director 
of ESPO, the decision can be escalated to the Chief Officers Group or Management 

Committee 

(c) Sale of council assets are not part of these rules.  They are covered by Rule 25 

Purchasing and income collections and Rule 26 Inventories and assets of the 

Financial Procedure Rules (Part 4F), Leicestershire County Council’s Constitution. 

 

131



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

RULE 2 

Delegation 

The Director of ESPO may delegate his responsibilities under these Rules in accordance with 

Rule 6 of Section D (General scheme of delegation to heads of departments) of Part 3 

(Responsibility for Functions) of the Servicing Authority’s Constitution. 

RULE 2 No Change 

RULE 3 

Interpretation 

Words and expressions used in these Rules are to be interpreted in accordance with the 

provisions of Schedule 1. 

RULE 3 No Change 

RULE 4 

Application 

These Rules apply to the procurement of every Contract made by Leicestershire County 

Council, trading as ESPO (“ESPO”) on behalf of the management committee or Director of 

ESPO, and every Contract procured on behalf of and made by an ESPO Client EXCEPT 

Contracts: 

(i) for only the acquisition or disposal of any interest in land; 

(ii) for the lending or borrowing of money; 

(iii) of employment (making an individual a direct employee of ESPO); or 

(iv)  procured on behalf of and made by an ESPO Client that has agreed that the 

procurement of the Contract shall be conducted in accordance with its own contract 

procedure rules. 

 

Proposed Change RULE 4 

Application 

These Rules apply to the procurement of every Contract made by Leicestershire County 

Council, trading as ESPO (“ESPO”) on behalf of the management committee or Director of 

ESPO, and every Contract procured on behalf of and made by an ESPO Client EXCEPT 

Contracts: 

(i) for only the acquisition or disposal of any interest in land; 

(ii) for the lending or borrowing of money; 

(iii) of employment (making an individual a direct employee of ESPO); or 

(iv)  procured on behalf of and made by an ESPO Client that has agreed that the 

procurement of the Contract shall be conducted in accordance with its own contract 

procedure rules. 

(v)   for financial services in connection with the issue, sale, purchase or transfer of 

securities or other financial instruments within the meaning of Directive 2004/39/EC of 

the European Parliament 

 

PROCUREMENT PRINCIPLES 

RULE 5 

General Requirements 

(a)   Every Contract or official order for works, supplies or services made by ESPO shall be in 

RULE 5 No Change 

132



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

accordance with ESPO's Business Strategy and duty of Best Value. 

(b)   When proposing to procure or making arrangements for procuring a service contract 
where the Estimated Value is equal to or greater than the EU Threshold then 
consideration must be given as to how the Contract might improve the economic, social 

where the Estimated Value is equal to or greater than the EU Threshold then 
consideration must be given as to how the Contract might improve the economic, social 

and environmental wellbeing of the relevant area as required by the Public Services 
(Social value) Act 2012.   

(c)   Where the services are Light-Touch Services the threshold for Contracts for public supply 

or services Contracts applies for the purposes of the Social Value Act, being the sum 
specified in Regulation 5 (1) (d) of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  

(d) Procedures set out in the relevant EU Directives, EU Treaties, Acts of Parliament and UK 

legislation (including for the avoidance of doubt the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, 

the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016, and where applicable the Public Contracts 

Regulations 2006) must be complied with at all times. 

(e) Based on criteria laid down by the Director of Corporate Resources, the Director of ESPO 

will be responsible for evaluating the financial status of Tenderers and suppliers. 

(f) The Procuring Officer/ESPO Client must ensure that sufficient budget provision has been 

agreed with the budget holder prior to any Procurement Exercise being undertaken. 

(g) Procurement Exercises should usually be undertaken by electronic means provided that: 

 (i) the requirements of these Rules are followed with only such modifications as may 

be necessary to allow for procurement by such means; and 

(ii) any electronic tendering system has been approved by the Director of ESPO. 

(h) Subject to the provisions of Rule 28 (b) Contracts shall not be longer than 5 years 

(including extensions) in duration or of indeterminate length without the prior written 

approval of the Director of ESPO on advice of the appropriate Procurement Service 

Manager.  Any such approval shall be sought prior to the commencement of the 

Procurement Exercise. 

 RULE 6 

Exceptions 

(a) Subject to the requirements of EU Directives, EU Treaties, Acts of Parliament and the 

Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016, the 

following Contracts may be placed by direct negotiation with one or more suppliers, 

Contracts:- 

(i) for supplies, materials, services or works which are available only as proprietary 

Proposed Change RULE 6  

Exceptions 

(a) Subject to the requirements of EU Directives, EU Treaties, Acts of Parliament and the 

Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016, the 

following Contracts may be placed by direct negotiation with one or more suppliers, 

Contracts:- 

(i) for supplies, materials, services or works which are available only as proprietary 

133



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

and/or patented articles, services or works from one contractor or supplier and for 

which the Director of ESPO, on the advice of the appropriate Procurement Service 

Manager, decides that there is no reasonably satisfactory alternative available in 

the European Union and for repairs to, or the supply of, parts of existing 

proprietary or patented articles or works including machinery or plant;  a note of 

that decision and the reasons for it must be retained on the appropriate file and 

where the Contract is equal to or exceeds £181,302, a copy of the note and 

reasons must be provided to the Director of Corporate Resources and the Director 

of Law and Governance. 

(ii) for works of art, museum specimens or historical documents; 

(iii) which constitute a variation or extension of an existing Contract, as permitted by 

the Contract and/or ESPO’s Standard Financial Instructions subject to the 

provisions of Rule 30 (Contract Modifications and Extensions) and Rule 31 

(Novation of Existing Contracts); 

In the above circumstances, the Procuring Officer must retain on file a record of the 

negotiations surrounding the Contract awards and notify the Director of ESPO. 

(b) Other exceptions to these Rules may only be made within the relevant law and with the 

authority:- 

(i) of the Director of ESPO, in consultation with the relevant Procurement Service 

Manager where the Estimated Value of the proposed Contract is under £181,302.  

The Director of ESPO shall maintain a record specifying the reason for all such 

departures; or 

(ii) of the ESPO Management Committee where it is satisfied that an exception is 

justified on its merits. In an urgent case the Director of ESPO in consultation with 

the Chairman or Deputy Chairman of the ESPO Management Committee (save 

where this is not practicable) may direct that an exception be made subject to 

this being reported to the next meeting of the ESPO Management Committee. 

 (c)  In all cases under Rule 6 a full record of the reasons for the exceptions shall be    

maintained and the Director of ESPO notified.  

 

and/or patented articles, services or works from one contractor or supplier and 

for which the Director of ESPO, on the advice of the appropriate Procurement 

Service Manager, decides that there is no reasonably satisfactory alternative 

available in the European Union and for repairs to, or the supply of, parts of 

existing proprietary or patented articles or works including machinery or plant;  

a note of that decision and the reasons for it must be retained on the appropriate 

file and where the Contract is equal to or exceeds £189,330, a copy of the note 

and reasons must be provided to the Director of Corporate Resources and the 

Director of Law and Governance. 

(ii) for works of art, museum specimens or historical documents; 

(iii) which constitute a variation or extension of an existing Contract, as permitted by 

the Contract and/or ESPO’s Standard Financial Instructions subject to the 

provisions of Rule 30 (Contract Modifications and Extensions) and Rule 31 

(Novation of Existing Contracts); 

In the above circumstances, the Procuring Officer must retain on file a record of the 

negotiations surrounding the Contract awards and notify the Director of ESPO. 

(b) Other exceptions to these Rules may only be made within the relevant law and with the 

authority:- 

(i) of the Director of ESPO, in consultation with the relevant Procurement Service 

Manager where the Estimated Value of the proposed Contract is under £189,330.  

The Director of ESPO shall maintain a record specifying the reason for all such 

departures; or 

(ii) of the ESPO Management Committee where it is satisfied that an exception is 

justified on its merits. In an urgent case the Director of ESPO in consultation 

with the Chairman or Deputy Chairman of the ESPO Management Committee 

(save where this is not practicable) may direct that an exception be made 

subject to this being reported to the next meeting of the ESPO Management 

Committee. 

 (c)  In all cases under Rule 6 a full record of the reasons for the exceptions shall be    

maintained and the Director of ESPO notified.  

 

134



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

RULE 7 

Financial Thresholds and Delegation 

(a) Financial limits and thresholds within these Rules may be varied from time to time by 

the Servicing Authority’s Corporate Governance Committee. 

(b) Arrangements for delegation of functions to officers within these Rules may be varied 

from time to time by the Chief Executive. 

 

RULE 7 No Change 

RULE 8 

Annual Reporting 

The Director of ESPO in consultation with the Director of Law and Governance  shall at 

least once in each financial year submit a report to the ESPO Management Committee in 

relation to the operation of these Rules including among other things details of the 

approved exceptions to these Rules and approved extensions to Contract where not 

provided for in the Contract, and proposed revisions to these Rules and/or changes 

required to accommodate the requirements of UK and EU procurement law as may be 

necessary from time to time. 

RULE 8 No Change 

RULE 9 

Prevention of Corruption / Conflict of Interest 

(a) The Employee Code of Conduct (Part 5b of the Servicing Authority’s Constitution) 

applies to any Procurement Exercise. 

(b) The following clause, or a clause that is substantially similar, will be included as a 

standard term and condition in every written Contract in accordance with Rule 25(c): 

"ESPO/ [ESPO Client] may terminate this Contract and recover all its loss from the 

Contractor if the Contractor, its employees or anyone acting on the Contractor's behalf 

do any of the following things: 

(i) offer, give or agree to give to anyone any personal inducement or reward in 

respect of this or any other ESPO/[ESPO Client] Contract (even if the Contractor 

does not know what has been done); or 

(ii) commit an offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or give any fee or reward, the 

receipt of which is an offence under Section 117(2) of the Local Government Act 

1972; or 

(iii) commit any fraud in connection with this or any other ESPO/ESPO Client Contract 

Proposed Change RULE 9  

Prevention of Corruption / Conflict of Interest 

(a) The Employee Code of Conduct (Part 5b of the Servicing Authority’s Constitution) 

applies to any Procurement Exercise. 

(b) The following clause, or a clause that is substantially similar, will be included as a 

standard term and condition in every written Contract in accordance with Rule 25(c): 

"ESPO/ [ESPO Client] may terminate this Contract and recover all its loss from the 

Contractor if the Contractor, its employees or anyone acting on the Contractor's behalf 

do any of the following things: 

(i) offer, give or agree to give to anyone any personal inducement or reward in 

respect of this or any other ESPO/[ESPO Client] Contract (even if the Contractor 

does not know what has been done); or 

(ii) commit an offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or give any fee or reward, the 

receipt of which is an offence under Section 117(2) of the Local Government Act 

1972; or 

(iii) commit any fraud in connection with this or any other ESPO/ESPO Client 

135



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

whether alone or in conjunction with contractors or employees. 

Any clause limiting the Contractor's liability shall not apply to this clause". 

(c) ESPO’s Supplier Code of Conduct 2018 applies to any Procurement Exercise. 

Rule 9 A 

Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015  

Where appropriate, the Contract shall make appropriate provision for information sharing 

between the Contractor and ESPO,  in line with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 

and the Data Protection Act 2018, and/or such other measures as are appropriate, such as staff 

training, to support the Servicing Authority in meeting its duty under section 26 of the Counter-

Terrorism and Security Act 2015 to have due regard to the need to prevent people from being 

drawn into terrorism.   

Contract whether alone or in conjunction with contractors or employees. 

Any clause limiting the Contractor's liability shall not apply to this clause". 

(c) ESPO’s Supplier Code of Conduct applies to any Procurement Exercise. 

RULE 9A No Change 

PROCUREMENT EXERCISE 

RULE 10 

Pre-Estimate 

(a) Before any Procurement Exercise is begun the Procuring Officer must calculate its 

Estimated Value in accordance with this Rule.  The estimated value for the Procurement 

must not be subdivided for the purpose of reducing the total value of the contract for 

multiple procurements. 

(b) The Estimated Value shall be calculated as follows: 

(i) Where the Contract period is fixed the Estimated Value shall be the total 

estimated maximum value of the supplies, services or works to be supplied over 

the period covered including any extensions to the Contract; 

(ii) Where the Contract period is indeterminate the Estimated Value shall be 

calculated by multiplying the estimated average monthly value by 48; 

(iii) For feasibility studies the Estimated Value shall be the value of the scheme or 

Contracts which may be awarded as a result; 

(iv) For Concession Contracts the Estimated Value shall be the estimated financial 

value to the supplier that shall be made over the duration of the Contract, net of 

value added tax; 

 (v) The Estimated Value must exclude Value Added Tax (VAT) but must include all 

other taxes and duties. 

(vi) Periodic purchases for the same requirement, whether that is from the same or 

Proposed Change RULE 10 

 Pre-Estimate 

(a) Before any Procurement Exercise is begun the Procuring Officer must calculate its 

Estimated Value in accordance with this Rule.  The estimated value for the Procurement 

must not be subdivided for the purpose of reducing the total value of the contract for 

multiple procurements. 

(b) The Estimated Value shall be calculated as follows: 

(i) Where the Contract period is fixed the Estimated Value shall be the total 

estimated maximum value of the supplies, services or works to be supplied over 

the period covered including any extensions to the Contract; 

(ii) Where the Contract period is indeterminate the Estimated Value shall be 

calculated by multiplying the estimated average monthly value by 48; 

(iii) For feasibility studies the Estimated Value shall include the value of the study 

and any subsequent contracts which may be awarded to the same supplier as a 

result, where this is known; 

(iv) For Concession Contracts the Estimated Value shall be the estimated financial 

value to the supplier that shall be made over the duration of the Contract, net of 

value added tax. 

(v) The Estimated Value must exclude Value Added Tax (VAT) but must include all 

other taxes and duties. 

(vi) Periodic purchases for the same requirement, whether that is from the same or 

136



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

different suppliers, must be aggregated over a minimum of a 12 month period. 

(vii) Where ESPO / ESPO Clients contribute to the total value of a Contract, it is the 

total Estimated Value that should be applied in determining the correct 

procedures to be applied under these Rules. 

(c) Where there is any doubt as to the Estimated Value then the procedure for the higher 

threshold in Rule 11 must be used. 

different suppliers, must be aggregated over a minimum of a 12 month period. 

(vii) Where ESPO / ESPO Clients contribute to the total value of a Contract, it is the 

total Estimated Value that should be applied in determining the correct 

procedures to be applied under these Rules. 

(c) Where there is any doubt as to the Estimated Value then the procedure for the higher 

threshold in Rule 11 must be used. 

 

RULE 11 

Procurement Exercise Process 

(a) Based on the Estimated Value, as identified in Rule 10, Table 1 below makes provision 

for the minimum requirements for the subsequent Procurement Exercise.  

Table 1: Minimum requirements for a Procurement Exercise (for exceptions see Rule 6) 

Estimated Contract 

Value  Procurement 

Process 

Minimum Contract 

Opportunity 

Publication 

Documentation 

From (£) Up to (£) 

£0 £,5,000 

Obtain a minimum of 

one oral/written 

Quotation 

None Record details 

Above 

£5,000 
£25,000 

Obtain three written 

Quotations  

(where practical) 

When inviting 

quotations officers 

should consider the 

benefits of including a 

local supplier in the 

invitation to quote 

where appropriate or 

applicable to the 

Contract1. 

Record details.  (If 

three Quotations 

cannot be obtained a 

record of the reasons 

for this must be 

maintained and 

forwarded to the 

appropriate 

Procurement Service 

Manager). 

 

Above 

£25,000 

Up to but not 

including 

£181,302, 

Seek written 

Quotations  

(to be based on a 

Request for Quotation 

document where 

practical) 

For exceptions see 

Rule 6 (b) 

Contracts Finder and 

on a website approved 

by the Director of 

ESPO for the purpose 

of notifying the supply 

market. 

Request for Quotation 

issued by the Procuring 

Officer and Quotations 

received. 

Proposed Change RULE 11 

Procurement Exercise Process 

(a) Based on the Estimated Value, as identified in Rule 10, Table 1 below makes 

provision for the minimum requirements for the subsequent Procurement Exercise.  

(b) Details of oral Quotations must be confirmed in writing. 

(c)        These are total contract spend estimates equalling total contract value over the term of the 
contract. 

 

Table 1: Minimum requirements for a Procurement Exercise (for exceptions see Rule 6) 

Estimated Contract 

Value  Procurement 

Process 

Minimum Contract 

Opportunity 

Publication 

Documentation 

From (£) Up to (£) 

£0 £,5,000 

Obtain a minimum of 

one oral/written 

Quotation 

None Record details 

137



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

Equal to or 

Above 

£181,302 

To the 

relevant EU 

Threshold 

Formal Tender Process 

OJEU where required, 

Contracts Finder and 

on a website approved 

by the Director of 

ESPO for the purpose 

of notifying the supply 

market 

Formal Tender and 

sealed bids maybe 

submitted via an 

electronic tendering 

system, see Rule 5 (g) 

(ii)  

Relevant 

EU 

Threshold 

Above Formal Tender Process 

OJEU required, 

Contracts Finder and 

on a website approved 

by the Director of 

ESPO for the purpose 

of notifying the supply 

market 

Formal Tender and 

sealed bids may be 

submitted via an 

electronic tendering 

system, see Rule 5 (g) 

(ii) 

(b) Details of oral Quotations must be recorded in writing. 

Above 

£5,000 
£25,000 

Seek to obtain a 

minimum of three 

written Quotations  

 

When inviting 

quotations officers 

should consider the 

benefits of including a 

local supplier in the 

invitation to quote 

where appropriate or 

applicable to the 

Contract1. 

Record details.  (If 

three Quotations 

cannot be obtained a 

record of the reasons 

for this must be agreed 

in consultation with the 

appropriate 

Procurement Service 

Manager). 

 

 

Above 

£25,000 

Up to but not 

including 

£189,330 

Seek written 

Quotations  

(to be based on a 

Request for Quotation 

document where 

practical) 

For exceptions see 

Rule 6 (b) 

Contracts Finder and 

on a website approved 

by the Director of 

ESPO for the purpose 

of notifying the supply 

market. 

Request for Quotation 

issued by the Procuring 

Officer and Quotations 

received. 

Equal to or 

Above 

£189,330 

To the 

relevant EU 

Threshold 

Formal Tender Process 

The UK e-notification 

service where required, 

Contracts Finder and 

on a website approved 

by the Director of 

ESPO for the purpose 

of notifying the supply 

market 

Formal Tender and 

sealed bids should be 

submitted via an 

electronic tendering 

system, see Rule 5 (g) 

(ii)  

Relevant 

EU 

Threshold 

Above Formal Tender Process 

The UK e-notification 

service required, 

Contracts Finder and 

on a website approved 

by the Director of 

ESPO for the purpose 

of notifying the supply 

market 

Formal Tender and 

sealed bids should be 

submitted via an 

electronic tendering 

system, see Rule 5 (g) 

(ii) 

 

138



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

RULE 12 

Suitability Assessment and Award Evaluation Criteria 

(a) ESPO shall not include a pre-qualification questionnaire stage where the value of the 

procurement is below the EU Threshold set out in Reg 5 (1) (c) of the Public Contracts 

Regulations 2015. Below the EU Threshold only Suitability Assessment Questions may 

be asked. A standard form of Suitability Assessment Questions must be used.  

(b) In a Procurement Exercise with an Estimated Value equal to or greater than the EU 

Threshold both selection and award criteria must be included.  A Standard Selection 

Questionnaire or the European Single Procurement Document must be used for the 

selection criteria;  

 (c) Selection criteria must be included in the evaluation process where applying the Open 

Tendering procedure (Rule 15) or must be the only criteria used for the shortlisting 

methodology where applying the Restricted procedure (Rule 16). 

RULE 12 No Change 

 

 

RULE 13 

Award Methodology and Evaluation Criteria 

(a) The award criteria shall be based on the most economically advantageous Tender from 

ESPO’s point of view.  That Tender shall be identified on the basis or price or cost, using 

a cost-effectiveness approach, such as Life Cycle Costing and may include the best 

price-quality ratio which shall be assessed on the basis of the criteria, such as 

qualitative, environmental and/or social aspects or any other criteria linked to the 

subject-matter of the Contract in question.  

 (b) Before a Contract can be awarded following an Open Tender procedure the supplier 

must meet the minimum standard for the selection criteria included in the evaluation 

process.  

(c) In the case of a Procurement Exercise with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more the 

process for identifying the most economically advantageous Tender, including selection 

and award criteria, must be agreed in consultation with the appropriate Procurement 

Service Manager/ESPO Client and included in the RFQ/Invitation to Tender and a copy 

retained on file.   

 (d) The Procuring Officer must notify all Tenderers of the award methodology and evaluation 

criteria and any sub-criteria being used in the case of the Contract in question. If 

weightings are to be applied to the criteria and any sub-criteria then the Procuring 

Officer must ensure that these are also incorporated into the Invitation to Tender. 

 

RULE 13 No Change 

139



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

RULE 14 

Contract Opportunity Publication 

(a) Unless otherwise agreed by the Director of ESPO the Procuring Officer must ensure, for 

all Procurement Exercises with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more but less than the 

relevant EU Threshold, that public notice is given on a website approved by the Director 

of ESPO for the purpose of notifying the supply market. 

(b) All Procurement Exercises within the Estimated Value of £25,000 or more must be 

advertised on Contracts Finder within 24 hours of the time when the Procurement 

Exercise is advertised in any other way.  Procurement Exercises over the relevant EU 

Threshold must be advertised in the OJEU and on Contracts Finder.  

(c) For all proposed Contracts which are advertised where the Estimated Value is below the 

EU Threshold, a period of at least ten working days should be allowed between the date 

when an Invitation to Tender becomes available to all bidders and either: 

 (i)  the deadline for receipt of Tenders where an Open Tendering procedure is being 

used; or  

 (ii) the deadline for receipt of the Standard Selection Questionnaire, or the European 

Single Procurement Document, where a Restricted Tendering procedure is being used.   

(d) The Contract Opportunity Publication must express the nature and purpose of the 

Procurement Exercise, stating where further details may be obtained, how and to whom 

an interested supplier is to respond and any other requirements such as suitability 

requirements or explanatory information.   

(e) If the Estimated Value exceeds the relevant EU Threshold the Procuring Officer must 

ensure that the Contract Opportunity Publication is first published in the OJEU and then 

on a website approved by the Director of ESPO for the purpose of notifying the supply 

market and in Contracts Finder.  

(f) A Procurement Exercise that is equal to or more than the EU Threshold for Light-Touch 

Services must be procured in compliance with Chapter 3, Section 7 of the Public 

Contracts Regulations 2015.  

(g) Only in exceptional circumstances should a Contract Opportunity Publication appear in 

ANY form before publication in the OJEU and neither should any advertisement contain 

any more information than that published in the OJEU. 

(h) The advertising requirements set out in this Rule 14 are minimum requirements and do 

not preclude further Contract Opportunity Publication where appropriate (e.g. in the 

local newspaper, trade or professional journal, the ESPO website). 

Proposed Change RULE 14 

Contract Opportunity Publication 

(a) Unless otherwise agreed by the Director of ESPO the Procuring Officer must ensure, for 

all Procurement Exercises with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more but less than 

the relevant EU Threshold, that public notice is given on a website approved by the 

Director of ESPO for the purpose of notifying the supply market. 

(b) All Procurement Exercises within the Estimated Value of £25,000 or more must be 

advertised on Contracts Finder within 24 hours of the time when the Procurement 

Exercise is advertised in any other way.  Procurement Exercises over the relevant EU 

Threshold must be advertised on the UK e-notification service known as Find a Tender 

Service (FTS) and on Contracts Finder.  

(c) For all proposed Contracts which are advertised where the Estimated Value is below the 

EU Threshold, a period of at least ten working days should be allowed between the date 

when an Invitation to Tender becomes available to all bidders and either: 

 (i)  the deadline for receipt of Tenders where an Open Tendering procedure is being 

used; or  

 (ii) the deadline for receipt of the Standard Selection Questionnaire, or the European 

Single Procurement Document, where a Restricted Tendering procedure is being used.   

(d)  The Contract Opportunity Publication must express the nature and purpose of the       

Procurement Exercise, stating where further details may be obtained, how and to whom 

an interested supplier is to respond and any other requirements such as suitability 

requirements or explanatory information.   

(e) If the Estimated Value exceeds the relevant EU Threshold the Procuring Officer must 

ensure that the Contract Opportunity Publication is first published on the UK e-

notification service known as Find a Tender Service (FTS) and then on a website 

approved by the Director of ESPO for the purpose of notifying the supply market and in 

Contracts Finder.  

(f) A Procurement Exercise that is equal to or more than the EU Threshold for Light-Touch 

Services must be procured in compliance with Chapter 3, Section 7 of the Public 

Contracts Regulations 2015.  

(g) Where a contract opportunity is equal to or greater than the EU Threshold a Contract 

Opportunity Publication should not appear in any form before publication on the UK e-

notification service and neither should any advertisement contain any more information 

than that published on the UK e-notification service known as Find a Tender Service 

(FTS). 

140



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

  (h) The advertising requirements set out in this Rule 14 are minimum requirements and do 

not preclude further Contract Opportunity Publication where appropriate (e.g. in the local 

newspaper, trade or professional journal, the ESPO website). 

PROCUREMENT PROCESS 

RULE 15 

Open Tendering 

Under Open Tendering, the Procuring Officer must send Invitations to Tender to all those 

Persons who respond to the Contract Opportunity Publication and who meet the requirements 

stated therein. 

 

Proposed Change RULE 15 

Open Tendering 

Under Open Tendering, the Procuring Officer must send Invitations to Tender to all those 

Persons who respond to the Contract Opportunity Publication and who meet the 

requirements stated therein.  Where the opportunity has been advertised via the electronic 

tendering system the Invitation to Tenders and all supporting documents must be made 

available in the system for all interested parties to access subject to confidentiality 

agreement where applicable. 

 

 RULE 16 

Restricted Tendering 

 (a) Subject to Rule 16 (b), this Rule applies to Tenders where the Estimated Value is equal 

to or exceeds the EU Threshold. 

(b) Where the services being tendered are Light-Touch Services the Procuring Officer may 

choose to use this Restricted Tendering procedure but is not required to.  

(c) Under Restricted Tendering, the Procuring Officer need only send Invitations to Tender 

to: 

(i) not less than five of the Persons who respond to the Contract Opportunity 

Publication and who best meet the shortlisting methodology agreed in Rule 12(c); 

or 

(ii) where fewer than five Persons have applied or are considered suitable, to all 

those Persons who equal or exceed the minimum requirements for the shortlisting 

methodology agreed in Rule 12(c). 

(d)  The shortlisting criteria and process must be prepared (in consultation with any ESPO 

Client) in advance of the issue of the Standard Selection Questionnaire or the European 

Single Procurement Document and a copy retained on file. 

(e) All Persons that do not qualify for inclusion on the shortlist to receive an Invitation to 

Tender must receive notice that they have been excluded from the Procurement 

Exercise.  Any Person requesting in writing the reasons why they were unsuccessful 

shall be informed by the Procuring Officer of the reasons for ESPO/ESPO Client decision. 

RULE 16 No Change 

141



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

 RULE 17 

Negotiated Procedure, Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, Competitive Dialogue 

Procedure and Innovation Partnership Procedure  

The Negotiated Procedure, Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, Competitive Dialogue 

Procedure and Innovation Partnership Procedure must only be used with the prior approval of 

the Director of Law and Governance and the Director of Corporate Resources. 

RULE 17A 

Concession Contracts 

Procuring Officers must only establish Concession Contracts with prior consultation of the 

Director of Law and Governance and with the prior approval of the Director of Corporate 

Resources in the case of above the EU threshold. 

[Note: A short briefing note for the approval of the Director of Corporate Resources, in 

consultation with the Director of Law and Governance, is required to justify: the use of the 

Negotiated Procedure, Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, Competitive Dialogue Procedure, 

Innovation Partnership Procedure or the procurement of a Concession Contract.] 

Proposed Change RULE 17 

Negotiated Procedure, Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, Competitive Dialogue 

Procedure and Innovation Partnership Procedure  

The Negotiated Procedure, Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, Competitive Dialogue 

Procedure and Innovation Partnership Procedure must only be used with the prior approval of 

the Director of Law and Governance and the Director of Corporate Resources. Competitive 

Procedure with Negotiation or Competitive Dialogue can only be used when criteria under PCR 

Reg. 26(4) are met.  

RULE 17A 

Concession Contracts 

Procuring Officers must only establish Concession Contracts with prior consultation of the 

Director of Law and Governance and with the prior approval of the Director of Corporate 

Resources in the case of above the EU threshold. 

[Note: A short briefing note for the approval of the Director of Corporate Resources, in 
consultation with the Director of Law and Governance, is required to justify: the use of the 

Negotiated Procedure, Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, Competitive Dialogue 
Procedure, Innovation Partnership Procedure or the procurement of a Concession Contract.] 

RULE 18 

Invitations to Tender 

(a) Every Invitation to Tender must specify the latest day and hour and the place appointed 

for the receipt of Tenders and must state the effect of Rule 19. 

(b) Procuring Officers must give all Tenderers the same information about the Procurement 

Exercise and in particular information relating to the tender process, specification, award 

methodology and evaluation criteria.   

c) Procuring Officers must also give all Tenderers the same information relating to 

questions, answers and clarifications raised during the Procurement Exercise unless they 

relate solely to another Person’s Tender. 

(d) All Procurement Exercises equal to or greater than £25,000 shall be handled via an 

Electronic Tendering System. Only in exceptional cases may a Procurement Exercise be 

undertaken not using an Electronic Tendering System.  Paper Tenders must be 

submitted to, addressed to and opened by the Director of ESPO.  

 (e) Where Tenders are to be received by the Director of ESPO, the Procuring Officer must 

send to the Director of ESPO a note of the subject and the closing date and time and 

(where appropriate) a list of the Persons invited to tender together with the Estimated 

Proposed Change RULE 18 

Invitations to Tender 

(a) Every Invitation to Tender must specify the latest day and hour and the place 

appointed for the receipt of Tenders and must state the effect of Rule 19. 

(b) Procuring Officers must give all Tenderers the same information about the Procurement 

Exercise and in particular information relating to the tender process, specification, 

award methodology and evaluation criteria and the terms and conditions of the 

Contract or Framework agreement.    

c) Procuring Officers must also give all Tenderers the same information relating to 

questions, answers and clarifications raised during the Procurement Exercise unless 

they relate solely to another Person’s Tender. 

(d) All Procurement Exercises equal to or greater than £25,000 shall be handled via an 

Electronic Tendering System where possible.  Only in exceptional cases may a 

Procurement Exercise be undertaken not using an Electronic Tendering System.  Paper 

Tenders must be submitted to, addressed to and opened by the Director of ESPO.  

(e) Where an Electronic Tendering System is not available and paper Tenders are to be 

received by the Director of ESPO, the Procuring Officer must send to the Director of ESPO a 
note of the subject and the closing date and time and (where appropriate) a list of the Persons 

142



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

Value before the closing date for receipt of Tenders. invited to tender together with the Estimated Value before the closing date for receipt of 

Tenders. 

RULE 19 

Irregular Tenders 

(a) An Irregular Tender must not be accepted by either the Director of ESPO or the 

Procuring Officer, other than in accordance with this Rule. 

(b) A Tender is not valid unless it has been either submitted via an Electronic Tendering 

System or in the case paper tenders delivered to the place appointed in accordance with 

Rule 18 and not later than the appointed day and hour. 

(c) Tenders other than E-Tenders where the Estimated Value is equal to or greater than 

£181,302 are not valid unless they are received in a plain sealed envelope or parcel 

addressed to the Director of ESPO.  The envelope or package must bear the word 

“Tender” followed by the subject to which it relates.  

(d) E-Tenders must be submitted in accordance with the requirements of the Electronic 

Tendering System used.  

(e) Where a Tender has been received which is an Irregular Tender in that it does not fully 

comply with the instructions given in the Invitation to Tender and/or because it is 

received after the appointed time for receipt or does not comply with Rules 19(b) or 

19(c), the provisions of Rules 19(f) and 19(g) apply. 

(f) A Tender other than an E-Tender which is received after the closing date and time can 

be opened and evaluated in accordance with Rule 20 if there is clear evidence of it 

having:- 

(i)  been posted by first class post at least a day before the closing date; OR 

(ii) been posted by second class post at least three days before the closing date; OR 

(iii) been placed in the custody of a courier who has provided written assurance of 

delivery prior to the closing date and time. 

(g) If in other cases of Irregular Tenders the Director of ESPO, in consultation with the 

Director of Law and Governance, considers that there are exceptional circumstances and 

that the Tenderer who submitted the Irregular Tender has gained no advantage from its 

irregularity he or she may determine to accept the Irregular Tender and authorise that it 

Proposed Change RULE 19  

Irregular Tenders 

(a) An Irregular Tender must not be accepted by either the Director of ESPO or the 

Procuring Officer, other than in accordance with this Rule. 

(b) A Tender is not valid unless it has been either submitted via an Electronic Tendering 

System or in the case paper tenders delivered to the place appointed in accordance 

with Rule 18 and not later than the appointed day and hour. 

(c) Tenders other than E-Tenders where the Estimated Value is equal to or greater than 

£189,330 are not valid unless they are received in a plain sealed envelope or parcel 

addressed to the Director of ESPO.  The envelope or package must bear the word 

“Tender” followed by the subject to which it relates.  

(d) E-Tenders must be submitted in accordance with the requirements of the Electronic 

Tendering System used.  

(e) Where a Tender has been received which is an Irregular Tender in that it does not fully 

comply with the instructions given in the Invitation to Tender and/or because it is 

received after the appointed time for receipt or does not comply with Rules 19(b) or 

19(c), the provisions of Rules 19(f) and 19(g) apply. 

(f) A Tender other than an E-Tender which is received after the closing date and time can 

be opened and evaluated in accordance with Rule 20 if there is clear evidence of it 

having:- 

(i)  been posted by first class post at least a day before the closing date; OR 

(ii) been posted by second class post at least three days before the closing date; OR 

(iii) been placed in the custody of a courier who has provided written assurance of 

delivery prior to the closing date and time. 

(g) If in other cases of Irregular Tenders the Director of ESPO, in consultation with the 

Director of Law and Governance, considers that there are exceptional circumstances 

and that the Tenderer who submitted the Irregular Tender has gained no advantage 

from its irregularity he or she may determine to accept the Irregular Tender and 

143



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

be opened and evaluated together with any other Tenders in accordance with Rule 20.  

The Director of ESPO shall record in writing the reasons why each Irregular Tender has 

been accepted or rejected. 

(h) Irregular Tenders that the Director of ESPO has rejected under this Rule must be 

returned to the Tenderer by the Director of ESPO with a covering letter stating the 

reason for their rejection. 

 

authorise that it be opened and evaluated together with any other Tenders in 

accordance with Rule 20.  The Director of ESPO shall record in writing the reasons why 

each Irregular Tender has been accepted or rejected. 

(h) Irregular Tenders that the Director of ESPO has rejected under this Rule must be 

returned to the Tenderer by the Director of ESPO with a covering letter stating the 

reason for their rejection. 

 

RULE 20 

Receipt and Opening of Tenders 

(a) Rule 20 (b) to (f) apply only to Tenders where the Estimated Value is equal to or greater 

than £181,302 and the Tender is not an E-Tender. Rule 20 (g) applies to E-Tenders 

only.   

(b) On receipt, envelopes containing Tenders must be date and time stamped by the 

Director of ESPO and shall remain in his custody until they are opened.   

(c)  The Director of ESPO must keep a record of all Tenders received. 

(d) Tenders must be opened at one time in the presence of not less than two Officers one of 

whom is not involved in the Procurement Exercise and who is designated by the Director 

of ESPO.  Each Officer must initial each Tender once opened which must also be date 

stamped. 

(e) Particulars of all Tenders opened must be entered by the Director of ESPO upon the 

record which must be signed by the Officers present at the opening, together with a 

note of all irregular Tenders. 

(f) The Director of ESPO must forthwith send a copy of the record to the appropriate 

Procuring Officer (with the Tenders) and must retain a copy himself. 

(g) E-Tenders must be opened in accordance with the requirements of the Electronic 

Tendering System used.  

Proposed Change RULE 20 

Receipt and Opening of Tenders 

(a) Rule 20 (b) to (f) apply only to Tenders where the Estimated Value is equal to or 

greater than £189,330 and the Tender is not an E-Tender. Rule 20 (g) applies to E-

Tenders only.   

(b) On receipt of non-electronic Tenders envelopes containing the Tenders must be date 

and time stamped by the Director of ESPO and shall remain in his custody until they 

are opened.   

(c)  The Director of ESPO must keep a record of all non-electronic Tenders received. 

(d) Tenders must be opened at one time in the presence of not less than two Officers one 

of whom is not involved in the Procurement Exercise and who is designated by the 

Director of ESPO.  Each Officer must initial each Tender once opened which must also 

be date stamped. 

(e) Particulars of all Tenders opened must be entered by the Director of ESPO upon the 

record which must be signed by the Officers present at the opening, together with a 

note of all irregular Tenders. 

(f) The Director of ESPO must forthwith send a copy of the record to the appropriate 

Procuring Officer (with the Tenders) and must retain a copy himself. 

(g) E-Tenders must be opened in accordance with the requirements of the Electronic 

Tendering System used. 

RULE 21 

Errors or Discrepancies in Tenders 

(a) Tenderers are not allowed to alter their Tenders after opening save in accordance with 

this Rule or Rule 22. 

(b)  Where it is suspected that there has been an error in a Tender and following the closing 

RULE 21 No Change 

 

144



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

date for receipt of Tenders but before acceptance of any Tender discussions may take 

place with Tenderers in order to: 

 

(i) ensure that the Tender is constructed correctly; or 

 

(ii) ensure that the Tenderer has fully understood the specification; or 

 

(iii) seek clarification from Tenderers of cost, quality and performance indicators. 

 

(c) A written note of the discussions must be made by the Procuring Officer to record the 

suspected error, date, time, detail of the discussion and any agreement reached. 

RULE 22 

Discussions and Post Tender Negotiations 

(a) In the case where the Estimated Value was below the EU Threshold, the Procuring 

Officer in consultation with the appropriate Procurement Service Manager may carry out 

Post Tender Negotiations with the Tenderer submitting the most competitive Tender in 

an attempt to secure improvements in the price or economic advantage in one or more 

of the following circumstances: 

(i) where the most competitive Tender (according to the pre-determined award 

methodology and evaluation criteria) submitted exceeds the Estimated Value; 

(ii) where it is considered that the price of the most competitive Tender submitted 

does not represent the Best Value for money that can reasonably be obtained; 

(iii) where Tenders have been invited only on the basis of unit prices or a schedule of 

rates and the lowest in aggregate is not the lowest on all items; 

(iv) where the most competitive Tender contains conditions, trading terms, 

guarantees, or provisions relating to performance or service delivery less 

favourable than in other Tenders, or than stipulated for and this defect appears 

capable of being remedied by Post Tender Negotiations. 

 (b) When conducting Post Tender Negotiations, the following additional rules shall apply: 

  (i) At no time during the negotiations must a Tenderer be informed of the detail of any 

other Tender submitted or as to whether or not the Tender he submitted was the 

RULE 22 No Change 

 145



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

lowest. 

  (ii) During negotiations in person there must always be present at least two Officers or 

ESPO Client officers. 

  (iii) A note of the negotiations will be made by one of the officers referred to in the 

proceeding rule present recording those present, the time and location of the 

negotiations, detail of the discussion and any agreement reached. 

  (iv) Post Tender Negotiations shall not enable any material departure from the 

published specification.  The Director of Law and Governance shall determine 

whether any proposed change to the specification constitutes a material departure. 

(c) Post Tender Negotiations are not allowed in the case of Contracts with an Estimated 

Value exceeding the relevant EU threshold. However, clarifications of errors or 

discrepancies in Tenders may take place in accordance with Rule 21. 

AWARD OF CONTRACT 

RULE 23 

Acceptance of Tenders 

(a) A Tender can only be accepted in accordance with the initial award methodology and 

evaluation criteria as set out in Rule 13.  Any evaluation sheets must be maintained on 

file in accordance with Rule 33. 

(b) Any Tender with an Estimated Value of below £25,000 (where a Request for Quotation 

or an Invitation to Tender is not used) may only be accepted with the prior written 

approval of the Director of ESPO. 

(c) If the Tender to be accepted exceeds the budget which was agreed in accordance with 

Rule 5(f) the Procuring Officer must ensure that sufficient funds are available and 

approved by the ESPO Client, appropriate budget holder, Director of ESPO, or the ESPO 

Management Committee as appropriate, prior to accepting the Tender. 

(d) Where an abnormally low Tender is submitted ESPO shall require the Tenderer to 

explain in writing the price or costs proposed and may only reject the Tender where the 

explanation is unsatisfactory. Where it is established that the Tender is low due to 

breaches of environmental, social or labour law, ESPO must reject the Tender.  

(e) Subject to Rule 1, The Director of ESPO shall have the authority to accept a Tender but 

in any particular circumstance may decline to give approval and refer the decision to the 

ESPO Management Committee to determine. 

 

RULE 23 No Change 

 

146



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

RULE 24 

Notification of Contract Award 

(a) The Procuring Officer must notify the successful Tenderer of the acceptance of their 

Tender and for all Procurement Exercises with an Estimated Value of £5,000 or more 

this notification must be in writing. 

(b) In the case where the Estimated Value is £25,000 or more the Procuring Officer must 

notify in writing all Tenderers who submitted a Tender of the decision as soon as 

possible after the decision has been made.  

(c) Where a Contract with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more is awarded ESPO must 

publish information as required by the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 on Contracts 

Finder within a reasonable time.   

(d) In the case where the Estimated Value is equal to or greater than the relevant EU 

Threshold the following additional Rules will apply:   

 (i) The notice in rule 24 (b) shall include the award criteria, the reasons for the 

decision, including the successful Tenderer’s score, the score (if any) of the 

Tenderer receiving the notice, and the characteristics and (if appropriate) relative 

advantages of the successful Tenderer’s Tender, any reasons why the recipient of 

the notice did not meet the technical specification, the name of the Tenderer 

awarded the Contract, as well as the date when the standstill period required in 

accordance with Rule 24 (d) (ii) will come to an end. 

 (ii) A minimum period of 10 calendar days must elapse between the day of sending 

the notice in Rule 24 (b) and the date on which ESPO/ESPO Client enter into a 

Contract if the notice is sent electronically.  Where the notice is sent by other 

means then either 15 days from the day of sending the notice or 10 days from 

the day of receipt of the notice by the last Tenderer to receive the notice must 

elapse.  In all cases counting the day after sending the notice as day 1.  The 

standstill period must end on a working day. 

(iii) The Procuring Officer shall ensure that an OJEU contract award notice is placed 

within 30 days of the Contract award where required.  In the case where 

Contracts are awarded under the regime covering Light-Touch services or 

Dynamic Purchasing System, award notices may be grouped together in 

accordance with regulation 74 for Light-Touch Services and regulation 50 (5) for 

Dynamic Purchasing Systems. 

Proposed Change RULE 24 

Notification of Contract Award 

(a) The Procuring Officer must notify the successful Tenderer of the acceptance of their 

Tender and for all Procurement Exercises with an Estimated Value of £5,000 or more 

this notification must be in writing. 

(b) In the case where the Estimated Value is £25,000 or more the Procuring Officer must 

notify in writing all Tenderers who submitted a Tender of the decision as soon as 

possible after the decision has been made.  

(c) Where a Contract with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more is awarded ESPO must 

publish information as required by the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 on Contracts 

Finder within 90 calendar days of the date the Contract was awarded. 

(d) In the case where the Estimated Value is equal to or greater than the relevant EU 

Threshold the following additional Rules will apply:   

 (i) The notice in rule 24 (b) shall include the award criteria, the reasons for the 

decision, including the successful Tenderer’s score, the score (if any) of the 

Tenderer receiving the notice, and the characteristics and (if appropriate) 

relative advantages of the successful Tenderer’s Tender, any reasons why the 

recipient of the notice did not meet the technical specification, the name of the 

Tenderer awarded the Contract, as well as the date when the standstill period 

required in accordance with Rule 24 (d) (ii) will come to an end. 

(ii) A minimum period of 10 calendar days must elapse between the day of sending the 

notice in Rule 24 (b) and the date on which ESPO/ESPO Client enter into a 

Contract if the notice is sent electronically.  Where the notice is sent by other 

means then either 15 days from the day of sending the notice or 10 days from 

the day of receipt of the notice by the last Tenderer to receive the notice must 

elapse.  In all cases counting the day after sending the notice as day 1.  The 

standstill period must end on a working day. 

(iii) The Procuring Officer shall ensure that a UK e-notification service contract award notice 

known as Find a Tender Service (FTS) is placed within 30 days of the Contract 

award where required.  In the case where Contracts are awarded under the 

regime covering Light-Touch services or Dynamic Purchasing System, award 

notices may be grouped together in accordance with regulation 74 for Light-

Touch Services and regulation 50 (5) for Dynamic Purchasing Systems. 

(iv) For every Contract or Framework Agreement covered by the Public Contract Regulations 

and every time a Dynamic Purchasing System is established, the Procuring Officer shall draw 

up a written report in accordance with the requirements outlined in regulation 84 of PCR.   

147



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

RULE 25 

Form of Contract 

(a) A Contract shall be formed: 

(i) by exchange of letter or electronic communication accepting the successful 

Tender and incorporating the Invitation to Tender or Request for Quotation and 

the outcome of any subsequent negotiations and discussions; or 

(ii) by completion of a formal Contract incorporating the Invitation to Tender or 

Request for Quotation, the Tender or Quotation and the outcome of any 

subsequent negotiations and/or discussions; or 

(iii) by placing an order in accordance with Rule 26. 

(b) In determining and negotiating the terms and conditions of Contract, the Procuring 

Officer must ensure that the appropriate Standard Terms and Conditions are 

incorporated unless the Procuring Officer having consulted the Director of ESPO and the 

Director of Law and Governance considers it inappropriate to do so. 

(c) All Contracts with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more must be in writing and where 

appropriate the Director of ESPO shall: 

(i) ensure that the Contract includes a definition of the circumstances that will be 

considered to constitute a default on the terms of the Contract by the supplier.  

The Contract must provide for notice of default to be given to the supplier and for 

any resulting losses to be recovered from the supplier if the default is not 

rectified. 

(ii) decide whether it is necessary to require suppliers to provide a Performance Bond 

with a third party. The need for this will depend on an assessment of the risk 

associated with the Contract or the supplier. 

(iii) ensure that the Contract provides for the supplier to have an insurance policies, 

which can be inspected during the Contract period. The Director of ESPO shall be 

consulted on the insurance requirements. 

[Note: Insurance Levels (which may be amended for a specific Procurement Exercise, 

where appropriate, and agreed by the Procuring Officer with the Servicing Authority’s 

Insurance Manager): 

o Employers Insurance = £10m (for each and every occurrence) 

o Public/Third Party Insurance (including Products Liability, if needed) = £10m (for 

each and every occurrence) 

Proposed Change RULE 25 

Form of Contract 

(a) A Contract shall be formed: 

(i) by exchange of letter or electronic communication accepting the successful 

Tender and incorporating the Invitation to Tender or Request for Quotation and 

the outcome of any subsequent negotiations and discussions; or 

(ii) by completion of a formal Contract incorporating the Invitation to Tender or 

Request for Quotation, the Tender or Quotation and the outcome of any 

subsequent negotiations and/or discussions; or 

(iii) by placing an order in accordance with Rule 26. 

(b) In determining and negotiating the terms and conditions of Contract, the Procuring 

Officer must ensure that the appropriate Standard Terms and Conditions are 

incorporated unless the Procuring Officer having consulted the Director of ESPO and the 

Director of Law and Governance considers it inappropriate to do so. 

(c) All Contracts with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more must be in writing and where 

appropriate the Director of ESPO shall: 

(i) ensure that the Contract includes a definition of the circumstances that will be 

considered to constitute a default on the terms of the Contract by the supplier.  

The Contract must provide for notice of default to be given to the supplier and 

for any resulting losses to be recovered from the supplier if the default is not 

rectified. 

(ii) decide whether it is necessary to require suppliers to provide a Performance 

Bond with a third party. The need for this will depend on an assessment of the 

risk associated with the Contract or the supplier. 

(iii) ensure that the Contract provides for the supplier to have an insurance policies, 

which can be inspected during the Contract period. The Director of ESPO shall be 

consulted on the insurance requirements. 

[Note: Insurance Levels (which may be amended for a specific Procurement Exercise, 

where appropriate, and agreed by the Procuring Officer with the Servicing Authority’s 

Insurance Manager): 

o [£10m] Employers’ liability (any one occurrence)* 

o [£10m] Public Liability Insurance (any one occurrence) 

o [£2m] Professional indemnity insurance (any one claim and in the aggregate)] 

148



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

o Professional Indemnity (where appropriate) = £2m. 

To vary the insurance levels for a particular Procurement Exercise approval must be 

gained from the Servicing Authority’s Insurance Manager, or the ESPO Client Insurance 

Manager as appropriate.] 

(iv) consult the Director of ESPO on the appropriate VAT requirements. 

 [Note: Should any advice on VAT be required for a particular Procurement 

Exercise, contact the Servicing Authority’s Technical Accountant - Taxation Co-

ordinator] 

(d) Every Contract must be signed by the Director of ESPO or an Officer designated by him 

or her and in cases determined by the Director of Law and Governance shall be under 

seal in the form prepared or approved by him or her.   

(e) Except after consultation with the Director of Law and Governance, works or services 

must not be authorised to commence or goods to be supplied where such works, 

services or goods are to be the subject of a Contract under seal until the Director of Law 

and Governance has advised that the Contract has been signed by the supplier. 

(f)   The Procuring Officer shall consider the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and 

Data Protection Act 2018 requirements and shall include in the contract appropriate 

provisions. 

o [£10m] Product liability insurance (any one occurrence and in the aggregate)] 

o [£2m] Cyber security insurance (any one claim and in the aggregate)] 

*Employers’ liability insurance is only required for those organisations who employ staff 

To vary the insurance levels for a particular Procurement Exercise approval must be 

gained from the Servicing Authority’s Insurance Manager, or the ESPO Client Insurance 

Manager as appropriate.] 

(iv) consult the Director of ESPO on the appropriate VAT requirements. 

 [Note: Should any advice on VAT be required for a particular Procurement 

Exercise, contact the Servicing Authority’s Technical Accountant - Taxation Co-

ordinator] 

 (d) Every Contract must be signed (by electronic means or otherwise) by the Director of 

ESPO or an Officer designated and in cases determined by the Director of Law and 

Governance or where otherwise required in law, shall be under the Common Seal of the 

County Council in a form prepared or approved by the Director of Law and Governance. 

(e) Except after consultation with the Director of Law and Governance, works or services 

must not be authorised to commence or goods to be supplied where such works, 

services or goods are to be the subject of a Contract under seal until the Director of 

Law and Governance has advised that the Contract has been signed by the supplier. 

(f)   The Procuring Officer shall comply with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and 

Data Protection Act 2018 requirements and shall include in the contract appropriate provisions. 

(g) The Procuring Officer shall ensure the contract includes a Right to Audit Clause. 

RULE 26 

Orders for work, goods and services 

Orders for work, goods and services must only be placed in accordance with Instruction 8 of the 

Standard Financial Instructions. 

RULE 26 No Change 

 

STANDING LISTS 

RULE 27 

Standing Lists 

(a) Standing Lists must not be created or added to without the prior written approval of the 

Director of ESPO in consultation with the appropriate Procurement Service Manager. 

RULE 27 No Change 

149



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

(b) The Procuring Officer must not use a Standing List where the Total Value of Contracts to 

be awarded using the Standing List is estimated to exceed the relevant EU Threshold. 

(c) The Standing List must contain the names of all Persons who are approved and indicate 

the categories of Contract and the values or amounts in respect of those categories for 

which those Persons are approved. 

(d) At least four weeks before a list is first compiled, the Procuring Officer must publish on a 

website approved by the Director of ESPO for the purpose of notifying the supply 

market, a Contract Opportunity Publication inviting applications by a specified date for 

inclusion in it. 

(e) The Procuring Officer must renew all Standing Lists at intervals not exceeding four 

years.  At least four weeks before each renewal, each Person whose name appears in 

the list must be notified by the Procuring Officer of the intention to review the list.  If 

they wish to remain on the list they must re-apply for inclusion. The Procuring Officer 

must ensure that the Contract Opportunity Publication inviting applications for inclusion 

in the list are published in the manner provided by Rule 27(d). 

(f) In the case where the use of a Standing List has been authorised the Procuring Officer 

must send Invitations to Tender to not less than four of the Persons from among those 

approved for a Contract of the relevant category and amount or value.  Where fewer 

than four Persons are approved for a Contract of the relevant category and amount or 

value Invitations to Tender shall be sent to no fewer than three Persons.  Where there 

are fewer than three Persons the procedure for Standing Lists must not be used unless 

the appropriate Procurement Service Manager advises otherwise. 

(g) The Procuring Officer in consultation with the appropriate Procurement Service Manager 

shall determine the criteria for selecting Persons from the list. 

(h) In such circumstances as the Director of ESPO shall determine, the Procuring Officer 

shall provide such information as shall reasonably be necessary of the extent to which 

Standing Lists have been utilised. 

 

FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS 

RULE 28 

Framework Agreements 

(a) The Procuring Officer must establish all Framework Agreements in accordance with 

these Rules. 

(b) Framework Agreements must not be awarded for more than 4 years, including any 

extensions without the prior written consent of the Director of ESPO following 

Proposed Change RULE 28 

Framework Agreements 

(a) The Procuring Officer must establish all Framework Agreements in accordance with 

these Rules. 

(b) Framework Agreements must not be awarded for more than 4 years, including any 

extensions without the prior written consent of the Director of ESPO following 

consultation with the Director of Law and Governance. 

150



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

consultation with the Director of Law and Governance. 

(c) All suppliers on the Framework Agreement capable of performing the Contract must be 

invited to participate in a Further Competition unless it is clear from the terms of the 

Framework Agreement which supplier best meets the award methodology set out in the 

Framework Agreement in which case that supplier may be selected. 

(d) Additional suppliers may only be added to a Framework Agreement throughout its 

duration in circumstances where:  

 (i) the Estimated Value is below the EU Threshold; 

 (ii) the services tendered are Light-Touch Services to which the full regime of the Public 

Contracts Regulations 2015 is not considered to apply 

(iii) and in either case ((i) or (ii) above) provided that the Invitation to Tender states: 

(aa) that new suppliers may be added to the Framework Agreement; 

and 

(bb) how many suppliers can apply to be added to the Framework Agreement; 

 and 

              (cc) that the same evaluation criteria and award methodology are applied when   

deciding whether to award a place on the Framework Agreement to new suppliers as 

were applied at the time of the original award. 

(c) All suppliers on the Framework Agreement capable of performing the Contract must be 

invited to participate in a Further Competition unless it is clear from the terms of the 

Framework Agreement which supplier best meets the award methodology set out in the 

Framework Agreement in which case that supplier may be selected, provided the 

Procuring Officer can demonstrate value for money.  Direct Award on frameworks must 

be first discussed with a relevant Procurement Service Manager before proceeding if 

the value exceeds the threshold.   

(d) Additional suppliers may only be added to a Framework Agreement or Dynamic 

Purchasing System throughout its duration in circumstances where:  

 (i) the Estimated Value is below the EU Threshold; 

 (ii) the services tendered are Light-Touch Services to which the full regime of the Public 

Contracts Regulations 2015 is not considered to apply 

(iii) and in either case ((i) or (ii) above) provided that the Invitation to Tender states: 

(aa) that new suppliers may be added to the Framework Agreement; 

and 

(bb) how many suppliers can apply to be added to the Framework Agreement; 

and 

              (cc) that the same evaluation criteria and award methodology are applied when   
deciding whether to award a place on the Framework Agreement to new suppliers as were 

applied at the time of the original award. 

 

RULE 29 

Dynamic Purchasing Systems 

The Procuring Officer must only establish Dynamic Purchasing Systems with the prior written 

approval of the Director of ESPO and in accordance with the requirements of the Public 

Contracts Regulations 2015 and these Rules where appropriate. 

RULE 29 No Change 

CONTRACT AMENDMENTS 

RULE 30 

Contract Modifications and Extensions  

Contract Modifications 

Proposed Change RULE 30 

Contract Modifications and Extensions  

Contract Modifications 

(a)  Subject to Rule 30(b) below, Contracts may be modified where the value of the 

modification is;  

151



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

 

(a)  Subject to Rule 30(b) below, Contracts may be modified where the value of the 

modification is;  

(i) below the current EU Threshold for service/supply/works Contracts; and  

(ii) is less than 10% of the initial Contract value for service and supply Contracts 

and less than 15% of the initial Contract value for works Contracts. 

(b)  The Director of ESPO in consultation with the appropriate Procurement Service Manager 

shall be authorised to modify the contract in accordance with Rule 30(a) above 

provided: 

(i) the modification does not alter the overall nature of the Contract; and 

(ii) where there is, or has been more than one modification, the value shall be the 

net cumulative value of all modifications for the purpose of Rule 30(a) above. 

(c)  In all other circumstances, where the proposed modification exceeds either of the values 

stated under Rule 30(a) or where the proposed modification does not fall within Rule 

30(a) above, the Director of ESPO in consultation with the appropriate Procurement 

Service Manager and the Director of Law and Governance must gain the prior approval 

of the Director of Corporate Resources.  This authorisation must be issued before the 

supply, services or works are carried out. 

(d)  Prior to any modification being agreed which would result in an increase in the Total 

Value of the Contract the Procuring Officer must ensure that sufficient additional budget 

provision has been approved by the budget holder. 

Contract Extensions 

(e)  Where a Contract Extension has been provided for both in the Initial Procurement 

Documents and in the Contract in clear and precise terms then the Director of ESPO 

shall be authorised to extend the Contract in consultation with the appropriate 

Procurement Service Manager.  

(f)  For the purpose of this Rule 30 “Initial Procurement Documents” shall mean any notice, 

OJEU notice, Request for Quotation, Invitation to Tender or Specification. 

(g)  Where the Initial Procurement Documents and/or the Contract does not provide for an 

extension the Director of ESPO in consultation with the appropriate Procurement Service 

Manager shall consider the extension as a modification to the Contract and shall only be 

authorised to extend the Contract in accordance with Rules 30(a) and 30(b) above.   

(h)  In all other circumstances and where Rule 30(e) and 30(g) above do not apply, the 

Director of ESPO in consultation with the appropriate Procurement Service Manager and 

the Director of Law and Governance must gain the prior approval of the Director of 

(i) below the current EU Threshold for service/supply/works Contracts; and  

(ii) is less than 10% of the initial Contract value for service and supply Contracts 

and less than 15% of the initial Contract value for works Contracts. 

(b)  The Director of ESPO in consultation with the appropriate Procurement Service Manager 

shall be authorised to modify the contract in accordance with Rule 30(a) above 

provided: 

(i) the modification does not alter the overall nature of the Contract; and 

(ii) where there is, or has been more than one modification, the value shall be the 

net cumulative value of all modifications for the purpose of Rule 30(a) above. 

(c)  A modification over 10% of the initial Contract value requires prior approval from the 

Director of ESPO, the Director of Law and Governance and the Director of Corporate Resources 

if above the EU threshold. 

(d)  Prior to any modification being agreed which would result in an increase in the Total 

Value of the Contract the Procuring Officer must ensure that sufficient additional 

budget provision has been approved by the budget holder. 

Contract Extensions 

(e)  Where a Contract Extension has been provided for both in the Initial Procurement 

Documents and in the Contract in clear and precise terms then the Director of ESPO or 

any Officer with delegated authority under Rule 2 shall be authorised to extend the 

Contract in consultation with the appropriate Procurement Service Manager.  

(f)  For the purpose of this Rule 30 “Initial Procurement Documents” shall mean any notice, 

UK e-notification service notice, known as Find a Tender Service (FTS), Request for 

Quotation, Invitation to Tender or Specification. 

(g)  Where the Initial Procurement Documents and/or the Contract does not provide for an 

extension the Director of ESPO in consultation with the appropriate Procurement 

Service Manager shall consider the extension as a modification to the Contract and 

shall only be authorised to extend the Contract in accordance with Rules 30(a) and 

30(b) above.   

(h)  In all other circumstances and where Rule 30(e) and 30(g) above do not apply, the 

Director of ESPO in consultation with the appropriate Procurement Service Manager and 

the Director of Law and Governance must gain the prior approval of the Director of 

Corporate Resources.  This authorisation must be issued before the extension is carried 

out. 

(i) Prior to any extension being agreed which would result in an increase in the Total Value of 

the Contract the Procuring Officer must ensure that sufficient additional budget provision has 

152



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

Corporate Resources.  This authorisation must be issued before the extension is carried 

out. 

(i) Prior to any extension being agreed which would result in an increase in the 

Total Value of the Contract the Procuring Officer must ensure that sufficient 

additional budget provision has been approved by the budget holder. 

been approved by the budget holder. 

RULE 31 

Novation of Existing Contracts 

The novation of a Contract to a new Person requires the prior written approval of the Director 

of ESPO in consultation with the Director of Law and Governance. 

Proposed Change RULE 31 

Novation of Existing Contracts 

The novation of a Contract to a new Person irrespective of value requires the prior written 

approval of the Director of ESPO in consultation with the Director of Law and Governance. 

RULE 32 

Early Termination of Contracts 

Unless a provision for early termination is clearly stated in the Contract the Procuring Officer 

shall seek advice from the Director of Law and Governance where it is intended to terminate 

a Contract early.  Where the Total Value of the Contract is equal to £181,302 or more the 

prior written approval of the Director of ESPO shall also be obtained. 

Proposed Change RULE 32 

Early Termination of Contracts 

Unless a provision for early termination is clearly stated in the Contract the Procuring Officer 

shall seek advice from the Director of Law and Governance where it is intended to terminate a 
Contract early.  Where the Total Value of the Contract is equal to £189,330 or more the prior 

written approval of the Director of ESPO shall also be obtained. 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

RULE 33 

Document Retention 

(a) All Contract records that might be required in court proceedings must be retained for at 

least six years and any under seal for at least twelve years from expiry of the Contract. 

(b) Where the Contract is externally funded any contingent liabilities and/or grant conditions 

must be taken account of by the length of the retention period. 

RULE 33 No Change 

 

RULE 34 

Supervision of Contracts by Third Parties 

(a) The Procuring Officer shall ensure that it is a condition of any Contract between ESPO 

and any Person (not being an Officer of ESPO) who is involved in a Procurement 

Exercise or the management of a Contract on behalf of ESPO that in relation to that 

Contract he or she must comply with the requirements of these Rules and other 

reasonable requirements of ESPO.  

(b) Such Person must: 

Proposed Change RULE 34 

Supervision of Contracts by Third Parties 

(a) The Procuring Officer shall ensure that it is a condition of any Contract between ESPO 

and any Person (not being an Officer of ESPO) who is involved in a Procurement 

Exercise or the management of a Contract on behalf of ESPO that in relation to that 

Contract he or she must comply with the requirements of these Rules and other 

reasonable requirements of ESPO.  

(b) Such Person must: 

153



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

(i) at any time during the carrying out of the Contract produce to the Director of 

ESPO or his representative or ESPO Auditor on request all records maintained by 

him or her in relation to the Contract; and 

(ii) on completion of the Contract transmit all records to the Director of ESPO. 

(i) at any time during the carrying out of the Contract produce to the Director of 

ESPO or his representative, or an officer with delegated authority or ESPO 

Auditor on request all records maintained by him or her in relation to the 

Contract; and 

(ii) on completion of the Contract transmit all records to the Director of ESPO, or an officer 
with delegated authority. 

RULE 35 

Nominated Sub-Contractors and Suppliers 

(a) Where a sub-contractor or supplier is to be nominated by ESPO/ESPO Client to a main 

contractor, the provisions of these Rules shall have effect. 

(b) The terms of an Invitation to Tender under Rule 18 must require an undertaking by 

the Tenderer that, if selected, they will be willing to enter into a Contract with the 

main contractor on terms which indemnify the main contractor against their own 

obligations under the main Contract in relation to the work, supplies or services 

included in the sub-contract. 

 

RULE 35 No Change 

 

SCHEDULE 1 

Interpretation 

1. “Best Value” means the duty of ESPO to secure continuous improvement in the way in which 

its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness. 

2. The “Chief Executive” is the Chief Executive Officer of the Servicing Authority, Leicestershire 

County Council. 

3.  “Concession Contract’’ means a works concession Contract or services concession Contract 

for a pecuniary interest concluded in writing by means of which the concessionaire is 

entrusted to execute works  or provide and manage services (other than the execution of 

works) to one or more economic operators, the consideration for which consists either solely 

in the right to exploit the works or the services that are the subject of the Contract or in that 

right together with payment; and that meets the requirements of Regulation 3(4) of the 

Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 (CCR 2016). 

Regulation 3(4) of the CCR 2016 further defines the necessary characteristics of the 

arrangement for the purposes of the regime, which are:  

(i) the award of the Contract must transfer to the contractor the operating risk 

in exploiting the works or services encompassing demand or supply risk or 

Proposed Change SCHEDULE 1 

Interpretation 

1. “Best Value” means the duty of ESPO to secure continuous improvement in the way in which 

its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness. 

2. The “Chief Executive” is the Chief Executive Officer of the Servicing Authority, Leicestershire 

County Council. 

3.  “Concession Contract’’ means a works concession Contract or services concession Contract 

for a pecuniary interest concluded in writing by means of which the concessionaire is 

entrusted to execute works  or provide and manage services (other than the execution of 

works) to one or more economic operators, the consideration for which consists either solely 

in the right to exploit the works or the services that are the subject of the Contract or in 

that right together with payment; and that meets the requirements of Regulation 3(4) of the 

Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 (CCR 2016). 

Regulation 3(4) of the CCR 2016 further defines the necessary characteristics of the 

arrangement for the purposes of the regime, which are:  

(i) the award of the Contract must transfer to the contractor the operating risk in exploiting 

154



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

both; and  

(ii) the part of the risk transferred to the concessionaire involves real exposure 

to the vagaries of the market, such that any potential estimated loss incurred 

by the concessionaire is not merely nominal or negligible. 

4. “Concession Contracts Regulations 2016” means the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 

as amended, consolidated, extended, re-enacted or replaced. These Regulations implement 

Directive 2014/25/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on Public Procurement. 

5. “Contract” means a binding agreement between two or more parties for performing, or 

refraining from performing, some specified act(s) in exchange for lawful consideration. 

6. “Contract Extension” means an extension to the duration of the Contract, but not including 

any alteration to the scope of the Contract. 

7. “Contracts Finder” means the web-based portal provided for the purposes of Part 4 of the 

Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  

8. “Contract Opportunity Publication” is the means by which a Procurement Exercise is 

advertised and includes (where appropriate) the ‘Contract Notice’ and Contracts Finder as 

defined in the Public Contract Regulations 2015. 

9. “Contract Modification” means an alteration to the scope of the Contract, but not the 

extension of the duration of the Contract. 

10. The “Director of Corporate Resources” is the Director of Corporate Resources of the 

Servicing Authority, Leicestershire County Council, except in the case of a procurement 

exercise conducted exclusively for an ESPO Client other than the Servicing Authority, where 

the advice or authority required under these Contract Procedure Rules has been obtained 

from the equivalent officer(s) of that ESPO Client.  

11. The “Director of Law and Governance” is the Director of Law and Governance of the 

Servicing Authority, Leicestershire County Council, except in the case of a procurement 

exercise conducted exclusively for an ESPO Client other than the Servicing Authority, where 

the advice or authority required under these Contract Procedure Rules has been obtained 

from the equivalent officer(s) of that ESPO Client.  

12.“Dynamic Purchasing System” means a completely electronic process, which has a limited  

duration, for making commonly used purchases, as more particularly defined and described 

in the Public Contract Regulations 2015. 

13.“Electronic Tendering System” means an electronic tendering system approved in accordance 

with Rule 5 (g) (ii). 

 14. The “ESPO Management Committee” is a joint committee appointed by ESPO’s member 

authorities with the purpose of managing ESPO in accordance with Section 102 of the Local 

the works or services encompassing demand or supply risk or both; and  

(ii) the part of the risk transferred to the concessionaire involves real exposure to the vagaries 

of the market, such that any potential estimated loss incurred by the concessionaire is not 

merely nominal or negligible. 

4. “Concession Contracts Regulations 2016” means the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 

as amended, consolidated, extended, re-enacted or replaced. These Regulations implement 

Directive 2014/25/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on Public Procurement. 

5. “Contract” means a binding agreement between two or more parties for performing, or 

refraining from performing, some specified act(s) in exchange for lawful consideration. 

6. “Contract Extension” means an extension to the duration of the Contract, but not including 

any alteration to the scope of the Contract. 

7. “Contracts Finder” means the web-based portal provided for the purposes of Part 4 of the 

Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  

8. “Contract Opportunity Publication” is the means by which a Procurement Exercise is 

advertised and includes (where appropriate) the ‘Contract Notice’ and Contracts Finder as 

defined in the Public Contract Regulations 2015. 

9. “Contract Modification” means an alteration to the scope of the Contract, but not the 

extension of the duration of the Contract. 

10. “Council’’ means Leicestershire County Council. 

11. “Direct Employee: a person who works as an employee of ESPO and is paid a salary by it, 

rather than being employed through an agency or other third party. 

12. The “Director of Corporate Resources” is the Director of Corporate Resources of the 

Servicing Authority, Leicestershire County Council, except in the case of a procurement 

exercise conducted exclusively for an ESPO Client other than the Servicing Authority, where 

the advice or authority required under these Contract Procedure Rules has been obtained 

from the equivalent officer(s) of that ESPO Client.  

13. The “Director of Law and Governance” is the Director of Law and Governance of the 

Servicing Authority, Leicestershire County Council, except in the case of a procurement 

exercise conducted exclusively for an ESPO Client other than the Servicing Authority, where 

the advice or authority required under these Contract Procedure Rules has been obtained 

from the equivalent officer(s) of that ESPO Client.  

14.“Dynamic Purchasing System” means a completely electronic process, which has a limited  

duration, for making commonly used purchases, as more particularly defined and described 

in the Public Contract Regulations 2015. 

155



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

Government Act 1972. The committee comprises an equal number of elected members from 

each member authority. 

15. “ESPO Client” means one or more ESPO member authorities and/or other contracting 

authorities, for which ESPO is managing a procurement process. 

16. “Estimated Value” means the value as estimated under Rule 10. 

17. “EU Threshold” means the respective threshold for Services, Supplies, Works or Light-Touch 

Services contracts referred to in the Public Contract Regulations 2015 and the Concession 

Contracts Regulations 2016. 

18. “E-Tender” means a Tender that has been submitted using an Electronic Tendering System.  

19. “Formal Tender Process” is a process following the requirements of Open Tendering, 

Restricted Tendering, Standing List, Negotiated Procedure, Competitive Procedure with 

Negotiation, Competitive Dialogue or Innovation Partnership Procedure and Formal Tender 

shall be construed accordingly. 

20. “Framework Agreement” is a general term for agreements with suppliers which set out 

terms and conditions under which specific purchases (call-offs) can be made throughout 

the term of the agreement. The Framework Agreement may, itself, be a contract to which 

the EU procurement directive and Public Contracts Regulations 2006 and 2015 apply. 

21.   A “Further Competition” is undertaken where not all the terms of a proposed Contract are 

laid down in a Framework Agreement.  It involves re-opening competition between the 

economic operators which are parties to the Framework Agreement and which are capable 

of performing the proposed Contract, on the basis of the same or, if necessary, more 

precisely formulated terms, and where appropriate other terms referred to in the Contract 

documents based on the Framework Agreement.  

22. “Invitation to Tender” means the document(s) containing the specification, proposed terms 

and conditions and other appropriate information as issued to the Tenderers to solicit 

Formal Tenders. 

23. “Irregular Tender” means a Tender that does not fully comply with the instructions given in 

the Invitation to Tender. 

24. “Life-Cycle Costing” means all or part of the following costs over the life-cycle of a product, 

service or works, to the extent that they are relevant: 

    (i) Costs of acquisition,  

   (ii) Costs of use, such as consumption of energy and other resources,  

   (iii) Maintenance costs,  

15.“Electronic Tendering System” means an electronic tendering system approved in 

accordance with Rule 5 (g) (ii). 

 16. The “ESPO Management Committee” is a joint committee appointed by ESPO’s member 

authorities with the purpose of managing ESPO in accordance with Section 102 of the Local 

Government Act 1972. The committee comprises an equal number of elected members from 

each member authority. 

17. “ESPO Client” means one or more ESPO member authorities and/or other contracting 

authorities, for which ESPO is managing a procurement process. 

18. “Estimated Value” means the value as estimated under Rule 10. 

19. “EU Threshold” means the respective threshold for Services, Supplies, Works or Light-

Touch Services contracts referred to in the Public Contract Regulations 2015 and the 

Concession Contracts Regulations 2016. 

20. “E-Tender” means a Tender that has been submitted using an Electronic Tendering System.  

21. “Formal Tender Process” is a process following the requirements of Open Tendering, 

Restricted Tendering, Standing List, Negotiated Procedure, Competitive Procedure with 

Negotiation, Competitive Dialogue or Innovation Partnership Procedure and Formal Tender 

shall be construed accordingly. 

22.“Framework Agreement” is a general term for agreements with suppliers which set out 

terms and conditions under which specific purchases (call-offs) can be made throughout the 

term of the agreement. The Framework Agreement may, itself, be a contract to which the EU 

procurement directive and Public Contracts Regulations 2015 apply. 

23.   A “Further Competition” is undertaken where not all the terms of a proposed Contract are 

laid down in a Framework Agreement.  It involves re-opening competition between the 

economic operators which are parties to the Framework Agreement and which are capable 

of performing the proposed Contract, on the basis of the same or, if necessary, more 

precisely formulated terms, and where appropriate other terms referred to in the Contract 

documents based on the Framework Agreement.  

24. “Invitation to Tender” means the document(s) containing the specification, proposed terms 

and conditions and other appropriate information as issued to the Tenderers to solicit 

Formal Tenders. 

25. “Irregular Tender” means a Tender that does not fully comply with the instructions given 

in the Invitation to Tender. 

26. “Life-Cycle Costing” means all or part of the following costs over the life-cycle of a product, 

service or works, to the extent that they are relevant: 

156



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

   (vi) End of life costs, such as collection and recycling costs,  

   (v) Costs imputed to the environmental externalities linked to the product, 

          service or works during its life cycle, provided their monetary value can be         

determined and verified. These costs may include the cost of emissions of greenhouse 

gases and of other pollutant emissions and other climate change mitigation costs.  

25. “Light-Touch Services” means those services referred to in regulation 74 and Schedule 3 of 

the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  

26. “Officer” means an employee of ESPO. 

27. “OJEU” means Official Journal of the European Union. 

28. “Person” includes a partnership, body corporate or unincorporated association. 

29. “Post Tender Negotiations” means the ability to negotiate with a Tenderer after a Tender 

has been opened and evaluated in accordance with the published evaluation criteria for the 

purposes of securing an improvement in the delivery of the Contract including but not 

limited to improvements in price. 

30. “Procurement Exercise” means any process by which goods, services and/or works are to 

be procured including but not limited to Request for Quotations and Formal Tender 

Processes.  For the purpose of these Rules a Contract for a Concession shall be treated as a 

Procurement Exercise. 

31. “Procuring Officer” means any Officer, acting under the delegated powers of the Director of 

ESPO, who is responsible for the procurement of goods and services. 

32. “Procurement Service Manager” is the most senior Procurement Officer within an ESPO 

Category Team, and is responsible for managing the team. 

33. “Public Contracts Regulations 2015” means the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 as 

amended, modified, consolidated, extended, re-enacted or replaced.  These Regulations 

implement Directive 2014/24/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on Public 

Procurement.    

34. “Quotation” means an offer to sell works, goods and/or services at a stated price under 

specified conditions.  A Quotation may or may not be written.   

35. “Request for Quotation” (“RFQ”) means a document or documents containing the 

specification, and proposed terms and conditions issued to potential suppliers to solicit 

written Quotations. 

36. “Standard Terms and Conditions” means the standard contractual terms used by ESPO, 

including those attached to iprocurement orders (or orders generated by ‘line of business’ 

    (i) Costs of acquisition,  

   (ii) Costs of use, such as consumption of energy and other resources,  

   (iii) Maintenance costs,  

   (vi) End of life costs, such as collection and recycling costs,  

   (v) Costs imputed to the environmental externalities linked to the product, 

          service or works during its life cycle, provided their monetary value can be         

determined and verified. These costs may include the cost of emissions of greenhouse 

gases and of other pollutant emissions and other climate change mitigation costs.  

27. “Light-Touch Services” means those services referred to in regulation 74 and Schedule 3 of 

the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  

28. “Officer” means an employee of ESPO. 

29. “Person” includes a partnership, body corporate or unincorporated association. 

30. “Post Tender Negotiations” means the ability to negotiate with a Tenderer after a Tender 

has been opened and evaluated in accordance with the published evaluation criteria for the 

purposes of securing an improvement in the delivery of the Contract including but not 

limited to improvements in price. 

31. “Procurement Exercise” means any process by which goods, services and/or works are to 

be procured including but not limited to Request for Quotations and Formal Tender 

Processes.  For the purpose of these Rules a Contract for a Concession, a contract via a 

Framework Agreement /Dynamic Purchasing system shall be treated as a Procurement 

Exercise. 

32. “Procuring Officer” means any Officer, acting under the delegated powers of the Director of 

ESPO, who is responsible for the procurement of goods and services. 

33. “Procurement Service Manager” is the most senior Procurement Officer within an ESPO 

Category Team, and is responsible for managing the team. 

34. “Public Contracts Regulations 2015” means the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 as 

amended, modified, consolidated, extended, re-enacted or replaced.  These Regulations 

implement Directive 2014/24/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on Public 

Procurement.    

35. “Quotation” means an offer to sell works, goods and/or services at a stated price under 

specified conditions.  A Quotation may or may not be written.   

36. “Request for Quotation” (“RFQ”) means a document or documents containing the 

specification, and proposed terms and conditions issued to potential suppliers to solicit 

157



 

APPENDIX A: Proposed Amendments to ESPO Contract Procedure Rules – from 1 October 2021   

 

 

systems, those included in Request for Quotation templates, and standard industry terms. 

37. “Standard Selection Questionnaire” means a questionnaire that complies with the Crown 

Commercial Service statutory guidance relating to Standard Selection Questionnaires.  

38. “Standing List” means a list of Persons which has been established in accordance with Rule 

27. 

39. “Suitability Assessment Question” means a question which relates to the subject matter of 

the procurement and is proportionate and which ESPO requires for assessing the Tenderers 

suitability.   

40. “Tender” means the formal offer from a Tenderer, which is capable of acceptance by 

ESPO/ESPO Client, which is a response to an Invitation to Tender.  It shall include all 

documents comprising the submission including pricing, technical specification and method 

statements as well as information about the Tenderer. A written Quote or Quotation is also 

a Tender. The term “Tender” also includes an E-Tender except where the context implies 

otherwise.  

41. “Tenderer” or “Tenderers” means the Person or Persons invited to participate in a 

Procurement Exercise. 

42. “Total Value” means the value of a Contract which has been calculated in accordance with 

Rule 10(b) reading where appropriate Total Value for Estimated Value. 

43. “In writing” or “written” for the purpose of interpreting these Rules includes transmission by 

any electronic means which have been approved by the Director of Law and Governance in 

consultation with the Director of Corporate Resources. 

44. Words imparting the masculine include the feminine gender. 

45. “Rule(s)” means these Contract Procedure Rules as may be amended from time to time.  

[end of Contract Procedure Rules] 

written Quotations. 

37. “Standard Terms and Conditions” means the standard contractual terms used by ESPO, 

including those attached to iprocurement orders (or orders generated by ‘line of business’ 

systems, those included in Request for Quotation templates, and standard industry terms. 

38.  “Standard Selection Questionnaire” means a questionnaire that complies with the Crown      

Commercial Service statutory guidance relating to Standard Selection Questionnaires 

39. “Standing List” means a list of Persons which has been established in accordance with Rule 

27. 

40. “Suitability Assessment Question” means a question which relates to the subject matter of 

the procurement and is proportionate and which ESPO requires for assessing the 

Tenderers suitability.   

41. “Tender” means the formal offer from a Tenderer, which is capable of acceptance by 

ESPO/ESPO Client, which is a response to an Invitation to Tender.  It shall include all 

documents comprising the submission including pricing, technical specification and method 

statements as well as information about the Tenderer. A written Quote or Quotation is also 

a Tender. The term “Tender” also includes an E-Tender except where the context implies 

otherwise.  

42. “Tenderer” or “Tenderers” means the Person or Persons invited to participate in a 

Procurement Exercise. 

43. “Total Value” means the value of a Contract which has been calculated in accordance with 

Rule 10(b) reading where appropriate Total Value for Estimated Value. 

44.  “UK e-notification service” known as “FTS” (Find a Tender Service) is defined in the Public 

Contract Regulations 2015 (as amended) 

45. “In writing” or “written” for the purpose of interpreting these Rules includes transmission 

by any electronic means which have been approved by the Director of Law and 

Governance in consultation with the Director of Corporate Resources. 

46. Words imparting the masculine include the feminine gender. 

47. “Rule(s)” means these Contract Procedure Rules as may be amended from time to time.  

[end of Contract Procedure Rules] 

158



  APPENDIX B 

  

CONTRACT PROCEDURE 
RULES  

 
   

 

Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation 
(ESPO) 

Contract Procedure Rules  

From 1 October 2021 

 

159



 

   

 

ESPO Contract Procedure Rules 

 

ESPO is the trading name of a joint committee of local authorities, the county councils of 

Leicestershire, Lincolnshire, Cambridgeshire, Norfolk, Warwickshire, and the city council of 
Peterborough (the “member authorities”) established under the Local Government Act 

1972 (section 101 (5) and section 102) and section 9EB of the Local Government Act 
2000.  Through Leicestershire County Council and in accordance with an agreement 
between the member authorities (the “Consortium Agreement”) the joint committee 

procures services and goods which it supplies to member authorities and other contracting 
authorities, as defined in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, using powers to trade 

under the Local Authorities (Goods & Services) Act 1970 and powers to make a charge to 
recover its costs under section 3 of the Localism Act 2011 and section 93 of the Local 
Government Act 2000. 

Separately, a private company, ESPO Trading Limited, has been granted a licence to use 
the trading name “ESPO”.  However, ESPO Trading Limited will not be operated under the 

Consortium Agreement, but in accordance with its own constitution. It will be a separate 
legal person, distinct from the joint committee and its member authorities. 

These Contract Procedure Rules apply in the circumstances described in Rule 4; however, 

they do not apply to ESPO Trading Limited, its procurement or other activities. 

 

GENERAL 

RULE 1 

Compliance 

(a) Officers must comply with these Rules.  Failure to do so may result in 
disciplinary action. 

 
(b) If a decision does not fall within Appendix 4 to Schedule 1: Functions of, and 

Delegations to the Director of ESPO, the decision can be escalated to the 

Director of ESPO, the decision can be escalated to the Chief Officers Group or 
Management Committee 

(c) Sale of council assets are not part of these rules.  They are covered by Rule 25 

Purchasing and income collections and Rule 26 Inventories and assets of the 

Financial Procedure Rules (Part 4F), Leicestershire County Council’s 

Constitution. 

 

RULE 2 

Delegation 

The Director of ESPO may delegate his responsibilities under these Rules in accordance 

with Rule 6 of Section D (General scheme of delegation to heads of departments) of Part 3 
(Responsibility for Functions) of the Servicing Authority’s Constitution. 

160



 

 

RULE 3 

Interpretation 

Words and expressions used in these Rules are to be interpreted in accordance with the 
provisions of Schedule 1. 

 

RULE 4 

Application 

These Rules apply to the procurement of every Contract made by Leicestershire County 
Council, trading as ESPO (“ESPO”) on behalf of the management committee or Director of 

ESPO, and every Contract procured on behalf of and made by an ESPO Client EXCEPT 
Contracts: 

(i) for only the acquisition or disposal of any interest in land; 

(ii) for the lending or borrowing of money; 

(iii) of employment (making an individual a direct employee of ESPO); or 

(iv) procured on behalf of and made by an ESPO Client that has agreed that the 
procurement of the Contract shall be conducted in accordance with its own contract 
procedure rules. 

(v) for financial services in connection with the issue, sale, purchase or transfer of 
securities or other financial instruments within the meaning of Directive 2004/39/EC 

of the European Parliament 

 

PROCUREMENT PRINCIPLES 

RULE 5 

General Requirements 

(a) Every Contract or official order for works, supplies or services made by ESPO shall be 
in accordance with ESPO's Business Strategy and duty of Best Value. 

(b) When proposing to procure or making arrangements for procuring a service contract 
where the Estimated Value is equal to or greater than the EU Threshold then 
consideration must be given as to how the Contract might improve the economic, 

social and environmental wellbeing of the relevant area as required by the Public 
Services (Social value) Act 2012.   

(c) Where the services are Light-Touch Services the threshold for Contracts for public 
supply or services Contracts applies for the purposes of the Social Value Act, being 
the sum specified in Regulation 5 (1) (d) of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  

(d) Procedures set out in the relevant EU Directives, EU Treaties, Acts of Parliament and 
UK legislation (including for the avoidance of doubt the Public Contracts Regulations 

2015, the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016, and where applicable the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2006) must be complied with at all times. 

161



 

 

(e) Based on criteria laid down by the Director of Corporate Resources, the Director of 
ESPO will be responsible for evaluating the financial status of Tenderers and 

suppliers. 

(f) The Procuring Officer/ESPO Client must ensure that sufficient budget provision has 

been agreed with the budget holder prior to any Procurement Exercise being 
undertaken. 

(g) Procurement Exercises should usually be undertaken by electronic means provided 

that: 

 (i) the requirements of these Rules are followed with only such modifications as 

may be necessary to allow for procurement by such means; and 

(ii) any electronic tendering system has been approved by the Director of ESPO. 

(h) Subject to the provisions of Rule 28 (b) Contracts shall not be longer than 5 years 

(including extensions) in duration or of indeterminate length without the prior written 
approval of the Director of ESPO on advice of the appropriate Procurement Service 

Manager.  Any such approval shall be sought prior to the commencement of the 
Procurement Exercise. 

 

RULE 6 

Exceptions 

(a) Subject to the requirements of EU Directives, EU Treaties, Acts of Parliament, the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016, 

the following Contracts may be placed by direct negotiation with one or more 
suppliers, Contracts:- 

(i) for supplies, materials, services or works which are available only as 

proprietary and/or patented articles, services or works from one contractor or 
supplier and for which the Director of ESPO, on the advice of the appropriate 

Procurement Service Manager, decides that there is no reasonably satisfactory 
alternative available in the European Union and for repairs to, or the supply of, 
parts of existing proprietary or patented articles or works including machinery 

or plant;  a note of that decision and the reasons for it must be retained on the 
appropriate file and where the Contract is equal to or exceeds £189,330, a 

copy of the note and reasons must be provided to the Director of Corporate 
Resources and the Director of Law and Governance. 

(ii) for works of art, museum specimens or historical documents; 

(iii) which constitute a variation or extension of an existing Contract, as permitted 
by the Contract and/or ESPO’s Standard Financial Instructions subject to the 

provisions of Rule 30 (Contract Modifications and Extensions) and Rule 31 
(Novation of Existing Contracts); 

In the above circumstances, the Procuring Officer must retain on file a record of the 

negotiations surrounding the Contract awards and notify the Director of ESPO. 

(b) Other exceptions to these Rules may only be made within the relevant law and with 

the authority:- 

162



 

 

(i) of the Director of ESPO, in consultation with the relevant Procurement Service 
Manager, where the Estimated Value of the proposed Contract is under 

£189,330.  The Director of ESPO shall maintain a record specifying the reason 
for all such departures; or 

(ii) of the ESPO Management Committee where it is satisfied that an exception is 
justified on its merits. In an urgent case the Director of ESPO in consultation 
with the Chairman or Deputy Chairman of the ESPO Management Committee 

(save where this is not practicable) may direct that an exception be made 
subject to this being reported to the next meeting of the ESPO Management 

Committee. 

 (c) In all cases under Rule 6 a full record of the reasons for the exceptions shall be    
maintained and the Director of ESPO notified.  

 

RULE 7 

Financial Thresholds and Delegation 

(a) Financial limits and thresholds within these Rules may be varied from time to time by 
the Servicing Authority’s Corporate Governance Committee. 

(b) Arrangements for delegation of functions to officers within these Rules may be varied 
from time to time by the Chief Executive. 

 

RULE 8 

Annual Reporting 

The Director of ESPO in consultation with the Director of Law and Governance shall at 
least once in each financial year submit a report to the ESPO Management Committee 

in relation to the operation of these Rules including among other things details of the 
approved exceptions to these Rules and approved extensions to Contract where not 

provided for in the Contract, and proposed revisions to these Rules and/or changes 
required to accommodate the requirements of UK and EU procurement law as may be 
necessary from time to time. 

 

RULE 9 

Prevention of Corruption / Conflict of Interest 

(a) The Employee Code of Conduct (Part 5b of the Servicing Authority’s Constitution) 
applies to any Procurement Exercise. 

(b) The following clause, or a clause that is substantially similar, will be included as a 
standard term and condition in every written Contract in accordance with Rule 25(c): 

"ESPO/ [ESPO Client] may terminate this Contract and recover all its loss from the 
Contractor if the Contractor, its employees or anyone acting on the Contractor's 
behalf do any of the following things: 

163



 

 

(i) offer, give or agree to give to anyone any personal inducement or reward in 
respect of this or any other ESPO/[ESPO Client] Contract (even if the 

Contractor does not know what has been done); or 

(ii) commit an offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or give any fee or reward, the 

receipt of which is an offence under Section 117(2) of the Local Government 
Act 1972; or 

(iii) commit any fraud in connection with this or any other ESPO/ESPO Client 

Contract whether alone or in conjunction with contractors or employees. 

Any clause limiting the Contractor's liability shall not apply to this clause". 

(c) ESPO’s Supplier Code of Conduct applies to any Procurement Exercise. 

RULE 9 A 

Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015  

Where appropriate, the Contract shall make appropriate provision for information sharing 
between the Contractor and ESPO in line with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 

and the Data Protection Act 2018, and/or such other measures as are appropriate, such as 
staff training, to support the Servicing Authority in meeting its duty under section 26 of the 
Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 to have due regard to the need to prevent people 

from being drawn into terrorism. 

164



 

 

 

PROCUREMENT EXERCISE 

RULE 10 

Pre-Estimate 

(a) Before any Procurement Exercise is begun the Procuring Officer must calculate its 
Estimated Value in accordance with this Rule.  The estimated value for the 
Procurement must not be subdivided for the purpose of reducing the total value of 

the contract for multiple procurements. 

(b) The Estimated Value shall be calculated as follows: 

(i) Where the Contract period is fixed the Estimated Value shall be the total 
estimated maximum value of the supplies, services or works to be supplied 
over the period covered including any extensions to the Contract; 

(ii) Where the Contract period is indeterminate the Estimated Value shall be 
calculated by multiplying the estimated average monthly value by 48; 

(iii) For feasibility studies the Estimated Value shall include the value of the study 
and any subsequent contracts which may be awarded to the same supplier as a 
result where this is known; 

(iv) For Concession Contracts the Estimated Value shall be the estimated financial 
value to the supplier that shall be made over the duration of the Contract, net 

of value added tax. 

(v) The Estimated Value must exclude Value Added Tax (VAT) but must include all 

other taxes and duties. 

(vi) Periodic purchases for the same requirement, whether that is from the same or 
different suppliers, must be aggregated over a minimum of a 12 month period. 

(vii) Where ESPO / ESPO Clients contribute to the total value of a Contract, it is the 
total Estimated Value that should be applied in determining the correct 

procedures to be applied under these Rules. 

(c) Where there is any doubt as to the Estimated Value then the procedure for the higher 
threshold in Rule 11 must be used. 

RULE 11 

Procurement Exercise Process 

(a) Based on the Estimated Value, as identified in Rule 10, Table 1 below makes 
provision for the minimum requirements for the subsequent Procurement Exercise.  
 

(b)  Details of oral Quotations must be confirmed in writing. 

(c) These are total contract spend estimates equalling total contract value over the term of the 
contract. 

 

Table 1: Minimum requirements for a Procurement Exercise (for exceptions see Rule 6) 

 

165



 

 

Estimated Contract 

Value  Procurement 

Process 

Minimum Contract 

Opportunity 

Publication 

Documentation 

From (£) Up to (£) 

£0 £,5,000 

Obtain a minimum of 

one oral/written 

Quotation 

None Record details 

Above 

£5,000 
£25,000 

Seek to obtain a 

minimum of 3 written 

Quotations  

 

When inviting 

quotations officers 

should consider the 

benefits of including a 

local supplier in the 

invitation to quote 

where appropriate or 

applicable to the 

Contract1. 

Record details.  (If 

three Quotations 

cannot be obtained a 

record of the reasons 

for this must be agreed 

in consultation with the 

appropriate 

Procurement Service 

Manager). 

 

 

Above 

£25,000 

Up to but not 

including 

£189,330 

Seek written 

Quotations  

(to be based on a 

Request for Quotation 

document where 

practical) 

 

For exceptions see 

Rule 6 (b) 

Contracts Finder and a 

website approved by 

the Director of ESPO 

for the purpose of 

notifying the supply 

market. 

Request for Quotation 

issued by the Procuring 

Officer and Quotations 

received. 

Equal to or 

Above 

£189,330 

To the 

relevant EU 

Threshold 

Formal Tender Process 

The UK e-notification 

service where required, 

Contracts Finder and 

on a website approved 

by the Director of 

ESPO for the purpose 

of notifying the supply 

market 

Formal Tender and 

sealed bids should be 

submitted via an 

electronic tendering 

system, see Rule 5 (g) 

(ii)  

Relevant 

EU 

Threshold 

Above Formal Tender Process 

The UK e-notification 

service required, 

Contracts Finder and 

on a website approved 

by the Director of 

ESPO for the purpose 

of notifying the supply 

market 

Formal Tender and 

sealed bids should be 

submitted via an 

electronic tendering 

system, see Rule 5 (g) 

(ii) 

 

RULE 12 

Suitability Assessment and Award Evaluation Criteria 

(a) ESPO shall not include a pre-qualification questionnaire stage where the value of the 

procurement is below the EU Threshold set out in Reg 5 (1) (c) of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015. Below the EU Threshold only Suitability Assessment 

                                            
1
 ESPO cannot give preference to local suppliers, as there are legislative constraints and such a policy would be 

incompatible with Best Value.  However, ESPO recognises that that there can be barriers limiting or restricting the 
ability of smaller suppliers to compete for ESPO business.  ESPO will seek to reduce the impact of such barriers, 
where it can do so legally, without discrimination, and without placing unacceptable levels of risk on ESPO. 

166



 

 

Questions may be asked. A standard form of Suitability Assessment Questions must 
be used.  

(b) In a Procurement Exercise with an Estimated Value equal to or greater than the EU 
Threshold both selection and award criteria must be included.  A Standard Selection 

Questionnaire or the European Single Procurement Document must be used for the 
selection criteria;  

 (c) Selection criteria must be included in the evaluation process where applying the Open 

Tendering procedure (Rule 15) or must be the only criteria used for the shortlisting 
methodology where applying the Restricted procedure (Rule 16). 

 

RULE 13 

Award Methodology and Evaluation Criteria 

(a) The award criteria shall be based on the most economically advantageous Tender 
from ESPO’s point of view.  That Tender shall be identified on the basis of price or 

cost, using a cost-effectiveness approach, such as Life Cycle Costing and may include 
the best price-quality ratio which shall be assessed on the basis of the criteria, such 
as qualitative, environmental and/or social aspects or any other criteria linked to the 

subject-matter of the Contract in question.  

 (b) Before a Contract can be awarded following an Open Tender procedure the supplier 

must meet the minimum standard for the selection criteria included in the evaluation 
process.  

(c) In the case of a Procurement Exercise with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more 
the process for identifying the most economically advantageous Tender, including 
selection and award criteria, must be agreed in consultation with the appropriate 

Procurement Service Manager/ESPO Client and included in the RFQ/Invitation to 
Tender and a copy retained on file.   

 (d) The Procuring Officer must notify all Tenderers of the award methodology and 
evaluation criteria and any sub-criteria being used in the case of the Contract in 
question. If weightings are to be applied to the criteria and any sub-criteria then the 

Procuring Officer must ensure that these are also incorporated into the Invitation to 
Tender. 

 

RULE 14 

Contract Opportunity Publication 

(a) Unless otherwise agreed by the Director of ESPO the Procuring Officer must ensure, 
for all Procurement Exercises with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more but less 

than the relevant EU Threshold, that public notice is given on a website approved by 
the Director of ESPO for the purpose of notifying the supply market. 

(b) All Procurement Exercises within the Estimated Value of £25,000 or more must be 

advertised on Contracts Finder within 24 hours of the time when the Procurement 
Exercise is advertised in any other way.  Procurement Exercises over the relevant EU 

Threshold must be advertised on the UK e-notification service known as Find a 
Tender Service (FTS) and on Contracts Finder.  

167



 

 

(c) For all proposed Contracts which are advertised where the Estimated Value is below 
the EU Threshold, a period of at least ten working days should be allowed between 

the date when an Invitation to Tender becomes available to all bidders and either: 

 (i)  the deadline for receipt of Tenders where an Open Tendering procedure is being 

used; or  

 (ii) the deadline for receipt of the Standard Selection Questionnaire or the European 
Single Procurement Document, where a Restricted Tendering procedure is being 

used.   

(d) The Contract Opportunity Publication must express the nature and purpose of the 

Procurement Exercise, stating where further details may be obtained, how and to 
whom an interested supplier is to respond and any other requirements such as 
suitability requirements or explanatory information.   

(e) If the Estimated Value exceeds the relevant EU Threshold the Procuring Officer must 
ensure that the Contract Opportunity Publication is first published on the UK e-

notification service known as Find a Tender Service (FTS) and then on a website 
approved by the Director of ESPO for the purpose of notifying the supply market and 
in Contracts Finder.  

(f) A Procurement Exercise that is equal to or more than the EU Threshold for Light-
Touch Services must be procured in compliance with Chapter 3, Section 7 of the 

Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  

(g) Where a contract opportunity is equal to or greater than the EU Threshold a Contract 

Opportunity Publication should not appear in any form before publication on the UK e-
notification service and neither should any advertisement contain any more 
information than that published on the UK e-notification service known as Find a 

Tender Service (FTS). 

(h) The advertising requirements set out in this Rule 14 are minimum requirements and 

do not preclude further Contract Opportunity Publication where appropriate (e.g. in 
the local newspaper, trade or professional journal, the ESPO website). 

 

PROCUREMENT PROCESS 

RULE 15 

Open Tendering 

Under Open Tendering, the Procuring Officer must send Invitations to Tender to all those 
Persons who respond to the Contract Opportunity Publication and who meet the 

requirements stated therein.  Where the opportunity has been advertised via the 
electronic tendering system the Invitation to Tenders and all supporting documents must 

be made available in the system for all interested parties to access subject to 
confidentiality agreement where applicable. 

 

RULE 16 

Restricted Tendering 

168



 

 

 (a) Subject to Rule 16 (b), this Rule applies to Tenders where the Estimated Value is 
equal to or exceeds the EU Threshold. 

(b) Where the services being tendered are Light-Touch Services the Procuring Officer 
may choose to use this Restricted Tendering procedure but is not required to.  

(c) Under Restricted Tendering, the Procuring Officer need only send Invitations to 
Tender to: 

(i) not less than five of the Persons who respond to the Contract Opportunity 

Publication and who best meet the shortlisting methodology agreed in Rule 
12(c); or 

(ii) where fewer than five Persons have applied or are considered suitable, to all 
those Persons who equal or exceed the minimum requirements for the 
shortlisting methodology agreed in Rule 12(c). 

(d)  The shortlisting criteria and process must be prepared (in consultation with any ESPO 
Client) in advance of the issue of the Standard Selection Questionnaire or the 

European Single Procurement Document and a copy retained on file. 

(e) All Persons that do not qualify for inclusion on the shortlist to receive an Invitation to 
Tender must receive notice that they have been excluded from the Procurement 

Exercise.  Any Person requesting in writing the reasons why they were unsuccessful 
shall be informed by the Procuring Officer of the reasons for ESPO/ESPO Client 

decision. 

 

RULE 17 

Negotiated Procedure, Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, Competitive 
Dialogue Procedure and Innovation Partnership Procedure  

The Negotiated Procedure, Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, Competitive Dialogue 
Procedure and Innovation Partnership Procedure must only be used with the prior approval of 

the Director of Law and Governance and the Director of Corporate Resources.  Competitive 
Procedure with Negotiation or Competitive Dialogue can only be used when criteria under PCR 
Reg. 26(4) are met.  

Rule 17A 

Concession Contracts  

Procuring Officers must only establish Concession Contracts with prior consultation of the 
Director of Law and Governance and with the prior approval of the Director of Corporate 
Resources in the case of above the EU threshold. 

[Note: A short briefing note for the approval of the Director of Corporate Resources, in 
consultation with the Director of Law and Governance, is required to justify: the use of the 

Negotiated Procedure, Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, Competitive Dialogue 
Procedure, Innovation Partnership Procedure or the procurement of a Concession Contract.]  

 

RULE 18 

Invitations to Tender 

169



 

 

(a) Every Invitation to Tender must specify the latest day and hour and the place 
appointed for the receipt of Tenders and must state the effect of Rule 19. 

(b) Procuring Officers must give all Tenderers the same information about the 
Procurement Exercise and in particular information relating to the tender process, 

specification, award methodology and evaluation criteria and the terms and 
conditions of the Contract or Framework agreement.  

c) Procuring Officers must also give all Tenderers the same information relating to 

questions, answers and clarifications raised during the Procurement Exercise unless 
they relate solely to another Person’s Tender. 

(d) All Procurement Exercises equal to or greater than £25,000 shall be handled via an 
Electronic Tendering System where possible. Only in exceptional cases may a 
Procurement Exercise be undertaken not using an Electronic Tendering System.  

Paper Tenders must be submitted to, addressed to and opened by the Director of 
ESPO.  

 (e) Where an Electronic Tendering System is not available and paper Tenders are to be 
received by the Director of ESPO, the Procuring Officer must send to the Director of ESPO a 
note of the subject and the closing date and time and (where appropriate) a list of the 

Persons invited to tender together with the Estimated Value before the closing date for 
receipt of Tenders. 

 

RULE 19 

Irregular Tenders 

(a) An Irregular Tender must not be accepted by either the Director of ESPO or the 
Procuring Officer, other than in accordance with this Rule. 

(b) A Tender is not valid unless it has been either submitted via an Electronic Tendering 
System or in the case paper tenders delivered to the place appointed in accordance 

with Rule 18 and not later than the appointed day and hour. 

(c) Tenders other than E-Tenders where the Estimated Value is equal to or greater than 
£189,330 are not valid unless they are received in a plain sealed envelope or parcel 

addressed to the Director of ESPO.  The envelope or package must bear the word 
“Tender” followed by the subject to which it relates.  

(d) E-Tenders must be submitted in accordance with the requirements of the Electronic 
Tendering System used.  

(e) Where a Tender has been received which is an Irregular Tender in that it does not 

fully comply with the instructions given in the Invitation to Tender and/or because it 
is received after the appointed time for receipt or does not comply with Rules 19(b) 

or 19(c), the provisions of Rules 19(f) and 19(g) apply. 

(f) A Tender other than an E-Tender which is received after the closing date and time 
can be opened and evaluated in accordance with Rule 20 if there is clear evidence of 

it having:- 

(i)  been posted by first class post at least a day before the closing date; OR 

(ii) been posted by second class post at least three days before the closing date; 
OR 

170



 

 

(iii) been placed in the custody of a courier who has provided written assurance of 
delivery prior to the closing date and time. 

(g) If in other cases of Irregular Tenders the Director of ESPO, in consultation with the 
Director of Law and Governance, considers that there are exceptional circumstances 

and that the Tenderer who submitted the Irregular Tender has gained no advantage 
from its irregularity he or she may determine to accept the Irregular Tender and 
authorise that it be opened and evaluated together with any other Tenders in 

accordance with Rule 20.  The Director of ESPO shall record in writing the reasons 
why each Irregular Tender has been accepted or rejected. 

(h) Irregular Tenders that the Director of ESPO has rejected under this Rule must be 
returned to the Tenderer by the Director of ESPO with a covering letter stating the 
reason for their rejection. 

 

RULE 20 

Receipt and Opening of Tenders 

(a) Rule 20 (b) to (f) apply only to Tenders where the Estimated Value is equal to or 
greater than £189,330 and the Tender is not an E-Tender. Rule 20 (g) applies to E-

Tenders only.   

(b) On receipt of non-electronic Tenders, envelopes containing the Tenders must be date 

and time stamped by the Director of ESPO and shall remain in his custody until they 
are opened.   

(c)  The Director of ESPO must keep a record of all non-electronic Tenders received. 

(d) Tenders must be opened at one time in the presence of not less than two Officers one 
of whom is not involved in the Procurement Exercise and who is designated by the 

Director of ESPO.  Each Officer must initial each Tender once opened which must also 
be date stamped. 

(e) Particulars of all Tenders opened must be entered by the Director of ESPO upon the 
record which must be signed by the Officers present at the opening, together with a 
note of all irregular Tenders. 

(f) The Director of ESPO must forthwith send a copy of the record to the appropriate 
Procuring Officer (with the Tenders) and must retain a copy himself. 

(g) E-Tenders must be opened in accordance with the requirements of the Electronic 
Tendering System used.  

 

RULE 21 

Errors or Discrepancies in Tenders 

(a) Tenderers are not allowed to alter their Tenders after opening save in accordance 
with this Rule or Rule 22. 

(b)  Where it is suspected that there has been an error in a Tender and following the 

closing date for receipt of Tenders but before acceptance of any Tender discussions 
may take place with Tenderers in order to: 

171



 

 

(i) ensure that the Tender is constructed correctly; or 

(ii) ensure that the Tenderer has fully understood the specification; or 

(iii) seek clarification from Tenderers of cost, quality and performance indicators. 

(c) A written note of the discussions must be made by the Procuring Officer to record the 

suspected error, date, time, detail of the discussion and any agreement reached. 

 

RULE 22 

Discussions and Post Tender Negotiations 

(a) In the case where the Estimated Value is below the EU Threshold, the Procuring 

Officer in consultation with the appropriate Procurement Service Manager may carry 
out Post Tender Negotiations with the Tenderer submitting the most competitive 
Tender in an attempt to secure improvements in the price or economic advantage in 

one or more of the following circumstances: 

(i) where the most competitive Tender (according to the pre-determined award 

methodology and evaluation criteria) submitted exceeds the Estimated Value; 

(ii) where it is considered that the price of the most competitive Tender submitted 
does not represent the Best Value for money that can reasonably be obtained; 

(iii) where Tenders have been invited only on the basis of unit prices or a schedule 
of rates and the lowest in aggregate is not the lowest on all items; 

(iv) where the most competitive Tender contains conditions, trading terms, 
guarantees, or provisions relating to performance or service delivery less 

favourable than in other Tenders, or than stipulated for and this defect appears 
capable of being remedied by Post Tender Negotiations. 

 (b) When conducting Post Tender Negotiations, the following additional rules shall apply: 

  (i) At no time during the negotiations must a Tenderer be informed of the detail of 
any other Tender submitted or as to whether or not the Tender he submitted 

was the lowest. 

  (ii) During negotiations in person there must always be present at least two Officers 
or ESPO Client officers. 

  (iii) A note of the negotiations will be made by one of the officers referred to in the 
proceeding rule present recording those present, the time and location of the 

negotiations, detail of the discussion and any agreement reached. 

  (iv) Post Tender Negotiations shall not enable any material departure from the 
published specification.  The Director of Law and Governance shall determine 

whether any proposed change to the specification constitutes a material 
departure. 

(c) Post Tender Negotiations are not allowed in the case of Contracts with an Estimated 
Value exceeding the relevant EU threshold. However, clarifications of errors or 
discrepancies in Tenders may take place in accordance with Rule 21. 

 

172



 

 

 

AWARD OF CONTRACT 

RULE 23 

Acceptance of Tenders 

(a) A Tender can only be accepted in accordance with the initial award methodology and 
evaluation criteria as set out in Rule 13.  Any evaluation sheets must be maintained 
on file in accordance with Rule 33. 

(b) Any Tender with an Estimated Value of below £25,000 (where a Request for 
Quotation or an Invitation to Tender is not used) may only be accepted with the prior 

written approval of the Director of ESPO. 

(c) If the Tender to be accepted exceeds the budget which was agreed in accordance 
with Rule 5(f) the Procuring Officer must ensure that sufficient funds are available 

and approved by the ESPO Client, appropriate budget holder, Director of ESPO, or the 
ESPO Management Committee as appropriate, prior to accepting the Tender. 

(d) Where an abnormally low Tender is submitted ESPO shall require the Tenderer to 
explain in writing the price or costs proposed and may only reject the Tender where 
the explanation is unsatisfactory. Where it is established that the Tender is low due to 

breaches of environmental, social or labour law, ESPO must reject the Tender.  

(e) Subject to Rule 1, the Director of ESPO shall have the authority to accept a Tender 

but in any particular circumstance may decline to give approval and refer the decision 
to the ESPO Management Committee to determine. 

 

RULE 24 

Notification of Contract Award 

(a) The Procuring Officer must notify the successful Tenderer of the acceptance of their 
Tender and for all Procurement Exercises with an Estimated Value of £5,000 or more 

this notification must be in writing. 

(b) In the case where the Estimated Value is £25,000 or more the Procuring Officer must 
notify in writing all Tenderers who submitted a Tender of the decision as soon as 

possible after the decision has been made.  

(c) Where a Contract with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more is awarded ESPO must 

publish information as required by the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 on 
Contracts Finder within 90 calendar days of the date the Contract was awarded. 

(d) In the case where the Estimated Value is equal to or greater than the relevant EU 

Threshold the following additional Rules will apply:   

 (i) The notice in rule 24 (b) shall include the award criteria, the reasons for the 

decision, including the successful Tenderer’s score, the score (if any) of the 
Tenderer receiving the notice, and the characteristics and (if appropriate) 
relative advantages of the successful Tenderer’s Tender, any reasons why the 

recipient of the notice did not meet the technical specification, the name of the 
Tenderer awarded the Contract, as well as the date when the standstill period 

required in accordance with Rule 24 (d) (ii) will come to an end. 

173



 

 

 (ii) A minimum period of 10 calendar days must elapse between the day of 
sending the notice in Rule 24 (b) and the date on which ESPO/ESPO Client 

enter into a Contract if the notice is sent electronically.  Where the notice is 
sent by other means then either 15 days from the day of sending the notice or 

10 days from the day of receipt of the notice by the last Tenderer to receive 
the notice must elapse.  In all cases counting the day after sending the notice 
as day 1.  The standstill period must end on a working day. 

(iii) The Procuring Officer shall ensure that a UK e-notification service contract 
award notice known as Find a Tender Service (FTS)is placed within 30 days of 

the Contract award where required.  In the case where Contracts are awarded 
under the regime covering Light-Touch services or Dynamic Purchasing 
System, award notices may be grouped together in accordance with regulation 

74 for Light-Touch Services and regulation 50 (5) for Dynamic Purchasing 
Systems. 

(iv)    For every Contract or Framework Agreement covered by the Public Contract 
Regulations and every time a Dynamic Purchasing System is established, the 
Procuring Officer shall draw up a written report in accordance with the 

requirements outlined in regulation 84 of PCR.   

 

RULE 25 

Form of Contract 

(a) A Contract shall be formed: 

(i) by exchange of letter or electronic communication accepting the successful 
Tender and incorporating the Invitation to Tender or Request for Quotation and 

the outcome of any subsequent negotiations and discussions; or 

(ii) by completion of a formal Contract incorporating the Invitation to Tender or 

Request for Quotation, the Tender or Quotation and the outcome of any 
subsequent negotiations and/or discussions; or 

(iii) by placing an order in accordance with Rule 26. 

(b) In determining and negotiating the terms and conditions of Contract, the Procuring 
Officer must ensure that the appropriate Standard Terms and Conditions are 

incorporated unless the Procuring Officer having consulted the Director of ESPO and 
the Director of Law and Governance considers it inappropriate to do so. 

(c) All Contracts with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more must be in writing and 

where appropriate the Director of ESPO shall: 

(i) ensure that the Contract includes a definition of the circumstances that will be 

considered to constitute a default on the terms of the Contract by the supplier.  
The Contract must provide for notice of default to be given to the supplier and 
for any resulting losses to be recovered from the supplier if the default is not 

rectified. 

(ii) decide whether it is necessary to require suppliers to provide a Performance 

Bond with a third party. The need for this will depend on an assessment of the 
risk associated with the Contract or the supplier. 

174



 

 

(iii) ensure that the Contract provides for the supplier to have insurance policies, 
which can be inspected during the Contract period. The Director of ESPO shall 

be consulted on the insurance requirements. 

 [Note: Insurance Levels (which may be amended for a specific Procurement 

Exercise, where appropriate, and agreed by the Procuring Officer with the Servicing 
Authority’s Insurance Manager): 

o [£10m] Employers’ liability (any one occurrence)* 

o [£10m] Public Liability Insurance (any one occurrence) 

o [£2m] Professional indemnity insurance (any one claim and in the aggregate)] 

o [£10m] Product liability insurance (any one occurrence and in the aggregate)] 

o [£2m] Cyber security insurance (any one claim and in the aggregate)] 

*Employers’ liability insurance is only required for those organisations who employ 

staff 

To vary the insurance levels for a particular Procurement Exercise approval must be 

gained from the Servicing Authority’s Insurance Manager, or the ESPO Client 
Insurance Manager as appropriate.] 

(iv) consult the Director of ESPO on the appropriate VAT requirements. 

[Note: Should any advice on VAT be required for a particular Procurement Exercise, 
contact the Servicing Authority’s Technical Accountant - Taxation Co-ordinator] 

(d) Every Contract must be signed (by electronic means or otherwise) by the Director of 
ESPO or an Officer designated and in cases determined by the Director of Law and 

Governance or where otherwise required in law, shall be under the Common Seal of 
the County Council in a form prepared or approved by the Director of Law and 
Governance. 

(e) Except after consultation with the Director of Law and Governance, works or services 
must not be authorised to commence or goods to be supplied where such works, 

services or goods are to be the subject of a Contract under seal until the Director of 
Law and Governance has advised that the Contract has been signed by the supplier. 

(f)   The Procuring Officer shall comply with the General Data Protection Regulation 

(GDPR) and Data Protection Act 2018 requirements and shall include in the contract 
appropriate provisions. 

(g)  The Procuring Officer shall ensure the contract includes a Right to Audit Clause. 

 

RULE 26 

Orders for work, goods and services 

Orders for work, goods and services must only be placed in accordance with 

Instruction 8 of the Standard Financial Instructions. 

175



 

 

STANDING LISTS 

RULE 27 

Standing Lists 

(a) Standing Lists must not be created or added to without the prior written approval of 

the Director of ESPO in consultation with the appropriate Procurement Service 
Manager. 

(b) The Procuring Officer must not use a Standing List where the Total Value of Contracts 

to be awarded using the Standing List is estimated to exceed the relevant EU 
Threshold. 

(c) The Standing List must contain the names of all Persons who are approved and 
indicate the categories of Contract and the values or amounts in respect of those 
categories for which those Persons are approved. 

(d) At least four weeks before a list is first compiled, the Procuring Officer must publish 
on a website approved by the Director of ESPO for the purpose of notifying the supply 

market, a Contract Opportunity Publication inviting applications by a specified date 
for inclusion in it. 

(e) The Procuring Officer must renew all Standing Lists at intervals not exceeding four 

years.  At least four weeks before each renewal, each Person whose name appears in 
the list must be notified by the Procuring Officer of the intention to review the list.  If 

they wish to remain on the list they must re-apply for inclusion. The Procuring Officer 
must ensure that the Contract Opportunity Publication inviting applications for 

inclusion in the list are published in the manner provided by Rule 27(d). 

(f) In the case where the use of a Standing List has been authorised the Procuring 
Officer must send Invitations to Tender to not less than four of the Persons from 

among those approved for a Contract of the relevant category and amount or value.  
Where fewer than four Persons are approved for a Contract of the relevant category 

and amount or value Invitations to Tender shall be sent to no fewer than three 
Persons.  Where there are fewer than three Persons the procedure for Standing Lists 
must not be used unless the appropriate Procurement Service Manager advises 

otherwise. 

(g) The Procuring Officer in consultation with the appropriate Procurement Service 

Manager shall determine the criteria for selecting Persons from the list. 

(h) In such circumstances as the Director of ESPO shall determine, the Procuring Officer 
shall provide such information as shall reasonably be necessary of the extent to which 

Standing Lists have been utilised. 

 

FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS 

RULE 28 

Framework Agreements 

(a) The Procuring Officer must establish all Framework Agreements in accordance with 
these Rules. 

176



 

 

(b) Framework Agreements must not be awarded for more than 4 years, including any 
extensions without the prior written consent of the Director of ESPO following 

consultation with the Director of Law and Governance. 

(c) All suppliers on the Framework Agreement capable of performing the Contract must 

be invited to participate in a Further Competition unless it is clear from the terms of 
the Framework Agreement which supplier best meets the award methodology set out 
in the Framework Agreement in which case that supplier may be selected provided 

the Procuring Officer can demonstrate value for money.  Direct Award on frameworks 
must be first discussed with a relevant Procurement Service Manager before 

proceeding if the value exceeds the threshold. 

(d) Additional suppliers may only be added to a Framework Agreement or Dynamic 
Purchasing System throughout its duration in circumstances where:  

 (i) the Estimated Value is below the EU Threshold; 

 (ii) the services tendered are Light-Touch Services to which the full regime of the 

Public Contracts Regulations 2015 is not considered to apply  

(iii) and in either case ((i) or (ii) above) provided that the Invitation to Tender states: 

(aa) that new suppliers may be added to the Framework Agreement and; 

(bb) how many suppliers can apply to be added to the Framework Agreement 
and; 

(cc) that the same evaluation criteria and award methodology are applied when 
deciding whether to award a place on the Framework Agreement to new 

suppliers as were applied at the time of the original award. 

 

RULE 29 

Dynamic Purchasing Systems 

The Procuring Officer must only establish Dynamic Purchasing Systems with the prior 

written approval of the Director of ESPO and in accordance with the requirements of the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and these Rules where appropriate. 

 

CONTRACT AMENDMENTS 

RULE 30 

Contract Modifications and Extensions  

Contract Modifications 

(a)  Subject to Rule 30(b) below, Contracts may be modified where the value of the 

modification is;  

(i) below the current EU Threshold for service/supply/works Contracts; and  

(ii) is less than 10% of the initial Contract value for service and supply Contracts 
and less than 15% of the initial Contract value for works Contracts. 

177



 

 

(b)  The Director of ESPO in consultation with the appropriate Procurement Service 
Manager shall be authorised to modify the Contract in accordance with Rule 30(a) 

above provided: 

(i) the modification does not alter the overall nature of the Contract; and 

(ii) where there is, or has been more than one modification, the value shall be 
the net cumulative value of all modifications for the purpose of Rule 30(a) 
above. 

(c)  A modification over 10% of the initial Contract value requires prior approval from the 
Director of ESPO, the Director of Law and Governance and the Director of Corporate 

Resources if above the EU threshold. 

(d)  Prior to any modification being agreed which would result in an increase in the Total 
Value of the Contract the Procuring Officer must ensure that sufficient additional 

budget provision has been approved by the budget holder. 

Contract Extensions 

(e)  Where a Contract Extension has been provided for both in the Initial Procurement 
Documents and in the Contract in clear and precise terms then the Director of ESPO 
or any Officer with delegated authority under Rule 2 shall be authorised to extend the 

Contract in consultation with the appropriate Procurement Service Manager. 

(f)  For the purpose of this Rule 30 “Initial Procurement Documents” shall mean any 

notice, UK e-notification service notice known as Find a Tender Service (FTS), 
Request for Quotation, Invitation to Tender or Specification. 

(g)  Where the Initial Procurement Documents and/or the Contract does not provide for 
an extension the Director of ESPO in consultation with the appropriate Procurement 
Service Manager shall consider the extension as a modification to the Contract and 

shall only be authorised to extend the Contract in accordance with Rules 30(a) and 
30(b) above. 

(h)  In all other circumstances and where Rule 30(e) and 30(g) above do not apply, the 
Director of ESPO in consultation with the appropriate Procurement Service Manager 
and the Director of Law and Governance must gain the prior approval of the Director 

of Corporate Resources.  This authorisation must be issued before the extension is 
carried out. 

(i) Prior to any extension being agreed which would result in an increase in the 
Total Value of the Contract the Procuring Officer must ensure that sufficient 
additional budget provision has been approved by the budget holder. 

 

RULE 31 

Novation of Existing Contracts 

The novation of a Contract to a new Person irrespective of value requires the prior written 
approval of the Director of ESPO in consultation with the Director of Law and Governance. 

 

 

178



 

 

RULE 32 

Early Termination of Contracts 

Unless a provision for early termination is clearly stated in the Contract the Procuring 
Officer shall seek advice from the Director of Law and Governance where it is intended to 

terminate a Contract early.  Where the Total Value of the Contract is equal to £189,330 or 
more the prior written approval of the Director of ESPO shall also be obtained. 

 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

RULE 33 

Document Retention 

(a) All Contract records that might be required in court proceedings must be retained for 
at least six years and any under seal for at least twelve years from expiry of the 

Contract. 

(b) Where the Contract is externally funded any contingent liabilities and/or grant 

conditions must be taken account of by the length of the retention period. 

 

RULE 34 

Supervision of Contracts by Third Parties 

(a) The Procuring Officer shall ensure that it is a condition of any Contract between ESPO 

and any Person (not being an Officer of ESPO) who is involved in a Procurement 
Exercise or the management of a Contract on behalf of ESPO that in relation to that 

Contract he or she must comply with the requirements of these Rules and other 
reasonable requirements of ESPO.  

(b) Such Person must: 

(i) at any time during the carrying out of the Contract produce to the Director of 
ESPO or his representative or an officer with delegated authority or ESPO 

Auditor on request all records maintained by him or her in relation to the 
Contract; and 

(ii) on completion of the Contract transmit all records to the Director of ESPO or an 

officer with delegated authority. 

 

RULE 35 

Nominated Sub-Contractors and Suppliers 

(a) Where a sub-contractor or supplier is to be nominated by ESPO/ESPO Client to a 

main contractor, the provisions of these Rules shall have effect. 

(b) The terms of an Invitation to Tender under Rule 18 must require an undertaking by 

the Tenderer that, if selected, they will be willing to enter into a Contract with the 
main contractor on terms which indemnify the main contractor against their own 

179



 

 

obligations under the main Contract in relation to the work, supplies or services 
included in the sub-contract. 

180



 

 

SCHEDULE 1 

Interpretation 

1. “Best Value” means the duty of ESPO to secure continuous improvement in the way in 
which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency 

and effectiveness. 

2. The “Chief Executive” is the Chief Executive Officer of the Servicing Authority, 
Leicestershire County Council. 

3. “Concession Contract’’ means a works concession Contract or services concession Contract 
for a pecuniary interest concluded in writing by means of which the concessionaire is 

entrusted to execute works  or provide and manage services (other than the execution of 
works) to one or more economic operators, the consideration for which consists either 
solely in the right to exploit the works or the services that are the subject of the Contract 

or in that right together with payment; and that meets the requirements of Regulation 
3(4) of the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 (CCR 2016). 

Regulation 3(4) of the CCR 2016 further defines the necessary characteristics of the 
arrangement for the purposes of the regime, which are:  

 
(i) the award of the Contract must transfer to the contractor the operating 

risk in exploiting the works or services encompassing demand or supply 

risk or both; and  

(ii) the part of the risk transferred to the concessionaire involves real 

exposure to the vagaries of the market, such that any potential estimated 

loss incurred by the concessionaire is not merely nominal or negligible. 

4. “Concession Contracts Regulations 2016” means the Concession Contracts Regulations 

2016   as amended, consolidated, extended, re-enacted or replaced. These Regulations 

implement Directive 2014/25/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on Public 

Procurement. 

5. “Contract’’ means a binding agreement between two or more parties for performing, or 
refraining from performing, some specified act(s) in exchange for lawful consideration. 

6. “Contract Extension’’ means an extension to the duration of the Contract, but not including 

any alteration to the scope of the Contract. 

7. “Contracts Finder” means the web-based portal provided for the purposes of Part 4 of the 

Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  

8. “Contract Opportunity Publication” is the means by which a Procurement Exercise is 
advertised and includes (where appropriate) the ‘Contract Notice’ and Contracts Finder as 

defined in the Public Contract Regulations 2015. 

9. “Contract Modification’’ means an alteration to the scope of the Contract, but not the 

extension of the duration of the Contract.10. “Council’’ means Leicestershire County 
Council. 

10. “Council’’ means Leicestershire County Council. 

 

181



 

 

11 “Direct Employee: a person who works as an employee of ESPO and is paid a salary by it, 
rather than being employed through an agency or other third party”. 

12. The “Director of Corporate Resources” is the Director of Corporate Resources of the 
Servicing Authority, Leicestershire County Council, except in the case of a procurement 

exercise conducted exclusively for an ESPO Client other than the Servicing Authority, 
where the advice or authority required under these Contract Procedure Rules has been 
obtained from the equivalent officer(s) of that ESPO Client. 

13. The “Director of Law and Governance” is the Director of Law and Governance of the 
Servicing Authority, Leicestershire County Council, except in the case of a procurement 

exercise conducted exclusively for an ESPO Client other than the Servicing Authority, 
where the advice or authority required under these Contract Procedure Rules has been 
obtained from the equivalent officer(s) of that ESPO Client.   

14.“Dynamic Purchasing System” means a completely electronic process, which has a limited 
duration, for making commonly used purchases, as more particularly defined and 

described in the Public Contract Regulations 2015. 

15.“Electronic Tendering System” means an electronic tendering system approved in 
accordance with Rule 5 (g) (ii). 

 16. The “ESPO Management Committee” is a joint committee appointed by ESPO’s member  
authorities with the purpose of managing ESPO in accordance with Section 102 of the 

Local Government Act 1972. The committee comprises an equal number of elected 
members from each member authority. 

17. “ESPO Client” means one or more ESPO member authorities and/or other contracting 
authorities, for which ESPO is managing a procurement process. 

18.“Estimated Value” means the value as estimated under Rule 10. 

19.“EU Threshold’’ means the respective threshold for Services, Supplies, Works or Light-
Touch Services contracts referred to in the Public Contract Regulations 2015 and the 

Concession Contracts Regulations 2016. 

20.“E-Tender” means a Tender that has been submitted using an Electronic Tendering 
System.  

21.“Formal Tender Process” is a process following the requirements of Open Tendering, 
Restricted Tendering, Standing List, Negotiated Procedure, Competitive Procedure with 

Negotiation, Competitive Dialogue or Innovation Partnership Procedure and Formal 
Tender shall be construed accordingly. 

22.“Framework Agreement’’ is a general term for agreements with suppliers which set out 

terms and conditions under which specific purchases (call-offs) can be made throughout 
the term of the agreement. The Framework Agreement may, itself, be a contract to 

which the EU procurement directive and Public Contracts Regulations 2015 apply. 

23.   A “Further Competition’’ is undertaken where not all the terms of a proposed Contract 
are laid down in a Framework Agreement.  It involves re-opening competition between 

the economic operators which are parties to the Framework Agreement and which are 
capable of performing the proposed Contract, on the basis of the same or, if necessary, 

more precisely formulated terms, and where appropriate other terms referred to in the 
Contract documents based on the Framework Agreement.  

182



 

 

24. “Invitation to Tender” means the document(s) containing the specification, proposed 
terms and conditions and other appropriate information as issued to the Tenderers to 

solicit Formal Tenders. 

25. “Irregular Tender” means a Tender that does not fully comply with the instructions given 

in the Invitation to Tender. 

26. “Life-Cycle Costing” means all or part of the following costs over the life-cycle of a 
product, service or works, to the extent that they are relevant: 

 (i) Costs of acquisition,  

 (ii) Costs of use, such as consumption of energy and other resources,  

 (iii) Maintenance costs,  

 (vi) End of life costs, such as collection and recycling costs,  

 (v) Costs imputed to the environmental externalities linked to the product, service 

or works during its life cycle, provided their monetary value can be determined and 
verified. These costs may include the cost of emissions of greenhouse gases and of 

other pollutant emissions and other climate change mitigation costs.  

27. “Light-Touch Services” means those services referred to in regulation 74 and Schedule 3 
of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  

28. “Officer” means an employee of ESPO. 

29. “Person” includes a partnership, body corporate or unincorporated association. 

30. “Post Tender Negotiations” means the ability to negotiate with a Tenderer after a Tender 
has been opened and evaluated in accordance with the published evaluation criteria for 

the purposes of securing an improvement in the delivery of the Contract including but 
not limited to improvements in price. 

31. “Procurement Exercise” means any process by which goods, services and/or works are to 

be procured including but not limited to Request for Quotations and Formal Tender 
Processes.  For the purpose of these Rules a Contract for a Concession, a contract via a 

Framework Agreement/Dynamic Purchasing system shall be treated as a Procurement 
Exercise. 

32. “Procuring Officer” means any Officer, acting under the delegated powers of the Director 

of ESPO, who is responsible for the procurement of goods and services. 

33. “Procurement Service Manager” is the most senior Procurement Officer within an ESPO 

Category Team, and is responsible for managing the team. 

34. “Public Contracts Regulations 2015” means the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 as 
amended, modified, consolidated, extended, re-enacted or replaced.  These Regulations 

implement Directive 2014/24/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on Public 
Procurement. 

35. “Quotation” means an offer to sell works, goods and/or services at a stated price under 
specified conditions.  A Quotation may or may not be written.   

36. “Request for Quotation” (“RFQ”) means a document or documents containing the 

specification, and proposed terms and conditions issued to potential suppliers to solicit 
written Quotations. 

183



 

 

37. “Standard Terms and Conditions” means the standard contractual terms used by ESPO, 
including those attached to iprocurement orders (or orders generated by ‘line of 

business’ systems, those included in Request for Quotation templates, and standard 
industry terms. 

38. “Standard Selection Questionnaire” means a questionnaire that complies with the Crown 
Commercial Service statutory guidance relating to Standard Selection Questionnaires. 

39. “Standing List” means a list of Persons which has been established in accordance with 

Rule 27. 

40. “Suitability Assessment Question” means a question which relates to the subject matter 

of the procurement and is proportionate and which ESPO requires for assessing the 
Tenderers suitability. 

41. “Tender” means the formal offer from a Tenderer, which is capable of acceptance by 

ESPO/ESPO Client, which is a response to an Invitation to Tender.  It shall include all 
documents comprising the submission including pricing, technical specification and 

method statements as well as information about the Tenderer. A written Quote or 
Quotation is also a Tender. The term “Tender” also includes an E-Tender except where 
the context implies otherwise.  

42. “Tenderer” or “Tenderers” means the Person or Persons invited to participate in a 
Procurement Exercise. 

43. “Total Value” means the value of a Contract which has been calculated in accordance 
with Rule 10(b) reading where appropriate Total Value for Estimated Value. 

44  “UK e-notification service” known as “FTS” (Find a Tender Service) is defined in the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015 (as amended) 

45. “In writing” or “written” for the purpose of interpreting these Rules includes transmission 

by any electronic means which have been approved by the Director of Law and 
Governance in consultation with the Director of Corporate Resources. 

46. Words imparting the masculine include the feminine gender. 

47. “Rule(s)” means these Contract Procedure Rules as may be amended from time to time.  

[end of Contract Procedure Rules] 

184



 

 

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 15 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

PROGRESS UPDATE 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR 
 
Purpose of the Briefing Note 
 
1. The purpose of this update is to inform Management Committee of the actions 

and progress made since the last Management Committee meeting held on 
23 June 2021. 

 
Overall Financial Performance 
 
Financial Performance – 4 months to end of July 2021 
 
Summary 
 

 
 

 
2. Up to the end of July 2021, 4 months into the year, a surplus of £3.4m has 

been made which is £0.7m better than budget. Trading has remained 
strong after schools reopened more fully in early March 2021 and we have 
once again seen strong demand through our peak summer trading period. 

 

£m Actual 
B/(w) than 

Budget
B/(w) than LY

Stores Sales 19.0 1.0 3.5

Direct Sales 5.9 0.3 1.8

Rebate plus fee income 3.5 0.6 0.5

Total Sales (Exc Gas) 28.3 1.9 5.8

Stores Margin % 30.3% (1.0%) (0.0%)

Directs Margin % 15.6% 1.0% 0.8%

Total Gross Margin 10.8 0.8 1.8

Total Expenditure 7.4 (0.1) (1.0)

Trading Surplus 3.4 0.7 0.8

Trading Surplus % 10.2% 1.8% (1.2%)

Expenditure % of sales excl Gas 25.8% 1.3% 9.2%

Full Year Outturn - Estimate 

£m
Outturn

B/(w) than 

Budget
B/(w) than LY

ESPO 5.0 0.0 0.4

ETL/Eduzone 0.1 0.0 0.0

Full Year Surplus 5.1 0.0 0.4

Year to July 2021 – Period 4

185 Agenda Item 8



3. In our catalogue business, sales across virtually all categories have returned 
to more normal, pre-Covid levels. Across frameworks and rebates, the 
business continues to perform well and grow. 

 
4. The surplus is £0.8m better than last year, as a result of the Covid pandemic 

and last year’s national ‘Stay at Home’ order which saw most of our customer 
base close physical offices/schools to all except for key workers/children of 
key workers.  

 
5. Costs continue to be tightly controlled with expenditure of £7.4m slightly 

higher than budget due to the cost of servicing higher sales volumes. Staff 
costs are in line with budget overall. (Costs are significantly higher than last 
year due to additional warehouse and distribution costs needed to service the 
significantly greater level of sales). 

 
6. Trading through August has continued to be ok and mid-month is very slightly 

ahead of budget. However, we are mindful of the likely additional cost from 
the national pay award and also emerging risks to our margin from the threat 
of increases to product costs in some categories. Whilst optimistic, our 
guidance for the full year remains in line with the original budget, i.e. a 
£5.1m surplus for combined ESPO and ETL. 
 

Sales and Margin 

 

 

 
7. Total sales for the 4 months to July 2021 reached £28.3, which was £1.9m 

better than budget and £5.8m better than last year. Even though some 
government restrictions remained in place in the UK in spring/summer 2021, 
schools returning from 8th March 2021 resulted in trading returning to more 
normal levels.  

 
8. Stores sales were £19.0m and £1.0m / +5% better than budget. Sales across 

virtually all product categories are higher compared to last year and returning 
to more normal levels. Sales of Cleaning Materials and Protective Equipment 
are behind last year (-30%), reflecting the huge peak experienced last year 

£m

Stores Sales 19.0 1.0 3.5

Direct Sales 5.9 0.3 1.8

Rebate income 3.5 0.6 0.5

Total Sales 28.3 1.9 5.8

Stores Margin 5.7 30.3% 0.1 (1.0%) 1.1 (0.0%)

Directs Margin 0.9 15.6% 0.1 1.0% 0.3 0.8%

Rebate income 3.5 0.6 0.5

Gas Margin 0.1 2.4% (0.0) 0.0% (0.0) (0.9%)

Catalogue Advertising 0.6 0.0 (0.0)

Misc (0.0) (0.0) (0.0)

Total Gross Margin 10.8 32.6% 0.8 1.2% 1.8 (8.8%)

£m

Gas Sales 4.3 (0.4) 0.4

Gas Margin 0.1 2.4% (0.0) 0.0% (0.0) (0.9%)

Sales and Margin

Gas

Actual B/(w) than Budget B/(w) than LY

Actual B/(w) than Budget B/(w) than LY

186



from the customer response to the Covid pandemic.  These categories are 
however 20% ahead of 19/20 pre-Covid levels and we expect this trend to 
continue at least for the duration of this year as customers continue to employ 
enhanced cleaning routines. 

 
9. Our copier Paper category, with sales of £1,025k to date, sees sales being 

c14% lower than 2019/20 (a ‘normal’ year) and there remains a risk that this 
trend will continue through this year and beyond with the prevalence of 
remote working. We expect this risk to the sales budget (and MTFS) to be 
offset by growth in other categories.  

 
10. Reported gross profit margin % for Stores at 30.3% is slightly behind budget 

due to accounting timing adjustments. Looking ahead, we see some possible 
risk to gross profit margin from global challenges affecting our supply chain 
such as the lack of availability of shipping containers in the Far East and the 
continued impact of Covid (which, for example, has resulted in manufacturers 
and ports oversees suffering full or partial closures – including China’s 
Ningbo-Zhoushan Port, the third largest shipping port in the world suffering a 
partial closure in August 2021).  We are starting to see some requests from 
suppliers for price rises and there is a risk that in some cases these could be 
in excess of the sales price rises we applied in April.  

 
11. Global supply challenges also impacted stock availability, which averaged 

91.4% in July and ESPO finished July with outstanding back orders with value 
£0.4m. We are working with both customers and suppliers to manage this and 
expect a significant amount of this to be cleared prior to schools returning in 
late August/early September.  

 
12. These issues caused by global supply chain challenges affect the entire 

market, not just ESPO, and we have seen competitors affected in a similar 
way. We have been careful in keeping customers up to date and where 
necessary raising awareness of the issues in global supply.  

 
13. Directs sales were £5.9m and £0.3m better than budget. Customer 

purchasing of the bigger ticket items which are supplied directly via suppliers 
has started to return to normal with some pent-up demand being realised 
through April and May. Products within our ‘Sports and Leisure’ and our 
‘Parks and Amenities’ categories are performing particularly well linked to a 
government bodies encouraging the use of outdoor space and seeing greater 
usage. Furniture related sales remain slightly below pre-Covid levels (-11%) 
with some longer lead times currently seen – linked to the global supply chain 
challenges above. We don’t envisage a risk to the overall 21/22 budget. 

 
14. Reported gross profit margin % for Directs at 15.6% is largely in line with 

budget.  
 
15. Rebate income of £3.5m is £0.6m better than budget and continuing to 

perform very well with a wide range of frameworks offered. The Strategic HR 
Services framework continues to see strong demand as employers looked to 
support their staff teams both during the pandemic and in preparation for 
returning to the workplace in some format. Our Salt framework continues to 

187



benefit from the increased coverage of Highways England and a cold winter. 
Linked to Covid, our Total Cleaning Services Solution framework is also 
performing strongly.  

 
16. Our other income, from managing gas contracts, selling advertising space in 

the catalogue and misc income like bank interest are all largely in line with 
budget. 
 

17. Overall gross profit margin at £10.8m is £0.8m better than budget, with the 
increased sales from good trading flowing through into profit. 

 
 Expenditure 

 

 

 
18. Total expenditure of £7.4m was slightly greater than budget (+£0.1m) as a 

result of greater transport costs needed to service the greater sales volumes. 
We retain a continued focus on strong cost control across all areas. Costs are 
£1.0m higher than last year mainly from the cost of fulfilling the additional 
sales we have seen.  

 
19. Expenditure as a % of sales is one KPI which allows us to measure cost 

control in relation to sales. At July, and after 2 months, this KPI was 25.8%. 
This is better than budget and at July is particularly low as a result of our peak 
trading period taking place in July. In the coming months we will see this % 

Actual

B/(w) 

than 

budget

B/(w) 

than LY

4.2 0.1 (0.4)

0.5 (0.1) (0.1)

4.7 (0.0) (0.5)

0.9 (0.1) (0.3)

0.6 (0.0) (0.0)

0.1 0.0 (0.0)

0.5 (0.0) (0.1)

2.1 (0.1) (0.4)

0.1 (0.0) (0.0)

0.4 (0.0) (0.1)

0.1 0.0 0.0

0.6 (0.0) (0.1)

Total Overhead Expenses 2.7 (0.1) (0.5)

7.4 (0.1) (1.0)

25.8% 1.3% 9.2%

Sales & Marketing

Finance

Total

Overhead Expenses

Transport

Warehouse

Procurement

Expenditure

£m

Employee Costs

Staff

Agency/Contract

As % of Total Sales Excluding Gas

Total Expenditure

IT

Directorate

188



move to the c29% targeted for the full year driven by the timing of sales 
(rather than issues with cost control). 

 
ETL/Eduzone 
 

 
 

20. ETL and Eduzone are ESPOs limited companies which service the private 
sector. They are benefiting from a similar trading experience to ESPO and 
have seen sales ahead of budget and last year.  
 

21. Eduzone sales are benefitting from a significantly improved relationship with 
its main customer, where a greater proportion of their nurseries are now using 
us.  This benefit is partly offset by lower overseas sales within ETL as a result 
of Covid. 

 
22. Overall a breakeven position has been made to the end of June which is 

slightly ahead of budget. 
 

Full Year Expectation 
 
23. After 4 months ESPO is £0.7m ahead of budget. Trading through August has 

continued to be ok and mid-month sales are very slightly ahead of budget. 
However, looking ahead for the full year we are mindful of likely additional 
cost from: 

 
a. The national pay award. The latest ‘offer’ is +1.75%, which would be 

retrospectively applied from April 2021 and would have unbudgeted 
cost of c£0.2m. (The budget followed the guidance in the Autumn 
Spending Review which suggested a public sector increase of £250 for 
staff members earning less than £24k). 
 

b. product cost increases in some categories as a result of challenges in 
the supply chain and the additional shipping costs being seen globally.  

 
24. Whilst optimistic, our guidance for the full year remains in line with the original 

budget, i.e. a £5.1m surplus for combined ESPO and ETL. 
 

£000 Actual 
B/(w) than 

Budget
B/(w) than LY

Total Sales 227.3 17.1 57.8

Trading Surplus -1.8 16.9 18.2

ETL and Eduzone Combined (YTD to June 21)

189



 

 

 

 

 

 

190



ETL/Eduzone Combined P&L – June 2021 

 

 

 
 
 
 

£000 % £000 % £000 %

227.3 210.2 169.6

227.3 210.2 169.6

146.4 135.7 114.5

146.4 135.7 114.5

80.9 74.5 55.1

80.9 35.6% 74.5 35.4% 55.1 32.5%

13.5 12.6 10.3

1.9 1.5 0.6

18.7 14.7 15.8

10.4 12.3 13.1

25.4 35.0 21.5

0.6 0.6 1.9

2.5 2.5 (3.3)

2.7 3.0 3.0

3.4 3.4 5.0

0.0 0.0 0.0

1.0 0.9 0.9

0.4 2.4 2.3

0.0 0.0 1.0

0.0 0.0 0.0

2.1 4.3 2.9

82.7 36.4% 93.2 44.3% 75.1 44.3%

(1.8) -0.8% (18.7) -8.9% (20.0) -11.8%

ETL & Eduzone 

Results
Year To Date

Actual Budget Prior Year

Commission

Sales

Sales

Total Sales

Cost of Sales

Cost of Sales

Total Cost of Sales

Margin

Margin

Total Margin

Expenditure

Employee Costs & Agency

Carrier

Marketing Expenses

Catalogue Print & Distribution

Consultancy

Merchant Services

Support / Legal Prof

Accountancy

Insurance

Audit

Office Machine Maint / Software

Depreciation

Other Expenses

Total Expenditure

Trading Surplus /(Deficit)

Loan Interest

191



ESPO Operational Progress  
 
25. In July ESPO’s distribution centre processed 209,000 order lines, valued at 

£5.787m and the transport fleet with couriers made 15,368 deliveries.  The 
peak trading period of June and July was successfully managed, with all 
customer delivery promises met on time. Warehouse picking was performed 
at a rate of 31 lines per hour. This year it has been noticeable that there has 
been a marked deterioration in the quality of agency staff, evidenced by poor 
attendance and sub-standard productivity.  This, in conjunction with national 
driver shortage, presages labour shortage problems in the post Brexit era.  
Mitigation of these risks is incorporated in ESPO’s MTFS.  The error rate 
detected by QA was 1% against the target of 3%.   The average order value 
for stock orders in July was £293.28 in line with budget. Operational and IT 
costs year to July were £4.328m against a budget of £4.189m.  Courier costs 
relating to 2020/21 that were taken in 2021/22 together with IT payroll costs 
and hardware purchases account for the majority of this overspend. Stores 
margin YTD is 30.3%.  

 
26. Activity levels across all customer channels were buoyant in July. The 

Customer Services team handled 9,870 calls and the average speed of 
answer was 28 seconds against a target of 30 seconds. The team processed 
27,185 customer orders valued at £6.821m.   Online and electronic converted 
orders in July were at 52% of the total. A total of £3.5m of school holiday 
orders have been processed this summer which helps to deflect demand into 
the quieter August trading period. Direct orders currently valued at £3.4m are 
being managed from suppliers to customers. The value of direct orders in 
transit is higher than the past two years at this time reflecting perhaps 
reinvestment in the school’s infrastructure.  Late suppliers are being expedited 
by the customer services team.  
 

27. We received 41 service ratings from customers on FEEFO providing a 92% 
satisfaction rating. Most positive ratings relate to service and 

delivery.     Implementation of the 1st phase of ESPO’s new telephony solution 

Voxivo is in progress, with users trialing and testing the system. Full roll out of 
the service areas is scheduled with the Contact Centre and warehouse to go 
live in August which will provide valuable insights into both the reason for the 
call and how it was handled. 

 
28. Stock availability averaged 91.4% in July with an average of 891 lines 

temporarily unavailable (£0.4m sales value); stock value was £7.774m with a 
stock turn of 5.95.  The industry-wide availability issues can be traced to an 
upsurge in market demand and a shortage of components affected by the 
international shipping constraints.  Alternative suppliers and products are 
being considered where appropriate and customers are being kept up to date 
on the gradual improvement in availability. ESPO continues to rely on external 
storage to manage its stock holding requirements. This includes exercise 
book stock held at KCS in Maidstone and by its printer in Poland.   
 

29. Facilities management in July was comprised of disposal of obsolete office 
equipment in preparation for the refurbishment programme. Drawings for the 

192



new office layouts were agreed with LT. Repairs were made to the 
mechanised pallet wrapper and to the scissor lift.  Various improvements were 
made to the warehouse lighting to upgrade the fittings.  
 

30. A programme of works to adapt ESPO’s offices at Grove Park to meet the 
needs of the organisation and staff to work flexibly is underway following 
discussion at Management Committee on 23rd June.  The costs will be met 
from existing building reserves. A project team has been mobilised to deliver 
this on the ground with a phased return from October 2021 envisaged.  This 
will ensure that ESPO’s workplace will be set up to better support 
collaboration, productivity, wellbeing and customer service. A ‘summer sort-
out’ has encouraged staff to clear out their desks enabling the team to 
prepare for the refurbishment.  A desk booking system (Skedda) used by LCC 
has been adopted and the office wi-fi is being upgraded in preparation for the 
planned changes. 
  

31. There were no Health and Safety accidents in July, which is to the credit of 
the H&S team.  More first aiders are to be trained to provide additional cover 
as part of the office re-occupation. The JCC meeting with unions took place 
on 23rd July.  The new Drug & Alcohol testing policy that is being introduced 
by LCC in September was discussed.   This introduces randomized testing 
alongside ‘with-cause’ testing for staff in safety critical roles – such as LGV 
drivers and FLT operatives.  Risk assessments for Covid were reviewed 
following the government easing of restrictions announced on 19th July.  It 
was decided that with the exception of the 30-minute break between shifts, 
that the existing controls should stay in place.  This break has been reduced 
to 15 minutes which still provides sufficient clearance between 
shifts.   ESPO’s building remains Covid-19 secure with monthly Covid-19 self-
assessments being returned to the LCC recovery group.  
 

32. The IT helpdesk handled 420 enquiries with a 100% satisfaction rating from 
internal customers. Security Incidents again took up a noticeable amount of IT 
time, with a number of incidents requiring attention, albeit nothing major. 
There has been a noticeable increase in the number of phishing attempts 
(including other email-based threats) over the last few months, to the stage 
where we are seeing security incidents that need to be specifically addressed 
on a weekly basis.  An alert has been added to service desk tool so that the IT 
team are immediately notified and directed to review the ticket. The ongoing 
LCC CyberSecurity audit will provide further guidance on all aspects of cyber 
security strategy.  

 

33. A system refresh is being prepared on the Infor ERP system in 2021 to 
ensure that the operating system and middleware are on the latest version 
and fully supported.  A project plan has been uploaded to ITSM and following 
user testing in August it is planned to deploy the system upgrade in 
October/November 2021. The team is supporting the office refurbishment by 
ensuring that the necessary technical infrastructure is in place including 
upgraded wi-fi. 

 
 

193



Staffing  

 

34. Sickness absence due to covid continues to be well managed despite the 
increase in infection rates that have occurred nationally over the last quarter. 
Since June 2021, five employees have tested positive for covid, and 
arrangements for self-isolation or working from home have successfully been 
put in place. In addition to these numbers, there is also one individual who is 
currently absent from work and is displaying the symptoms of ‘long covid’. 
Support will continue to be offered to these individuals, with safe working 
arrangements remaining in place to ensure that the potential of any work-
based outbreak is reduced as far as is practicable.  
  

35. From 11 November 2021, anyone entering a care home will need to have 
received a double covid vaccination. As ESPO drivers may occasionally enter 
care homes as part of their role in delivering orders, discussions are 
underway to ensure that these goods can be delivered securely, without 
compromising the safety of care home employees and residents. 
  

36. Leicestershire County Council have agreed to introduce random drug and 
alcohol testing for safety critical jobs, which includes delivery drivers and fork 
lift truck operators. This random testing will be in addition to ESPO’s current 
‘with cause’ approach where staff can be tested if they are displaying any 
symptoms of being under the influence. Random testing for these posts will 
commence in September 2021 and increased levels of support will be 
available for those that may need it. 
  

37. Local Government pay negotiations are still continuing nationally, with the 
latest offer of 1.75% being made to the Trade Unions. Any increase will be 
backdated to 1 April 2021 and will be implemented as soon as agreement is 
reached.  

  
 ESPO Risk and Governance Update 
 
Health, Safety, Wellbeing and Facilities Management & Corporate Risk Register  

   

38. The ESPO Leadership Team held its quarterly review of Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing and Major Risk Records (MRRs) and the top risks are attached at 
Appendix 2. 

 
Resources Implications 
 
None arising directly from this report. 
 
 
Recommendation 
 

Members are asked to note and support the contents of this report.   
 
 
 

194



 
Officer to Contact 
 
Kristian Smith, Director 
k.smith@espo.org 
Tel:  0116 265 7887 
 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1:  Balanced Scorecard 
Appendix 2:  CRR extract 

195

mailto:k.smith@espo.org


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 – Balanced Scorecard  

 

 

197



This page is intentionally left blank



ESPO

Risk Ref Risk Description Consequences / Impact Risk Owner

Original 

Risk 

Score     

Impact

Original 

Risk 

Score    

Likelihoo

d

Original 

Risk 

Score

Risk Action

Tolerate / Treat 

/ Transfer / 

Terminate

List of Current Controls / Actions

Embedded and operating soundly

Risk indicators to be used to monitor the 

risk

Current 

Risk 

Score (as 

at 

06/10/202

0)     

Impact

Current 

Risk 

Score (as 

at 

06/10/202

0)    

Likelihoo

d

Current 

Risk 

Score

Risk Action 

Tolerate / 

Treat / 

Transfer / 

Terminate

Further Action / Additional 

Controls
Action Owner Action Target Date Q1 Comments / Updates

25 Increased competition including 

Amazon & CCS

1. Possible implications on 

business volume, reputation, 

new business and on trading 

results in the Catalogue 

business

2. Through collaboration with 

CCS and YPO; CCS is 

dominating the management of 

such contracts (MFDs) including 

the management of the 

rebates; ensuring security of 

the income stream is becoming 

a  threat to ESPO’s business 

model.

3. Amazon: moving deliberately 

into the public sector space, 

and focussing on education as a 

key area, Amazon have 

expressed interest widely within 

the market place at becoming 

more than an ad hoc supplier to 

schools of all levels, expressing 

their intention to partner with, 

or secure suppliers who have 

tailored offering for the sector.

AD 

Commercial

4 4 16 Treat 1. Working with suppliers and 

customers to improve the ‘offering’, 

facilitating this relationship through 

capturing and using business 

intelligence and managing this 

‘knowledge’.

2. Continue seeking efficiencies through 

international sourcing                                                

3. Amazon: Continue to market our ‘not 

for private profit’ credentials and 

continue to craft our ranges to offer the 

very best solution to all tiers of 

education from our stock and directs 

position. To explore collaboration with 

our PBO neighbours to ensure 

opportunities are not missed in securing 

market share dominance on key lines 

such as paper, glue sticks  and exercise 

books.                      4. Website 

Development.                                         

5. Use of BESA benchmarking for 

ongoing market share data.                                   

6. Continue to make frameworks easier 

to access.                                                                                

7. Develop ETL framework offering for 

diversity of customer base.

1. Changes to key customers’ buying 

(as highlighted at Weekly Trading)

2. Fluctuations in rebate income (as 

highlighted at Weekly Trading)

3. Stalling of e-commerce uptake trends 

(as highlighted in IT update)                                    

4. Amazon: Reduction in traditional 

stationery and direct electrical item 

sales at category level.                                                             

5. Termly customer research and 

feedback                                                                                

6. Competitive mapping for frameworks, 

including new threats from Bloom and 

CCS expansion.                                                            

7. Staff migration to competitors.

5 2 10 Treat 1. Review loyalty scheme – 

increased requirement on 

income streams                                                   

2. Robust sales and 

marketing strategy to be 

developed to reflect the 

heightened competition in 

this sector and to support the 

revised MTFS.     3. Review of 

Customer Offer                                  

4. MATs package                                         

5. Review termly research.        

6. Keep a close eye on 

developments in the market & 

particularly on CCS & 

Amazon.                                                            

7. Continue to look out for 

member authority 

frameworks that duplicate 

ESPO's offering.                                                

8. Keep abreast of speculative 

frameworks that could take 

business from ESPO 

frameworks.                                                

9. Continue to explore and 

maximise exporting 

opportunities.                                         

10. Review approach to 

recruitment and retention of 

key procurement/commercial 

staff.11. Consider bidding for 

AD 

Commercial

Ongoing 01/04/2019 Points 5, 6 & 7 added to List of 

Current Controls. Points 6 & 7 added to Risk 

indicators.                                                                        

02/12/2019 Additional controls added.   

05/03/2020 Further Actions updated. 

08/06/2020 Reviewed - no change.                                                  

27/11/20 Reviewed - no further action                

17.06.21   Point 11. added to Further Actions.  

02/09/21  Reviewed - no updates.

51 Space constraints in the context of 

ESPO growth ambitions - options 

for mitigating short and long

1. Unable to operate safely

2. Unable to process customer 

orders

3. Unable to store sufficient 

stock

4. The exercise book supply 

chain will require ESPO to 

purchase and store stock at an 

earlier stage in the cycle.    This 

is estimated at circa 2,000 

pallets. There is insufficient 

space at the ESPO warehouse.    

AD Operations 

& IT

4 4 16 Treat 1. Use of peak warehouse

2. Rationalise supplier base

3. Create more efficient storage regime

4. Create more efficient picking regime

5. Outside storage of exercise books at 

Felixstowe                                                                           

6. Assess supplier holding stock                             

7. Extend the mezzanine floor                                

8. Introduce warehouse automation                 

9. Assess use of modular buildings on 

the ESPO site.                                                                      

10. Modified supply chain for exercise 

books with production in Poland 

requiring less storage space at the 

Leicester Warehouse 01/08/218

11. Mitigation is through pursuing an off-

sit,  shared-user warehousing 

agreement with the supplier.                                                                         

12. Medium/ Long Term Solution the 

provision of additional ESPO bulk 

warehousing space

1. Racked space utilisation

2. Lines picked/packed per person per 

hour c.f. budget

3. Overall lines picked per day c.f. 

budget  4. Business Case being 

prepared.

4 3 12 Treat LCC discussions. Visibility at 

LT on a regular basis.                   

19/02/2020   LTFS  Away Day 

planning                                  

03/03/2020  Space meeting 

with LCC                                

05/03/2020  Logistics 

consultants appointed to 

validate assumptions. Paper 

subsequently presented and 

findings validated. August/ 

September 2020 Business 

case prepared proposing an 

ESPO Bulk store warehouse. 

This was subsequently 

presented to both COG and 

the Management committee               

AD 

Operations & 

IT

N/A 03/06/2019 Reviewed - no updates.   

03/09/2019 Meeting with KCS in September 

2019 to discuss storage facilities in 2020.   

16/09/2019 we have secured up to 1750 pallet 

spaces from KCS for 2020/21.                              

02/12/2019 Discussions with LCC regarding 

additional warehouse site 4th Nov paper being 

developed.                                                                       

05/03/2020 Risk indicators and Further 

Actions updated.                                                                      

September 2020 Development of a Bulk Store 

Warehouse in conjunction with LCC approved 

by The Management Committee                              

26/11/2020   3 month delay to Leader’s Farm  

development. 

Extension to current agreement with KCS 

being drafted 26.11.2020

16.06.21 May 2021 Planning application for 

Leaders Farm being prepared by LCC

78 Supply chain risk – including 

coronavirus and Brexit 

1. ‘Stock supply shortages for 

products or components that 

are made in Far East.    With 

consequential effects in UK 

manufacturers production 

capability.                                                

2. 'Staff shortages in all ESPO 

functional areas due to high 

sickness rates.                                                           

3.'School closures to reduce 

infection spread.                                               

4. 'Overall economic impact on 

ESPO's business activities due 

to sluggish restoration of 

international supply chain..

5. Buying price risk due to 

increased freight xosts may 

mean a reduced margin.

6. Driver shortage in the 

market could affect deliveries to 

ESPO and our ability to deliver 

to our customers on time. 

• Staff complacency and not 

adhering to controls in place.

• All risks as identified 

previously coming to fruition 

due to further restrictions 

introduced.

• Supply chain disruption in the 

event of further lockdowns both 

in UK and Worldwide.

• On-going school closures / 

partial closures.           ....                                       

Director 4 4 16 Treat 1. 'Set up an internal team tasked with 

managing ESPO's activities and 

communications in response to the 

health crisis.                                                                       

2.  'Monitor updates and advice from 

WHO and UK government .                                     

3. 'Maintain regular communications 

with customers, staff and stakeholders.

4. ESPO continue to promote good 

handwashing and hygiene practices and 

have increased the availability of 

antibacterial wipes and cleaning 

equipment. Contracted cleaning 

contractors disinfect door handles and 

hand rails as part of our contract.  

5.Should a member of staff contract 

coronavirus EPSO will liaise with PHE 

directly at County Hall and follow any 

recommendations.                                               

6. Should isolation be required our 

Smarter Working Policy provides 

guidance on staff working from home 

and where necessary individual risk 

assessments will be completed. In the 

event there is a requirement for an 

extended number of staff to work from 

home all available lap-tops provide to 

staff across the business will be recalled 

and distributed accordingly.. 

7.  Assess suppliers shortages through 

daily phone contact by Stock 

Optimisation team.                                                                               

1. Weekly stock availability reports with 

supplier shortages and failed customer 

orders.                                                                                 

2. Weekly 'staff sickness records  

attributable to the coronavirus.                          

3. Weekly trading analysis 

• Continued enforcement of existing 

controls by managers

• Continued staff briefings and 

reminders.

• On-going Covid-19 secure monitoring 

by ESPO Health and Safety Advisor and 

LCC. 

4 3 12 Treat 1. Align staff policies to LCC 

guidelines.                                         

2. Assess trading impact on 

financial forecasts.                       

3. Understanding of 

alternative sources of 

catalogue products.                                                   

4.  Regular meetings of the 

internal team                                        

5.  Ongoing communications 

with all relevant parties 

through web site, weekly 

comms and formal reports.                         

04.03.2020 ESPO update on 

Coronavirus Report discussed 

at Mgmt. Committee.   

06.03.2020 Teleconference 

with LCC.                                                             

• All risk assessments and 

guidance fully aligned with 

LCC.

• Internal meetings took 

place regularly during height 

of pandemic. Frequency 

reduced due to new ‘BAU’. 

Would resume if required.

• Comms on-going

• Forthcoming work on 

building modifications and a 

new people strategy to 

support new ways of working.

Director Ongoing 02/03/2020 Reviewed - no change.     

05/03/2020 Further Actions Updated. 

08/06/2020 New Covid-19 risk assessments 

and safe system of work created to ESPO 

building & operational protocols.  Site 

Inspection on 27th May 2020 with further 

remedial actions required  - this needs to go in 

the box above  07/10/20 • ESPO headquarters 

was audited by Leicestershire County Council 

and formally declared ‘Covid-19 secure’ on 

22.06.2020.

• Considerable controls are in place to 

minimise the risk of contracting Covid-19 on 

site including; increased cleaning schedules, 

staff inductions, one-way systems, application 

of microbe shield, face coverings to all public 

facing roles, strict 2m distancing and increased 

signage.

• The risk of contracting Covid-19 whilst on 

ESPO property is considered low.

• The ESPO depot located in Wales was 

audited and formally declared ‘Covid-19 

secure’ on 25.06.2020

26/11/2020 24.11.2020 Monthly update on GP 

Covid-secure status sent to LCC             

15.06.2021  Building modifications and people 

strategy added to further action/additional 

controls.                                                                                  

02/09/21 Reviewed - no updates.

199



ESPO

Risk Ref Risk Description Consequences / Impact Risk Owner

Original 

Risk 

Score     

Impact

Original 

Risk 

Score    

Likelihoo

d

Original 

Risk 

Score

Risk Action

Tolerate / Treat 

/ Transfer / 

Terminate

List of Current Controls / Actions

Embedded and operating soundly

Risk indicators to be used to monitor the 

risk

Current 

Risk 

Score (as 

at 

06/10/202

0)     

Impact

Current 

Risk 

Score (as 

at 

06/10/202

0)    

Likelihoo

d

Current 

Risk 

Score

Risk Action 

Tolerate / 

Treat / 

Transfer / 

Terminate

Further Action / Additional 

Controls
Action Owner Action Target Date Q1 Comments / Updates

78.1 ….above continued …. Within year’ increases in 

buying prices due to higher 

import costs could reduce 

margins – possible failure to 

suppress ‘cost of sales’ target 

and impact on international 

sourcing programme

Director 4 4 16 Treat ….. 8. Work closely with staff agency 

partners to source staff across the 

logistics, procurement and financial 

sectors.     

9. Continue to manage supply chain risk 

through Supply Chain Panel, PAG and 

CMG. 

10. CMG and Contracts Panel will be 

made aware of price increases and 

impacts assessed by Finance                              

11. Aim to resist price increase ‘within 

year’ 

12. Mitigate increases through 

competition, re-sourcing, extensions      

4 3 12 Treat Director Ongoing

79 IT Cyber Security.   Range of cyber 

security threats

Failure to adequately protect 

ESPO networks, systems and 

data from malicious attack 

could lead to a range of 

potential consequences, 

including; financial; 

reputational; operational; legal 

impacts or other losses.

AD Operations 

& IT

20 Treat Range of protections/controls in place, 

including (but not limited to):

1) Firewalls (outer defences, controlling 

the border of ESPO network)

2) Automated Threat Protection system 

(assesses various incoming data (e.g. 

emails) for potential threats)

3) Antivirus software (Prevents known 

viruses from executing on ESPO 

devices)

4) Authentication systems (Controls 

who can access ESPO systems and data)

5) Staff education (Reduces risk of 

successful phishing attack)

6) Anti-Ransomware backup solution 

(prevents hackers from encrypting our 

backups)

7) External security controls Audit 

(Highlights areas of concern in ESPO 

security systems)

8) Penetration testing (probes the ESPO 

network for vulnerabilities)

(Needs further expansion/detail)

1) Firewall logs (contain details on 

network traffic, including hostile attacks 

on the ESPO network)

2) Firewall Reports (Daily, weekly, 

monthly reports on network traffic)

3) External security support partner 

monitoring (Various support partners 

issue regular threat alerts)

4) various event logging - systems that 

monitor and alert on potential concerns 

(this is a weak area for ESPO and will 

be reviewed)

(Needs further expansion)

4 4 16 Treat 1) Multi-factor Authentication 

for remote access 

2) PKI server for device 

authentication 

3) Revised password policy 

4) New Remote Working 

Policy 

5) Penetration Testing

6) DR Testing

7) Staff Training

8) Staff awareness

9) CyberEssentials+

10) InfoSec Policy Review

11) CyberSecurity Support 

contract

12) System 21 upgrade

13) Security Health check

14) Patching Policy

15) NCSC Active Cyber 

Defence programme

16) CyberSecurity Risk 

Register

17) Cyber Insurance

18) LCC Audit Response

19) Cyber Security Roadmap

20) CyberSecurity Incident 

Response

The above are either in flight 

or planned.  A supplementary 

document "ESPO IT Security 

Plan - April 2021" expands in 

detail....

AD 

Operations & 

IT

Q1 2021/ongoing 01/10/2020 - new entry                                                 

26/11/2020 24.11.2020 Liaison with LCC on 

cyber security through regular meetings       

13.4.21 LCC Internal Audit report on IT 

controls gave substantial assurance

ITDG governance terms of reference 

established 14.4.21

7.6.21 Security Report published to respond to 

email phishing security breach & password re-

set.

11.6.21 Weekly Comms guidelines on Cyber 

Security

7.6.21 Liaison with LCC                                                 

17.06.21 Promoting and creating the right 

culture for reporting mistakes and refreshing 

Disater Recovery (Daisy) scenario added to 

further actions.                                                                

23.06.21  LCC Cyber Security Audit 

commenced                                                                             

19.08.21 With HR make cyber security training 

compulsory with refresher whenever there is 

an incident

79.1 …above continued AD Operations 

& IT

20 Treat 4 4 16 Treat ...Recommend to create a 

Cyber Security Risk Register 

to track and manage related 

Risk, to feed into main 

Corporate Risk Register.

(Further Expansion required 

for this Risk)                                                     

21. Promoting and creating 

the right culture for reporting 

mistakes                                                        

22. R efreshing Disater 

Recovery (Daisy) scenario    

28.06.21 Disaster Recovery. 

Plan to run an organisation-

wide  scenario in 2021 on loss 

of systems                                    

28.06.21 Culture & 

Communications. Promote a 

culture of openess and 

honesty in managing 

individual conformance

AD 

Operations & 

IT

Q1 2021/ongoing

200



ESPO

Risk Ref Risk Description Consequences / Impact Risk Owner

Original 

Risk 

Score     

Impact

Original 

Risk 

Score    

Likelihoo

d

Original 

Risk 

Score

Risk Action

Tolerate / Treat 

/ Transfer / 

Terminate

List of Current Controls / Actions

Embedded and operating soundly

Risk indicators to be used to monitor the 

risk

Current 

Risk 

Score (as 

at 

06/10/202

0)     

Impact

Current 

Risk 

Score (as 

at 

06/10/202

0)    

Likelihoo

d

Current 

Risk 

Score

Risk Action 

Tolerate / 

Treat / 

Transfer / 

Terminate

Further Action / Additional 

Controls
Action Owner Action Target Date Q1 Comments / Updates

80 The Green Paper for Transforming 

Public Procurement contains areas 

of potential risk for ESPO. Lack of 

clarity around proposals at this 

stage adds to the concern.

Main areas of concern are:

Proposal for more flexible 

procurement procedures may 

devalue the protection afforded by 

frameworks. Customers may decide 

to procure themselves.

More flexible procedures lacking 

detail - risk to ESPO if it attempts 

to pioneer use of these.

Increased transparency rules bring 

greater administrative and 

compliance burdens and unclear 

expectations from Cabinet Office 

exposes contracting authorities to 

litigation risk. 

Customers may choose to 

undertake their own 

procurements and not use 

frameworks - fall in rebate 

income. 

Risk of court challenge if new 

procedures used incorrectly.

Current procurement structure 

may need reassessment to 

ensure compliance with 

transparency rules. Risk of 

being sued for inappropriate 

transparency or for not being 

transparent enough.   

AD 

Commercial

5 3 15 Monitoring contracts finder/ find a 

tender and closer monitoring of 

customer procurement pipelines

Better engagement through CRM'S

Continued engagement with legal 

advisors to gauge customer tendencies

Canvass opinion from member 

authorities to understand what it means 

to them/what their intentions are.

Manage customer messages to intensify 

the 'safe framework' message.

ESPO stick with Open Procedure until 

new flexible procedures are clarified and 

tested.

Ensure procurement team is adequately 

resourced to ensure transparency 

compliance. Create a 

Transparency/Governance unit within 

procurement.

Update processes & procedures to 

reflect new requirements.

Fall down in number of customers using 

our frameworks.                                       

Insufficient resource to manage 

increased administration required.

5 3 15 1. Develop ESPO's 

procurement strategy to take 

account of the newly released 

National Procurement Policy 

Statement                                          

2.Work closely with LCC and 

other PBOs to develop joint 

approach.                                  

3.Through chairmanship of 

the PBO forum  ensure that 

representatives from  the 

Cabinet Office  attend to 

provide regular updates on 

policy in relation to the 

Procurement Bill 

developmental                                     

4. Ensure that ESPO has 

representation on the planned 

Cabinet Office training 

advisory body for new 

procurement rules - push for 

central  funding.                                

5. Put in place an ESPO 

procurement steering group 

to support the transition to 

AD 

Commercial

17.06.21 Further actions added.                           

02/09/21  Reviewed - no updates.

201



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

203 Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

217 Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 23 June 2021.
	5 External Audit of the 2019/20 Financial Statements.
	Appendix 1 - ESPO Audit Findings Report - FINAL
	Appendix 2 - Letter of representation
	Appendix 3 - ESPO Audit Plan
	Appendix 4 - ESPO Informing the audit risk assessment 2019-20

	6 2019/20 Financial Statements and Annual Governance Statement.
	Appendix 1 - MC Draft ESPO 19.20 accounts
	Appendix 2 - AGS 2019-20 - ESPO draft

	7 Proposed Changes to the Contract Procedure Rules.
	Appendix A  table of proposed amendments ESPO CPRs 1st October 2021
	Appendix B  ESPO Proposed CPRs 1st October 2021

	8 Director's Progress update.
	Appendix 1 Balanced Scorecard
	Appendix 2 CRR Top Risks

	11 Supplementary Information Informing the Progress Report of the Director's Progress Update.
	12 Grove Park Modification and Future Ways of Working Update.



